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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549
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(Mark One)
[0 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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[l TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant n@smstted electronically and posted on its corpokib site, if any, every Interactive Data File
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquidletr pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (828% of this chapter) is not contained herein, and
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common shares on the NASDAQ Global Market on Juhe&814 of $2.24.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statmt to be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@ission by April 30, 2015 are incorporated by
reference into Part Il of this report.




Item 1.
Iltem 1A.
Iltem 1B.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.

Item 5.
Item 6.
Item 7.
ltem 7A.
Item 8.
Item 9.
ltem 9A.
Iltem 9B.

Item 10.
Iltem 11.
ltem 12.
ltem 13.
ltem 14.

Item 15.
Signatures

SOPHIRIS BIO INC.
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I.
Business
Risk Factors
Unresolved Staff Comments
Properties
Legal Proceedings
Mine Safety Disclosures

PART II.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related ®hatder Matters and Issuer Purchases of EquityrBiesu

Selected Financial Data

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @ouing and Financial Disclosure
Controls and Procedures

Other Information

PART Ill.
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govaoea
Executive Compensation
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Mahagement and Related Shareholder Matters
Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsParattor Independence
Principal Accounting Fees and Services

PART IV.
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Page

22
48
48
48
48

49
50
51
64
65
94
94
94

95
95
95
95
95

96




PART I.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the informatioecorporated herein by reference contain forwaodHing statements that involve a
number of risks and uncertainties. Although oumfard-looking statements reflect the good faith jmégt of our management, these statements can
only be based on facts and factors currently knbwas. Consequently, these forward-looking statésreme inherently subject to risks and
uncertainties, and actual results and outcomes diigr materially from results and outcomes diseasm the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include statements abauttrategies, objectives, discoveries, clinicalls, development programs, financial
forecasts and other statements that are not hisabfacts, including statements which may be preddy the word“intend,” “will,” “plan,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “aim,” “seek,” “suggest,” “may,” “believe,” “hope” or similar words. Similarly, statements that describe our
future plans, strategies, intentions, expectati@fgectives, goals or prospects and other statesiiatt are not historical facts are also forw«-
looking statements. These statements include keut@trlimited to statements under the captions fBess,” “Risk Factors,” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@elsults of Operatio” as well as other sections in this Annual Reportform 10-K. You should
be aware that the occurrence of any of the eveistaidsed under the heading “Item 1A. Risk Fact@nst elsewhere in this report could
substantially harm our business, results of operatiand financial condition and that if any of taewvents occurs, the trading price of our common
shares could decline and you could lose all or & pathe value of your common shares. The cautypstatements made in this report are intended
to be applicable to all related forward-looking tgements wherever they may appear in this AnnuabRep Form 10-K. We urge you not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemenitéch speak only as of the date of this AnnualoRem Form 10-K. Except as required by law,
we assume no obligation to update our forward-laglitatements, even if new information becomedadnl@iin the future.

”ou ” ou

All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollartesa otherwise noted. All amounts are expresseahas-converted from Canadian dollar to
U.S. dollar basis are calculated using the convarsiate as of December 31, 2014 unless otherwitsdno

ltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical companydged on developing innovative products for thattnent of urological diseases. We are
headquartered in San Diego, California and our comahares currently trade on the NASDAQ Global Mgrkr the NASDAQ. We are currently
developing PRX302 as a treatment for the lowerauyiiract symptoms of benign prostatic hyperplasidé8PH, commonly referred to as an enlarged
prostate and as a treatment for localized low terimnediate risk prostate cancer. In 2009, we liedrexclusive rights to PRX302 from UVIC Indus
Partnerships Inc., or UVIC, and The Johns Hopkin&&rsity, or Johns Hopkins, for the treatmenthaf symptoms of BPH. In April 2010, we
entered into an exclusive license agreement witls&iPharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., or Kissei, purst@anthich we granted Kissei the right to develop
and commercialize PRX302 in Japan for the treatroktite symptoms of BPH, prostate cancer, prostatitother diseases of the prostate.

PRX302 (generic name: topsalysin), a geneticallgiffed recombinant protein, is delivered via ultrasd-guided injection directly into the
prostate. This membrane-disrupting protein is $idely activated by an enzyme in the prostate, ilggtb localized cell death and tissue disruption
without damage to neighboring tissue and nervets fiethod of administration limits the circulatiohthe drug in the body, and we believe that this
limited systemic exposure to the drug, togethehwitw the drug is activated in the body, greatiyidishes the risk of side effects. In our
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Pt&selinical trial, which was completed in 2010, P8R produced clinically meaningful and
significant improvement in both subjective and alijee measures of BPH symptoms, including the frddonal Prostate Symptom Score, or IPSS,
outcome measure.

In October 2013 we initiated the first Phase 3icéihtrial, which we often refer to as the “PLUSAtial, of PRX302 for the treatment of the
lower urinary tract symptoms of BPH. We completadbéiment of 479 patients in the PLUS-1 study ipt®enber 2014 and expect to have final
results of the trial in the fourth quarter of 20This Phase 3 clinical trial uses the Internatid®ralstate Symptom Score, or IPSS, outcome measure
evaluated over 52 weeks as the primary endpoicbrgkary endpoints include Qmax (maximum urine flahange from baseline over 52 weeks.




In December 2014, the Independent Data Monitoriogn@ittee, or IDMC, completed a planned, protoca@esfied administrative interim
analysis of efficacy based on the IPSS change baseline to Week 12 for all 479 patients dosethénRLUS-1 trial. The protocol-specified
administrative interim analysis of efficacy seheeshold at 12 weeks defined as an IPSS treatrffent ef > 2.0 points favoring PRX302 over
vehicle-only (i.e. average IPSS total score chdraya baseline (CFB) for PRX302 minus IPSS CFB fehiezle-only). The IDMC reported that the
predefined efficacy threshold at week 12 was nbieaed. This administrative interim analysis wasdwcted specifically for planning subsequent
clinical trials. The ongoing PLUS-1 trial is unaffed by this recommendation, and all patients éntttal will continue to be followed to enable the
evaluation of the primary efficacy endpoint at 52elks. Simultaneously with this administrative imteefficacy analysis, the IDMC completed its
fifth and final periodic analysis of unblinded sgfdata and reported no safety concerns. There meevents of sepsis reported post administration
of PRX302 in this trial. The company and its repraatives have remained blinded to the resulthisfadministrative analysis and will continue to
remain blinded throughout the duration of the studl after the database is locked at the conetusi the 52 week trial. In order to seek regulator
approval for PRX302 for the treatment of the symmaf BPH, we would be required to conduct a se®make 3 clinical trial and we do not expect
to commence any additional Phase 3 clinical tratiout receiving favorable results from the PLU®i&l and unless we raise the additional funds
required to conduct the second Phase 3 clinicl tri

We plan to initiate a Phase 2 proof of concept ¢i@RX302 for the treatment of localized low tdérmediate risk prostate cancer prior to the
end of the first half of 2015. The study will benclucted at a single center and enroll approxim&elpatients who have not been previously treated
for their prostate cancer. Patients will receiveaasperineal administration of PRX302 under gdrarasthesia at a dose higher than used in the
ongoing BPH PLUS-1 trial but less than the higlieste used in our previous prostate cancer tria@d. primary objective of the trial will be to assess
the safety and tolerability of PRX302 when useddlectively target and focally ablate a clinicalgnificant lesion. The potential efficacy will be
evidenced by histological and MRI changes, indigatumor control at six months. If tumor controbisserved, we believe that PRX302 could off
potential to provide a focal, targeted therapytfier ablation of localized prostate cancer whileeptially avoiding many of the complications ande
effects associated with radical treatments. Angpiial efficacy signal would have to be confirmadarger clinical studies. PRX302 has been
engineered to be activated by enzymatically aqirostate specific antigen (PSA), which is foundhia transition zone of the prostate as well as in
prostate cancer cells. The highly targeted mechahiswhich PRX302 selectively destroys prostatauisin BPH also makes PRX302 a promising
treatment approach for targeting and ablating tsnothe prostate. In 2004, we licensed exclusets to PRX302 from UVIC and Johns Hopkins
for the treatment of prostate cancer.

Background on BPH

BPH is a non-cancerous enlargement of the progtatel that commonly affects men who are age 50o#det. BPH causes a restriction in
urine flow from the urethra resulting in lower wiy tract symptoms, or LUTS. BPH, and its assodiatmical manifestations of LUTS, is one of the
most common medical conditions of aging men inUh&ed States, with approximately 70% men aged $§&ars and 80% of men older than the
age of 70 being affected by BPH. The number of mign symptoms of BPH is expected to increase asrihke population ages. Our market rese
suggests that as many as 36 million men in theddrtates are affected by BPH with approximatelg fillion of these men suffering from
bothersome symptoms. Symptomatic BPH greatly dshigs a patient’s quality of life. It causes a digant array of LUTS, including increased
urinary frequency, urgency to urinate, frequenhtigme urination, weak urine stream, and incompletgtying of the bladder. In addition, men w
BPH symptoms are predisposed to a higher riskioawy tract infections, urinary stone formatioradidier damage, and in very late stage and/or
unattended cases, renal damage.

Current Therapies for BPH

Physicians and patients choose treatments forythetems of BPH primarily based on the severityysfiptoms, the patierg’quality of life an
the presence of other medical conditions. Treatroptibns include watchful waiting, lifestyle chasgeral medications, minimally invasive surgical
therapies, or MIST, or more aggressive surgicakghies, such as transurethral resection of thegimor TURP, or open prostatectomy. Our market
research indicates that approximately three mili@n in the United States are taking oral drugagmeiand there were approximately 200,000
surgical procedures for the treatment of the symgtof BPH conducted in 2011.

The effectiveness of treatments for the symptonBRH is measured by IPSS and improvement in peak fiow rate, or Qmax. IPSS is a
patient recorded, composite assessment that tateeadcount factors such as ability to empty tleeltbér, frequency of urination, intermittency of
urination, urgency of urination, weak strength ohe stream, straining while urinating, and haviogirinate at night after going to bed. This inéex
measured on a 0 to 35 scale with 0 being defindthaimg no problems and 35 defined as the highoéisdvere symptoms. Patients are typically
considered to have mild symptoms with IPSS of 7,tmoderate symptoms with scores of 8 to 19 andreesymptoms with scores of 20 to 35. An
improvement of 3 points in IPSS is generally coesd clinically meaningful by urologists. IPSS igadidated primary clinical endpoint used to
assess the treatment benefit in BPH clinical tidald has served as the primary efficacy endpoirthiapproval of many products for the treatment
of the symptoms of BPH. A difference of at leagtpoint improvement in IPSS between active androbig generally required for FDA approval.




Oral Drug Therapy

The most common form of therapy for men experiemanild to moderate LUTS associated with BPH is dralg therapy. Current classes of
oral medications available for treatment of the gyoms of BPH include a -blockers, 5- a -reductabéitors, or 5- a RIs, a combination of an a -
blocker and 5- a RI, and a phosphodiesterase Typlailsitor, or PDE5. An a -blocker provides rapaief of BPH symptoms, but does not prevent
continued growth of the prostate. Examples of aclrs include terazosin, doxazosin, tamsulosfozasin, and silodosin. Frequently reported side
effects of a -blockers include hypotension, or lhaod pressure, dizziness and feeling of weakriess RIs, such as finasteride and dutasteride,
reduce the size of the prostate and thus providggym relief. It may take up to six months fromrsitey treatment with 5- a RI for the prostate to
reduce in size and for patients to experience émetit of treatment. Side effects include sexuafalyction. In addition, tadalafil (marketed by Eli
Lilly as Cialis® ), a PDES5 inhibitor (a class of dsutypically prescribed for erectile dysfunctiowgs shown to improve IPSS after four weeks of
dosing and has been approved for treatment ofytim@t®ms of BPH. Headache and dyspepsia, or indayesire the most commonly observed side
effects of Cialis® , which is not recommended faoe irscombination with an a -blocker because ofrisieof hypotension.

Many men will discontinue oral drug therapy duénadequate response and/or the above side effemtsher drawback of the currently
available oral therapies is the necessity of taking or more pills daily. Published patient surdata (N=2,166) suggests that as many as 57% of
patients taking oral drug therapy discontinue uibkimthe first three years.

In previously completed clinical trials, each oésle classes of oral medications has typically pred@approximately 3 to 6 point reductions in
IPSS, but the actual magnitude of treatment benbfierved compared to placebo is generally twareetpoints.

Minimally Invasive Surgical Therapies

Minimally invasive surgical therapies used to trémt symptoms of BPH include transurethral microsvthermotherapy, or TUMT,
transurethral needle ablation, or TUNA, Uroftfand green laser treatment, which delivers highggntr ablate the prostatic tissue as an alternai
TURP. These treatments, frequently referred to E&TMare generally less effective than surgicatpdures in reducing the size of the prostate glanc
and often require retreatment within three yeamswvéler, these treatments may require catheterizatio are still associated with pain and the
potential for complications such as bleeding amgjiasting side effects such as urinary incontieesmed sexual dysfunction, including erectile
dysfunction and retrograde ejaculation (semen figwiackward into the bladder). Studies of MIST prhaes have shown varying improvements in
IPSS, with TUNA and TUMT showing improvement in I28f approximately 10 to 13 points.

Other Surgical Options

Surgical procedures such as TURP typically redbeesize of the prostate gland and relieve the presm the urethra by ablating the prostate
tissue that blocks the flow of urine. Studies afgszal procedures have generally shown reductionB$S of approximately 16 points. TURP is
performed under spinal or general anesthesia, wdaoties the risk of side effects. TURP may resufterve damage, bleeding (sometimes requiring
transfusion), and long-lasting side effects, suchranary incontinence and sexual dysfunction udirig erectile dysfunction and retrograde
ejaculation.

PRX302 for the Treatment of the Symptoms of BPH
Overview

PRX302 is designed to be a safe, simple and coemttreatment that provides rapid and sustainéef &l BPH symptoms. It is delivered
through a targeted injection into the prostatecigedy ablating the prostate tissue without damggieighboring tissue and nerves. This method of
administration limits the circulation of the drugthe body and we believe that this limited systeexiposure to the drug, together with how the drug
is activated in the body, greatly diminishes tts& 0f side effects. In our Phase 2b clinical tiRX302 significantly improved symptoms of BPH
through 12 months of follow-up after a single treant.

The injection of PRX302 is individualized to eadtipnt based on the size of his prostate and g idrdelivered in a procedure that can be
performed in an urologist’s office. The entire prss can be completed during a short office viai, the actual injection of the drug into each &f th
two lobes of the prostate takes approximately thngrites. A physician administering PRX302 may ete@dminister a local anesthetic before
injection. Most urologists are familiar with th@misrectal route of administration, as it is the sanethod urologists use to take biopsies of the
prostate.




PRX302 Transrectal Administration Schematic

@

Market research we conducted with 100 urologistsdieown that PRX302 compares favorably to bothtbexrhpies and procedures on a
number of key attributes related to effectivensaggty, tolerability, and burden placed on thegrdtiSpecifically, when shown results from our
2b clinical trial, the physicians viewed PRX302b&ing more effective and having a better side &ffeafile than currently available oral drugs.
Administration of PRX302 was also perceived as nedfective, safer, and easier to perform than Mpsdcedures, TUNA and TUMT. When
compared to TURP surgery, PRX302 was also perceaiseshfer and easier to administer. In this madsstarch, physicians indicated a willingne:
consider PRX302 as an alternative to both orabjhies and surgical procedures and also viewed PRAS®@ potential new choice for men who t
discontinued oral therapy and are not willing taergo a surgical procedure.

Background on Localized Low to Intermediate Risk Ppstate Cancer

Prostate cancer is the fourth leading cause ohd#s to cancer in the United States. As a resahancrease in life expectancy along with the
current practice of formal and informal screenisgng prostate-specific antigen (PSA) blood testeakte treatment has shifted towards early
detection of low risk disease.

Each year approximately 230,000 new cases of geoséacer in the United States are identified ancerthan one-third of patients are
diagnosed with early disease. Research has shavimtmany cases patients with early localizedatisehave a low likelihood of the cancer
spreading beyond the confines of the prostate. itfestess, approximately 44% of the men with earbgdse choose to undergo radical treatment to
address their disease. Radical therapies includgguto remove the entire prostate and/or radiafotential toxicities from radical treatments can
be significant and permanent and include erectifduhction, incontinence and rectal toxicity.

Men who do not elect radical therapy may underdivasurveillance, which does not offer any thergebenefit but does continue to monitor
the patient (typically PSA levels, digital rectabens and periodic or as indicated biopsies) fornogression of disease. The additional information
is used to determine if a patient can remain iivacurveillance or should undergo treatment. Tdralex psychological impact that results from a
cancer diagnosis is demonstrated by a significeoggrtion of men (about 10% in most studies) etertd undergo a radical treatment, even though
they have had no evidence of biochemical or higtapagical progression during active surveillance.

PRX302 for the Targeted Treatment of Localized Lowto Intermediate Risk Prostate Cancer

The intraprostatic injection of PRX302 represenitsghly targeted approach for potentially treatiogalized prostate cancer that is still confi
within the encapsulated prostate gland for twooeas

e [Focal targeted delivery of an intraprostatic étign to a tumor(s) within the prostate is now plolgs and
e PRX302 has a highly targeted mechanism of actictivated specifically only within the prostate.

Using advancements in MRI and 3D ultrasound imagahgsicians are able to deliver the injection BX302 directly into the tumors located
within the prostate. The increased use of multapeatric magnetic resonance imaging (mpMRI) and mcksin software to co-register the mpMRI
images with live 3D ultrasound images also meaasghysicians are now able to locate tumors withenprostate and take more accurate biopsies
from a patient, increasing the diagnosis of clitycsignificant lesions. These technical advanaesesabling physicians and patients to make a more
informed decision about whether to undergo radiegtment or active surveillance. In addition, thadvances make it possible to identify clinically
significant lesions and to target them for ablatidth a focal therapy. The focal treatment of eamgstate cancer is in line with the treatment
approach being used for other solid tumors sudireest or liver cancer, where the goal is to rentbedumor and preserve as much of the organ as
possible.






The mechanism of action of PRX302 allows for a higargeted therapeutic activity in localized diseaPRX302 is only activated in the
presence of enzymatically active PSA which is fosadounding prostate cancer lesions. Thereforehelieve PRX302 has the potential to provit
focal targeted therapy for the ablation of localipeostate cancer while potentially avoiding mahthe complications and side effects associated
with radical treatments.

PRX302 - Mechanism of Action

PRX302 is a genetically altered form of the natyratcurring protein proaerolysin. In nature, pnadgsin is produced bjeromonadacteria,
which are commonly found as a contaminant in frgater and fresh water fish. We have altered theesgzp encoding the bacterial protein so that
PRX302 is only activated by active PSA (as showthéfigure below), an enzyme that is producedige quantities in the prostate of men with
BPH and prostate cancer.

Native Inactive Active
Pro-aerolysin protein PRX302 PRX302
AT D
Cleavage ~— Soquence . £ Cleavage
t'}"' Furin F ::_.’. PSA %

PRX302 binds to the GPI-anchored receptors ondlesurface of prostate cells. Once activated b HERX302 combines with other
activated PRX302 molecules, forming stable transhrame pores that induce cell death. PRX302 habewmt detected in plasma following injection
into the prostate. The prostate specific activaibRRX302 by enzymatically active PSA thus limgtgposure of non-prostate tissues to the drug’s
activity, contributing to the safety of the therapy

The mechanism of action is shown in the figure Welo




PRX302 Mechanism of Action
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Clinical Overview

To date, we have completed six clinical trials BX¥302 and we have completed enrollment in our cingg®hase 3 clinical trial, PLUS-1, for
the treatment of the lower urinary tract symptorhBPBH. Four completed clinical trials were for tiheatment of the symptoms of BPH and two were
for the treatment of prostate cancer. From therBpteted clinical trials and the ongoing PLUS-1 icih trial an estimated total of 366 patients with

moderate to severe BPH and 30 patients with pestatcer have been treated with PRX302 for an astshcombined PRX302 exposure of 396
patients.

Each of the clinical trials administered PRX302Zasngle intraprostatic administration with 12 nfenof follow up. To date, no patients have
been administered more than one exposure to PRAB@first five trials for PRX302 (two prostate cantrials and three BPH trials) used the
transperineal route of administration for the iptestatic injection and the two most recent clihtdals in BPH, including our on-going PLUS¢#rial,
used the transrectal route. The transrectal rqupears to be as well tolerated as the transpenioatd and is more familiar to urologists.

All of the completed clinical trials of PRX302 ftre treatment of the symptoms of BPH have showncglily meaningful, sustained efficacy
with regard to improvement in LUTS, as measuredR8S and Qmax, the standard measures of the treatriheymptoms for BPH. PRX302 has
been well-tolerated in all completed clinical tsiab date. Adverse events in our completed clirtitalls were typically mild and transient in nature
limited to local discomfort and irritative urinasymptoms that generally occurred on the same d&RX802 injection. There were no drug-related
erectile dysfunction or cardiovascular side effeefsorted.

In order to seek regulatory approval for PRX302tfe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, we woulddapiired to conduct a second Phase 3
clinical trial and we do not expect to commence adgitional Phase 3 clinical trials without recaiyifavorable results from the PLUS-1 trial and
unless we raise the additional funds required taloot the second Phase 3 clinical trial.

Clinical Development in BPH

Our clinical program for PRX302 is summarized below




Completed Clinical Development in BPH

CLINICAL TRIAL STATUS TRIAL DESIGN
PRX302-2-03 Completed Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled tfa single transperineal intraprostatic treattra#n
TRIUMPH PRX302
Phase 2b
92 patients; 61 on PRX302; 31 on placebo
Dosing: 0.6 ug/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volume
PRX302-2-06 Completed Randomized dose-escalation, multicenter trial sihgle transrectal intraprostatic treatment of PBX3
Transrectal Study
Phase 1/2 40 patients; 32 on PRX302 in 4 dosing cohorts; @lanebo
Dosing: 0.15ug/g, 0.30ug/g, 0.60ug/g, 1.2u9/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volume
PRX302-2-02 Completed Open-label, safety, volume escalation clinicallifaa single transperineal intraprostatic treathan
Phase 2a PRX302
18 patients
Dosing: 0.3ug/g, 0.6ug/g, 0.9ug/g
Volume: 10 to 30% of prostate volume
PRX302-2-01 Completed Open-label, safety, dose-escalation clinical wfed single transperineal intraprostatic treatnuént
Phase 1 PRX302

15 patients
Dosing: 0.025u4g/g, 0.072ug/g, 0.25u9/g, 0.35u49/g
Volume: 1.5 t0 2.0 mL




Ongoing and Planned Clinical Development in BPH &ondalized Prostate Cancer

CLINICAL TRIAL STATUS TRIAL DESIGN
PLUS-1 On- Prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo+odled clinical trial of a single transrectal
Phase 3 Trial #1 for thegoing/Enrolimer intraprostatic treatment of PRX302, which will i#d the IPSS outcome measure evaluated at 12 nr
treatment of the Completed as the primary endpoint

symptoms of BPH
479 patients
Dosing: 0.6p0/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volume

Phase 2 proof of concept study with PRX302 in pétievho have localized low to intermediate risk
prostate cancer. The study will be conducted atglescenter and enroll approximately 20 patiehtse
primary objective will be to assess the safety taterability of PRX302 when used to selectivelygetr
and focally ablate a clinically significant lesion.

Anticipated

dinitiation of
enrollment by th
end of the first
half 2015

Phase 2 Safety Trial for
the treatment of localize
low to intermediate risk

prostate cancer 20 patients

Dosing: Will vary based upon prostate volume aradilze of the lesion to be injected but the dodle wi

not exceed 5ug/g

Phase 3 Trial #2 for the Planned but Prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo+odled clinical trial of a single transrectal
treatment of the initiation intraprostatic treatment of PRX302
symptoms of BPH  dependent upon
12 months  Dosing: TBD
results from the Volume: 20% of prostate volume
PLUS-1 trial

Open-Label Safety Study Planned but Safety of repeat dose and long-term safety of tegtal intraprostatic treatment of PRX302
Phase 3 for the treatment initiation
of the symptoms of BPH dependent uponApproximately 100 patients
12 months Dosing: TBD
results from the Volume: 20% of prostate volume
PLUS-1 trial




PLUS-1 Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controll@ansrectal Route of Injection Clinical Trial

In October 2013 we initiated the first Phase 3icéihtrial, which we often refer to as the “PLUSAtial, of PRX302 for the treatment of the
lower urinary tract symptoms of BPH. We completacbiment of 479 patients in the PLUStial in September 2014 and expect to have fieslts
of the trial in the fourth quarter of 2015. This ltieenter, multinational clinical trial randomizeétients across approximately 90 clinical triaésito
one of two treatment groups. This Phase 3 cliriial uses the IPSS outcome measure evaluatedl@veronths as the primary endpoint. This Phase
3 clinical trial is a randomized, double-blind, rticénter, vehicle-controlled clinical trial to camh the efficacy and safety of a single treatment o
PRX302 transrectally administered in patients wiibderate to severe LUTS due to BPH.

In December 2014, the IDMC for the PLUS-1 trial dooted a planned, protocol-specified administratierim analysis of efficacy once all
patients had completed three months of treatmdm.IDMC completed the administrative analysis éitaty based on the IPSS change from
baseline to Week 12 for all 479 patients dosetiénRLUS-1 trial. The protocol-specified administratinterim analysis of efficacy set a threshold at
12 weeks defined as an IPSS treatment effeet0 points favoring PRX302 over vehicle-only (eeerage IPSS total score change from baseline
(CFB) for PRX302 minus IPSS CFB for vehicle-onifhe IDMC reported that the predefined efficacy sivad at week 12 was not achieved. This
administrative interim analysis was conducted djmadiy for planning subsequent clinical trials. & bngoing PLUS-1 trial is unaffected by this
recommendation, and all patients in the trial wihtinue to be followed to enable the evaluatiothefprimary efficacy endpoint at 52 weeks.
Simultaneously with this administrative interimie#icy analysis, the IDMC completed its fifth andai periodic analysis of unblinded safety data
reported no safety concerns. There were no evéstpsis reported post administration of PRX30this trial. The company and its representatives
have remained blinded to the results of this adstiaive analysis and will continue to remain béddhroughout the duration of the trial until after
the database is locked at the conclusion of thedgk trial.

In order to seek regulatory approval for PRX302tfe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, we woulddapiired to conduct a second Phase 3
clinical trial and we do not expect to commence adgitional Phase 3 clinical trials without recaiyifavorable results from the PLUS-1 trial and
unless we raise the additional funds required taloot the second Phase 3 clinical trial.

TRIUMPH Phase 2b Randomized, Double-Blind, Place@ontrolled Clinical Trial

In 2010, we completed TRIUMPH, a multicenter, ramized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled Phaseli@lical trial of PRX302 in 92
patients with moderate to severe BPH symptoms.pfineary objective of this clinical trial was to duate the effect on symptoms of BPH of
PRX302 versus placebo. Patients randomized to Iptaaehich is referred to as the vehicle, were adstened by injection an equivalent volume of
phosphate-buffered saline that did not includevaatirug product. The patient population that weluseevaluate efficacy in this clinical trial, as
defined by the clinical trial protocol, was theiedicy evaluable, or EE, population of patients,clihivas defined as those 73 patients who (1) red
the full treatment, (2) completed three month assests, and (3) had no major protocol violatiordet®rmined by a blinded, independent review
panel of urology experts. The intent-to-treat, OF land safety patient populations consisted o®2lpatients who received any study drug. Our
efficacy analyses in this clinical trial used thstlobservation carried forward, or LOCF, methoiirpute missing post-baseline data.

The results of this clinical trial were:

. PRX302 improved LUTS due to B We achieved the primary endpoint of this clinic&ll, which was a statistically significant
improvement in IPSS at three months following itife for patients treated with PRX302 versus pasiavho received vehicle. PRX302
treatment resulted in a 9.1 average reduction 85lRs compared to a 5.8 average reduction impsiieno received vehicle (p=0.040).

. Improvement was clinically meaningful, rapid andtained— Improvement in IPSS was observed as early agy4 fdllowing
injection and was sustained through the twelfth thaf observation. This improvement in IPSS wasicéilly meaningful, and
superior to vehicle.

. Improvement in Qma— PRX302 treatment resulted in an approximatelyn®.isec average increase in Qmax at three monghs, a
compared to 1.3 mL/sec for vehicle (p=0.047). Thprovement in Qmax for PRX302 was apparent fronfiteepost-baseline
assessment and sustained through the twelfth nodrthservation.

. PRX302 was we-tolerated— The PRX302 injection was well-tolerated by pasdn this clinical trial. The most common adveesents
that were potentially attributable to PRX302 arefeeth in the table below. These adverse evermeigdly are not unexpected
manifestations of the intraprostatic cellular destion and inflammation integral to the PRX302 naedbm of action. The median
duration for each of these adverse events wasalpiess than two days. In general, these adwersats were mild and transient, began
within the first few days after treatment (primgriin the same day as the study drug injection)veere resolved without further
complications.

There were no drug-related erectile dysfunctionasdiovascular side effects reported in this chhtdal. In addition, 16.1% of patients in the
vehicle group dropped out of the study due to lafcfficacy and the need for alternative therapg@spared to 3.3% of patients in the active group.




Adverse Events Occurring in_>5% of Subjects treated with PRX302 (ITT Population)

Vehicle (N=31)  PRX302 (N=61)

Adverse Event(1) n (%) n (%)

Hematuria, or presence of red blood cells in urine 11(35.5 18(29.5
Dysuria, or painful urination 2(6.5 17(27.9
Pollakiuria, or increased frequency of urination 5(16.1 14(23.0
Micturition Urgency, or urgency of urination 3(9.7 13(21.3
Perineal Pain 0(0.0; 7(11.5
Vertigo 2(6.5 4(6.6
Malaise 0(0.0; 4(6.6,

(1) MedDRA Dictionary-coded preferred terms.

In summary, these results demonstrate that PRX388le to maintain a treatment benefit based dm tneasures of efficacy, IPSS and Qmax,
which is clinically meaningful and sustained foe th2 months of monitoring in this clinical trial.

IPSS and Qmax in the Phase 2b BPH TRIUMPH Clinicalrial
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In our studies and other intraprostatic injectitrdges, vehicle response rates of 5 to 7 point aw@ments in IPSS have been observed. We
believe that the vehicle response is due in patigdluid injection potentially ablating prostatells.

Although the clinical trial protocol did not speciin ITT population analysis, an improvement of @hts in IPSS was observed in the active
group of the ITT population. This was not statlli¢ significant when compared to an improvemerthie vehicle group of 7.2 points. Thirteen
percent of the active group and 23% of the velgateip were included in the ITT population but matlided in the EE population because they were
deemed major protocol violators based on confountiintors. Examples of confounding factors weréniglprohibited medications, including other
medications to treat the symptoms of BPH, or undieggprohibited procedures during the clinicalltria

Transrectal Phase 1/2, Randomized, Double-Blinda&tbo-Controlled Clinical Trial in BPH

In March 2012, we completed dosing in a multicemandomized, double-blinded, vehicle-controllecsth1/2 clinical trial of PRX302 using
the transrectal route of administration for thedptostatic injection of PRX302. Each of the pregiclinical trials used transrectal ultrasound to
guide the intraprostatic injection, but this cliai¢rial was the first to use the rectum as theeaf administration rather than passing the needle
through the perineum. The transrectal route haadiantage of being very similar to the routinespaite biopsy procedure, and therefore requires
little extra training for the practicing urologigthe primary endpoint of this clinical trial wasdwaluate the three-month safety and tolerability o
escalating doses of PRX302. The safety data fraemiw route of administration of PRX302 were nekftbe a comparison with the safety profile
obtained from our previously-conducted Phase 12aclihical trials, which utilized a transperinealite of administration.
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We enrolled 40 patients with moderate to severe BfaHptoms in this clinical trial who were randondze PRX302 or placebo in a 4:1 ratio
within each of the four escalating dose cohortspAtients in this clinical trial received a singlensrectal, intraprostatic treatment of studygdor
vehicle at 20% of the patient’s prostate volumepim sequential cohorts according to escalatink®IR dose: 0.15, 0.30, 0.60, and 1.20 pg/g
prostate. Dose escalation decisions were guidexhbgdependent data monitoring committee for east eohort after all patients in the previous
cohort had been followed for at least 15 days atfiedy drug administration.

The results of this clinical trial showed that PRI23vas generally well-tolerated. The side effedfife in this transrectal clinical trial was
consistent with the side effects reported in threvigus, transperineal PRX302 clinical trials, irading that PRX302 injection by the transrectal eout
was tolerated at least as well as the transperina&d. There was one serious adverse event ttatleemed by the investigator to be related to
injection of PRX302 in this clinical trial. Thisseus adverse event of urinary retention requineéhdwelling catheter followed by TUNA. There
were no reports of sepsis in this clinical trialith\the switch to a transrectal route of admintstra there is a potential risk of sepsis as culyehe
rate of sepsis with prostate biopsies in the UnB&des is approximately 3-5%. However, prostadpgies involve as many as 20 punctures and a
large needle, whereas PRX302 administration reguindy two punctures with a smaller needle. Thezeawno drug-related erectile dysfunction or
cardiovascular side effects reported in this céhtdal.

The small sample size of only eight patients on B&<and two patients on vehicle in each cohortinssfficient to show statistically
significant improvements in BPH symptoms compaocedethicle. Although improvement in IPSS was notedieerage for all dose cohorts through
12 months, there is no meaningful difference betweBX302 and vehicle-treated patients. We do niig\eethat any conclusions about efficacy can
be drawn from this study due to the small same.si

In our TRIUMPH clinical trial, we observed postégjion transient elevations of two markers: PShaaker of prostate tissue disruption, and
serum C-reactive protein, or CRP, a non-specifickeraof associated inflammation. Post-injectiomsiant elevations in PSA and CRP were also
observed in the transrectal study, suggestingthieatargeted delivery of PRX302 to the prostratuiscessfully achieved with either the transpetinea
or the transrectal route of administration.

Phase 2a Open-Label Clinical Trial in BPH (PRX3022)

In 2009, we completed an open-label, multicentagse 2a clinical trial in BPH to evaluate the saetd tolerability of PRX302. We enrolled
18 patients with moderate to severe BPH symptontswadre either unresponsive to, intolerant to orillimg to use oral medications for treatmen
the symptoms of BPH. In this clinical trial, threghorts of six patients each received a singlanreat of PRX302 administered via transperineal
injection. We measured therapeutic activity throaganges in IPSS, Qmax, and quality of life scomapared to baseline scores at screening. In
addition, we monitored changes in prostate voluméhis clinical trial, PRX302 was well-tolerateddipatients attained meaningful symptomatic
relief through follow up of 12 months following angle treatment. Based on the results of this cihirial, we identified 20% of total prostate vivle
as our volume dose for our Phase 2b clinical trial.

Phase 1 Open-Label Clinical Trial in BPH (PRX302421)

In 2008, we completed an open-label, multicentegse 1 clinical trial in BPH to evaluate the doEBRX302 needed to demonstrate
therapeutic activity following a single treatmeas, well as to evaluate safety and tolerability. &deolled 15 patients with moderate to severe BPH
symptoms who were either unresponsive to, intotai@or unwilling to use oral medications for tmeant of the symptoms of BPH. We administered
PRX302 to five cohorts of three patients each etlating doses of PRX302. PRX302 was well-tolerated

Plans For Future Clinical Development

We will need to complete a second Phase 3 clitizdlof PRX302 for the treatment of the symptori@BH which would be initiated after tl
completion of our on-going PLUS-1 trial. We willeg:to raise additional capital resources to fumslsbcond Phase 3 clinical trial.

To date, no patients have been administered maredhe treatment of PRX302. Assuming sufficienitehpesources and assuming a
successful outcome from our on-going PLUS-1 triad,are planning to initiate an open label repeatdiinical trial in which patients from our
transrectal clinical trial, as well as patientsifirour first Phase 3 clinical trial, will be eligébto receive a repeat dose of PRX302, at leastdizhm
after their first dose. We believe this repeat d@sase 3 clinical trial is supported by resulterfraur pre-clinical study of repeat dosing in morkey
In this pre-clinical study, two treatments of PRX30ere given to monkeys 56 days apart. Data frasnstindy indicated that PRX302 resulted in
ablation of cells after both the first and the setdose, even in the presence of circulating adiédsy and did not result in hypersensitivity.
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Clinical Development in Prostate Cancer
Planned Clinical Developmer

We plan to initiate a Phase 2 proof of concepticdihtrial with PRX302 in patients who have localizlow to intermediate risk prostate cancer
before the end of the first half of 2015. The stwdl utilize multi-parametric magnetic resonanagaiging (mpMRI) co-registered with real time 3D
ultrasound images to target the delivery of PRX8&ctly into and around a pre-identified clinigadlignificant tumor. The study will be conducted
at a single center and enroll approximately 20epési that have not been previously treated for ghreistate cancer. In this proof of concept trial,
patients will receive a transperineal administratid PRX302 at a dose higher than used in the oiggBPH PLUS-1 study but less than the highest
dose used in our previous prostate cancer tri@.primary objective will be to assess the safetytaterability of PRX302 when used to selectively
target and focally ablate a clinically significdasion. The potential efficacy will be evidencedHigtological and MRI changes, indicating tumor
control at six months.

Completed Clinical Development
Phase 2 Open-Label Clinical Trial in Prostate Cance

In September 2009, we completed a Phase 2 climieabf PRX302 in six patients with biopsy-provéocally-recurrent prostate cancer that,
following radiation therapy, showed signs of digepeogression evidenced by rising levels of PSAer@peutic activity in the form of overall
decreases in PSA levels and in the number of adetiooma-positive biopsy cores following PRX302atreent was observed in two of six patients.

Phase 1 Open-Label Clinical Trial in Prostate Cance

In May 2008, we completed a multicenter, open-lattese-escalation Phase 1 clinical trial of PRXB024 patients in the United States with
biopsy-proven, locally-recurrent prostate cancat,tfollowing radiation therapy, showed signs cfedise progression evidenced by rising levels of
PSA. Elevated and rising levels of PSA can be a sfghe presence or progression of prostate camberprimary clinical endpoint of this clinical
trial was to examine the safety and tolerabilityPd¥X302 with therapeutic activity as the seconddinical endpoint. Clinical trial results
demonstrated that PRX302 was well-tolerated andvetearly signs of therapeutic activity followingiagle intraprostatic treatment.

No PRX302 treatment-related serious adverse evesis reported and the treatment-related adversetsfthat were reported were mild and
were primarily associated with the injection proced

Our Strategy

Our business strategy is to develop and commezeiainovative products for the treatment of uratagdiseases. The elements of our strategy
include the following:

. Complete clinical development of PRX302 for thattreent of the symptoms of BPRRX302 previously achieved its primary efficacy
endpoint in a completed Phase 2b clinical trigdatients with moderate to severe BPH symptoms.ntémd to complete our ongoing
Phase 3 clinical trial for BPH in the fourth quardé 2015. Depending on the outcome of the Phadmigal trial, we may seek a
development partnership to fund the second Phatgri&al trial that would be required to seek reggaly approval, based on feedback
from the FDA and European regulatory agencies.

. Initiate and complete a proof of concept study of PRX30ghitreatment of localized low to intermediaté figostate canceiVe plan
to initiate a Phase 2 proof of concept study wigKB02 in patients who have localized low to intedmae risk prostate cancer by the
end of the first half of 2015. The study will benclucted at a single center and enroll approxim&elpatients. The primary objective
will be to assess the safety and tolerability oXBB2 when used to selectively target and focalbateba clinically significant lesion. Tt
potential efficacy will be evidenced by histolodiead MRI changes, indicating tumor control atignths. If the outcome of the proof
of concept study is successful, we intend to puesiditional clinical development of PRX302 as aalqurostate cancer treatment.

. Maximize the commercial potential of PRX:. If we obtain marketing approval of PRX302 for theatment of the symptoms of BPH
and/or the treatment of localized low to interméelidsk prostate cancer, we intend to commercid@iR&302, alone or with a partner, in
the United States, and to enter into collaboratisangements for commercialization in other markets

. Opportunistically in-license or acquire additionalinical-stage product candidates or approved proun our area of focuswWe may
enhance our product pipeline through strategidalycensing or acquiring clinical stage produchdalates or approved products for
urological diseases. We believe that our experigrittedeveloping urology therapeutics may makemsatéractive partner for companies
seeking to out-license products or develop prodantlidates in this area of focus.
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Competition

We expect that PRX302 will compete with the curteeatment options for the symptoms of BPH, whintiude oral drug therapy and surgery.
Oral drug therapies include (a) a -blockers, suctamsulosin (marketed under various trade namesiimerous companies, including as Florffax
by Astellas Pharma), alfuzosin (marketed in thetéthBtates by Sanofi as UroxatPal ), doxazosin Ketad by Pfizer as CarduPa and CarduraXL
®) and silodosin (marketed by Watson PharmaceutasRapafl® in the United States), (b) 5-a rededtasibitors, such as dutasteride (marketed
by GlaxoSmithKline plc as Avoda®t ) and finaster{dearketed by Merck & Co., Inc. as Pros@ar ), ar)ccombinations of a -blockers and 5-a
reductase inhibitors such as tamsulosin and duidsténarketed by GSK as Jal§n ). In addition,LHly and Company’s oral drug tadalafil
(marketed as Ciali® ), a PDES5 inhibitor, obtain@Fapproval for the treatment of the symptoms ofBR October 2011. Several MIST
procedures are available, including transurethiatowave thermotherapy, or TUMT, TUNA, photo-sefeetvaporization of prostate, holmium laser
enucleation of the prostate, transurethral elecqorization of the prostate, Urolift, which is @gged to open the urethra directly without the need
resect or ablate prostate tissue and interst#igadr coagulation. Currently, the most commonly MERIT procedures are laser ablations of the
prostate, TUMT, and TUNA. Surgery for BPH treatmisntisually considered in patients who fail drugrttpy as a result of side effects or inadeq
relief of symptoms, have refractory urinary retenfior have recurrent urinary tract infections effiatively, surgery may be the initial treatment in
patients with severe urinary symptoms. Surgicatedares for BPH include TURP, as well as othergadaces such as transurethral incision of the
prostate and transurethral vaporization of thetptes

In addition, there are other treatments that areeatly in clinical development for the treatmefttte symptoms of BPH. Light Sciences
Oncology Inc.’s AptocinéM is currently in Phase iiclal trials. In 2014, Nymox Pharmaceuticals ammemd that the injectable NX-1207 for the
treatment of the symptoms of BPH did not meetlitégal endpoints in two completed Phase 3 clinicalls and we do not know that status of future
development of NX-1207.

We expect that PRX302 will complete with the cutrieeatment options for the treatment of localif®al to intermediate risk prostate cancer,
which include surgical options such as laparoscapit radical prostatectomy or radiation. In addititnere are other focal targeted therapies which
are gaining traction that are currently in clinidalvelopment or have been recently approved whiclude: brachytherapy, cryotherapy, high
frequency ultrasound, cyber knife, radio frequeablation and laser ablation.

Sales and Marketing

We do not currently have a sales, marketing oritligion organization. We intend to commercialiZzeX¥302 alone by establishing, either
internally or through a contract sales force, dagy sales force to sell PRX302, if approved, ia tnited States, or through partnership. We plan to
partner with third parties to commercialize PRX30@side the United States.

Specifically, we intend to:

. establish a sales force in the United Statesxpérienced urology and other specialty-care salg®sentatives;

. build a marketing organization;

. establish commercialization alliances with largemore specialized pharmaceutical and salesaatons; and

. generate and use pharmacoeconomic data to supparost savings and therapeutic benefits of RIRX3
Manufacturing

We neither currently possess nor do we plan toldpveaur own manufacturing capabilities. All of aaanufacturing is, and will be, outsourced
to third parties with oversight by our internal ragers. In 2012, we entered into a manufacturingsapgly agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim
RCV GmbH & Co KG, or BI, to manufacture PRX302. Thanufacture of PRX302 drug substance starts withlaf the working cell bank of
Aeromonas salmonicicbacteria which is then processed through four cansee stages involving: batch fermentation and/ést;, purification using

immobilized metal affinity chromatography, purifi@n using an ionic exchange chromatography ankl fawmulation of PRX302 drug substance.
The entire manufacturing process takes approximatel weeks.
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There has been a successful scale-up up to the emiainbatch size for drug substance. The findbradf the commercial fill finish process,
for the production of drug product is still undegatzut the commercial fill finish process may bejsgbto change based upon regulatory feedback.
Although PRX302 is manufactured from readily avaléamaterials using standard pharmaceutical metandsquipment, any replacement of Bl as
our manufacturer may lead to significant delaysiactease our costs. Further, Bl currently procaregngredient used in the formulation of PRX:
from a multinational industrial biotech company wahis a single source supplier.

Supply Agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim RCV Gmk&ICo KG

In June 2012, we entered into a technology traresfdrsupply agreement with Bl, for the provisiorteafhnology transfer services and for the
establishment of certain manufacturing processesfa the manufacture of, purified PRX302, thetiily agent for use in PRX302 drug products
and placebos, and a placebo to be used in clitriaéd. We will be required to make payments bageah the provision and completion of certain
tasks specified in the agreement. Starting in 2@#8prices of Bl's services have been adjustedahnbased on the average of the Austrian trade
index and the average Standard Wages Index, bathJady of the previous year, subject to certastrictions. Bl will be required to manufacture
products in line with certain project timelineswé postpone the performance of any services, welreaequired to pay certain postponement fees.
Additionally, if we cancel any services we will kequired to pay the entire cost for such servicekthe entire cost of any materials that cannot be
returned by Bl to the appropriate vendor or othsewised by BI. If we are required to have any prbthanufactured outside our expected
manufacturing cycles due to an unforeseen lossanfyet, we will have to work with Bl to arrange available manufacturing slot and our receipt of
drug product may be delayed. Bl must provide aWises under the agreement, including the manufacpackaging, storing and delivery of
PRX302 drug products, in accordance with cGMP &mdd below), as specified by the FDA. The agregrhas an initial term of six years and will
automatically renew for a single five-year periodass either party objects to such renewal at lpastyears prior to the expiration of the agreement
Either party may terminate the agreement earlgémse, including for any uncured material breacthefagreement, the other party’s insolvency or
the assignment of the other party’s rights or @il@ns to a direct competitor of the non-assigniagy. Additionally, we have the right to terminate
the agreement immediately upon the rejection oraqmproval of a regulatory filing due to medicalfetg or regulatory concerns or in the event that
we abandon our clinical program for PRX302 dueny @inical failure, subject in each case to payhwdrspecified termination costs to Bl.

Intellectual Property

We hold commercial rights to PRX302 in major mask@icluding, Canada, the United States, Europelaial (except Japan where we have
licensed the rights to Kissei). We in-licensed PRX&om UVIC and Johns Hopkins. Our success wifletel in large part on our ability to obtain,
maintain, defend and enforce patents and otherriptapy technology rights. We file and prosecuteepaapplications to protect our proprietary
discoveries. In addition to patent protection, \g® &eek to rely on trade secret protection, trad&mrotection and know-how to expand our
proprietary position around our technology, disa@eand inventions that we consider importantuokusiness. We also seek to protect our
intellectual property in part by entering into cioleftiality agreements and/or invention assignnagméements with our employees, consultants,
scientific advisors, and certain consultants anéstigators that grant us ownership of any disdesesr inventions made by them. Further, we seek
trademark protection in Canada, the United Statdscartain other countries where available and wiedeem appropriate. We have applied for
registration of the Sophiris trademark, which we usconnection with our pharmaceutical researchdvelopment services as well as our clinical-
stage product candidates in Europe, Canada, Jaykthe United States.

Patents and patent applications covering PRX302wie own or license are covered by issued passmipatent applications under the
following four patent families:

. Proaerolysin Containing Protease Activation $eges and Methods of Use for Treatment of Pro&ateer (exclusively
licensed);

. Method of Treating the Symptoms of Benign Pridstayperplasia Using Modified Pore-Forming Prote{exclusively licensed);
. Formulations and Methods of Administration (owr®y us); and

. Method for Treating Prostatitis Utilizing Mod#il Pore-Forming Protein Proaerolysin (exclusiviggrised).
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We own or have exclusively licensed six issued &thbtates patents related to our prostate prody&y,838,266 (prostate cancer) expirini
2022, US 7,282,476 (prostate cancer) expiring B32US 7,745,395 (prostate cancer) expiring in 2023 8,278,279 prostatitis) expiring in 2029,
US 8,901,070 (prostatitis) expiring in 2029 and &)$16,161 (BPH) expiring in 2026, as well as ssued patents in countries including Australia,
China, the European Patent Office (including 1&egiton states), India, Japan, and South Africariexpin 2022, nine patents in the European P«
Office (including 14 extension states), Japan, pfghina, Australia, New Zealand, Israel, Singapanel South Africa expiring in 2026, and 15
additional pending U.S. and/or foreign patent aygtions in Australia, Canada, the European PatéfiteQIndia and Japan variously set to expire in
2022, 2026, 2029, or 2031. This portfolio inclugksied U.S. patents that cover the compositiorR{I®2 or methods of using PRX302 to treat
prostatitis or prostate cancer, and methods ofguBRX302 to treat the symptoms of BPH. This poidfaicludes two issued Chinese patents. To
date, we have not sought to enforce any issuedisate China. We cannot give any assurances thatilvbe able to enforce our patents in China to
the same degree that we could in the United States.

Technology Licenses
Exclusive License Agreement with UVIC Industry Padrships Inc. and The Johns Hopkins University f&PH

In October 2009, we entered into an exclusive beesgreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins with resspethe use of PRX302 for the
development of therapeutics for the symptoms of BIRH other non-cancer diseases and conditionegfrthstate. The agreement was amended in
July 2010. Such amendment did not change the mhterims of the agreement. We have the right tatgrablicenses to third parties under the
agreement provided that such sublicenses meetrceriteria.

In order to secure the license, we paid an initehse fee of CND$45,000, or $39,000, applyingdbeversion rate as of the date of payment.
In addition, we are required to pay an annual Beemaintenance fee and are obligated to pay argageeof gross sales for licensed products sold by
us, our affiliates or our sublicensees during grentof the agreement. Such percentage is in thesilogle-digits. Furthermore, we are required to
make payments based upon the achievement of spdeifelopment and regulatory milestones separabeth@ the indications of BPH and two
additional therapeutic indications selected bytatsling up to approximately CND$1.3 million, or.8Imillion, as converted. In the event we receive
consideration for granting a sublicense, we ar@gat#d to pay UVIC and Johns Hopkins a percentdgech consideration, which percentage is in
the 10-19% range, depending upon the rights gramtddr the sublicense agreement. To the exteneeetve any milestone payments relating to the
development of therapeutics for the treatment efsymptoms of BPH under our exclusive license ages with Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or
Kissei, we are obligated to pay a percentage df soasideration, which percentage is in the 10-18Age, to UVIC and Johns Hopkins; however,
pursuant to a separate agreement which we ente@thi2003 with Dr. J. Thomas Buckley, one of faunders, the aggregate amount of such
consideration payable by us to UVIC and Johns Huopld reduced by 25%.

Under the terms of the agreement, we are requirede reasonable commercial efforts to developcantmercialize the technology covered
by the agreement, and in this regard, we have ddoeput a business plan covering the marketingcamamercialization of such technology in place.
Our failure to commercialize the technology covemgdhe agreement may result in termination ofageeement.

The term of the agreement will, on a country-by+tioyi basis, continue until expiration of the lasepire issued patent or, if no patent has
issued in such country, then 20 years after thexctife date of the agreement. UVIC and Johns Haptk@ve a unilateral right to terminate the
agreement upon notice if we become insolvent, ceasarry out our business, subject the licenselntelogy to any third-party security interest or
breach any of our obligations under this agreenifenich breach has remained uncured for 60 dajaiig written notice thereof. In addition, the
agreement may automatically terminate in the ewentindergo bankruptcy proceedings.

Exclusive License Agreement with UVIC Industry Padrships Inc. and The Johns Hopkins University f@®rostate Cancer

In September 2004, we entered into an exclusiemsie agreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins, wisheet to the use of PRX302 for the
development of therapeutics for prostate cances adgreement was amended on December 8, 2004 ntl, A010. Such amendments did not
change the material terms of the agreement. Faethe of this agreement, we have an exclusive offitst option to obtain a license for future
improvements to the patent rights covered by thieaagent. In addition, we have the right to grabiisenses to third parties under the agreement
provided that such sublicenses meet certain aiteri

In order to secure the license, we paid an initehse fee of CND$75,000, or $62,000, applyingdbeversion rate as of the date of payment,
and a reimbursement fee of CND$28,000, or $24,8pplying the conversion rate as of the date of gatnto cover expenses associated with the
filing and maintenance fees of patents coveredbyagreement. In addition, we are required to pagraual license maintenance fee and are
obligated to pay a percentage of gross salesdensied products sold by us, our affiliates or abtisensees during the term of the agreement. Such
percentage is in the low single-digits and is sctije adjustment in certain circumstances. We @ r@quired to make payments based upon the
achievement of specific development and regulatuilgstones totaling up to approximately CND$3.6lianil, or $3.4 million, as converted. In the
event we receive consideration for granting a sebke, we are obligated to pay UVIC and Johns Hispkipercentage of such consideration, which
percentage is in the 20-29% range, including ahyréuconsideration we may receive under our exatulstense agreement with Kissei relating to
development of therapeutics for the treatment o$gate cancer. Furthermore, we issued 3,420 consimanes to Johns Hopkins and 1,710 common
shares to UVIC in partial consideration for thehtgygranted to us under the agreement.

15






Under the terms of the agreement, we are requirede reasonable commercial efforts to developcantnercialize the technology covered
by the agreement, and in this regard, have ageepdtta business plan in place. Our failure to cenumalize the technology covered by the
agreement may result in termination of the agreémen

The term of the agreement will, on a country-by+toyi basis, continue until expiration of the lasepire issued patent or, if no patent has
issued in such country, then 20 years after thectffe date of the agreement.

UVIC and Johns Hopkins have a unilateral righttortinate the agreement upon notice if we becon@vest, cease to carry out our business,
subject the licensed technology to any securitgrégt or breach any of our obligations under thie@ment if such breach has remained uncured for
60 days following written notice thereof. In additi the agreement may automatically terminate éretrent we undergo bankruptcy proceedings.

Strategic Relationship with Kissei Pharmaceutical @., Ltd.

In April 2010, we entered into an exclusive liceaggeement with Kissei, for the development androengialization of PRX302 (and other
products covered by the licensed patents) in Japeahe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, prostatgcer, prostatitis or other diseases of the
prostate. Under the terms of the license, Kisspeinitted to sublicense its rights if certain citinds are met.

In order to secure the license, Kissei paid usmfrent payment of $3.0 million. During the yearded December 31, 2013, we recorded a $5.0
million non-refundable milestone payment due fromsi€i upon the achievement of certain developmettiges. In addition, we remain eligible to
receive up to approximately $67.0 million in adulital payments contingent upon achievement of spdaifevelopment, regulatory and commercial
milestones, some of which are in Kissei’s sole mison to achieve, separated among the indicatdB°H, prostate cancer, and prostatitis or other
diseases of the prostate, as well as the achieveshererall accumulated gross sales levels fohsndications. The additional $67.0 million of non-
refundable milestone payments is comprised asvistlaggregate milestone payments of $12.0 millieralated to the BPH indication, of which
$7.0 million relates to the completion of regulgtapprovals and $5.0 million relates to the achieset of certain product sale goals; a total of 821.
million is related to the prostate cancer indicatiof which $7.0 million relates to the completioindevelopment activities, $7.0 million relateshe
completion of regulatory approvals and $7.0 millrefates to the achievement of certain productgadds; and a total of $21.0 million is related to
prostatitis or other diseases of the prostate,loflwv$7.0 million relates to the completion of dieyenent activities, $7.0 million relates to the
completion of regulatory approvals and $7.0 millrefates to the achievement of certain productgadds. An additional $13.0 million of aggregate
milestone payments are not indication specifiaybich $5.0 million relates to the completion of ugory approvals and $8.0 million relates to the
achievement of certain product sale goals. In additve may receive a drug supply fee and royadtynpents in the 20-29% range as a percentage of
future net sales of licensed products sold undeatreement. The royalties payable by Kissei dsgestuto reductions or offsets in certain
circumstances. Kissei’s royalty obligations conéiruntil the later of expiration of the last validio in the licensed patents covering the applieabl
licensed product, or 10 years after first comméade of such licensed product in Japan. Kissetsponsible for all costs associated with the
development, regulatory approval, commercializatiod marketing of PRX302 in Japan.

Kissei may unilaterally terminate the agreemerayjaled that if such termination occurs after consig@daunch of a product under the
agreement, Kissei must provide us with six montiar pvritten notice. Absent early termination, teclusive license agreement will remain in ef
until Kissei or its sublicensees or affiliates distinue the sale of products under the agreement.

Regulatory Overview

Our business and operations are subject to a yariél.S. federal, state and local, and foreignranational, national, provincial and municipal
laws, regulations and trade practices. The FDAcmparable regulatory authorities in state andlljpecesdictions and in other countries impose
substantial and burdensome requirements upon caegpanolved in the clinical development, manufaetunarketing and distribution of drugs and
biologics. These agencies and other federal, atatdocal entities regulate research and developastivities and the testing, manufacture, quality
control, safety, effectiveness, labeling, storageordkeeping, approval, advertising and promotéorg, export and import of our product candidate.
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U.S. Government Regulation
U.S. Drug Development Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs aolddic products under the Federal Food, Drug aagnietic Act, or FDCA, its implementi
regulations, and other laws, including, in the aafSieiologics, the Public Health Service Act. Owoguct candidate, PRX302, is subject to regulation
by the FDA as a biologic. Biologics require the migsion of a BLA to the FDA and approval of the Bbg the FDA before marketing in the United
States. The process of obtaining regulatory apfsdea commercial sale and distribution and thessgfuent compliance with applicable federal,
state, local and foreign statutes and regulatiegsire the expenditure of substantial time andnfiied resources. Failure to comply with the
applicable U.S. requirements at any time duringpttegluct development process, approval procesiesrapproval, may subject an applicant to
administrative or judicial civil or criminal sanotis. These sanctions could include the FDA's réfissapprove pending applications, license
suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an apprdagbosition of a clinical hold on clinical trialgarning letters, product recalls, product seizures
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, fines, refusals of governmemntracts, restitution, disgorgement or civil amd/o
criminal penalties. The process required by the Fi@fore a biologic may be marketed in the Uniteatet generally involves the following:

. completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aalrstudies and formulation studies performed iroetance with the FDA'’s current
Good Laboratory Practices, or GLP, regulations;

. submission to the FDA of an investigational rwg application, or IND, which must become effeetbefore human clinical
trials in the United States may begin;

. performance of adequate and well-controlled hugimical trials in accordance with the FDA’s aemt good clinical practices, or
GCP, regulations to establish the safety and ef§icd the product candidate for its intended use;

. submission to the FDA of a BLA;

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortteé manufacturing facility or facilities where theoduct is produced to assess
compliance with the FDA'’s current good manufactgnimactice standards, or cGMP, regulations to ashat the facilities,
methods and controls are adequate to preserveddeqgi’s identity, strength, quality and purity;

. potential audits by the FDA of the nonclinicaldeclinical trial sites that generated the datsupport of the BLA;

. possible review of the BLA by an external Advis@ommittee to the FDA, whose recommendationsatéinding on the FDA,
and

. FDA review and approval of the BLA prior to aogmmercial marketing or sale.

Before testing any compounds with potential theuéipevalue in humans, the drug candidate enterptbelinical testing stage. Preclinical te
include laboratory evaluations of product chemisstgbility and formulation, as well as animal $&sdo assess the potential toxicity and activity o
the product candidate. The conduct of the predirtests must comply with federal regulations aglirements including GLPs. The sponsor must
submit the results of the preclinical tests, togethith manufacturing information, analytical dagay available clinical data or literature and a
proposed clinical protocol, to the FDA as partha tND. The IND automatically becomes effectivedzys after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA
raises concerns or questions about the condubedilinical trial, including concerns that humasea&rch subjects will be exposed to unreasonable
health risks. In such a case, the IND sponsor laadDA must resolve any outstanding concerns béf@arelinical trial can begin. The FDA may a
impose clinical holds on a product candidate attang before or during clinical trials due to sgfebncerns or non-compliance, or for other reasons.

Clinical trials involve the administration of thegguct candidate to human subjects under the sigpamof qualified investigators, generally
physicians not employed by or under the clinicall sponsors control. Clinical trials are conducted under pcols detailing, among other things,
objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedyresbject selection and exclusion criteria, andpfi@meters to be used to monitor subject safety an
effectiveness. Each protocol must be submittetied=DA as part of the IND. Clinical trials mustd@nducted in accordance with GCPs. Further,
each clinical trial must be reviewed and approvedt IRB at or servicing each institution at whibk clinical trial will be conducted. An IRB is
charged with protecting the welfare and rightslofical trial participants and considers such iteasswvhether the risks to individuals participatimg
the clinical trials are minimized and are reasoeablrelation to anticipated benefits. The IRB approves the form and content of the informed
consent that must be signed by each clinical $tgject or his or her legal representative and mmastitor the clinical trial until completed. Human
clinical trials are typically conducted in threggential phases that may overlap or be combined:

. Phase 1The product candidate is initially introduced iatéimited population of healthy human subjects tastied for safety, dosage
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution arcretion. In the case of some products for soiseades, or when the product may be
too inherently toxic to ethically administer to g volunteers, the initial human testing is oftmnducted in patients with the diseas
condition for which the product candidate is inteddo gain an early indication of its effectiveness

. Phase 2The product candidate is evaluated in a limitedepapopulation (but larger than in Phase 1) toiifig possible adverse effects
and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate thacgffy of the product for specific targeted indioa and to assess dosage tolerance,



optimal dosage and dosing schedule.

Phase 3Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluddsage, and provide substantial evidence of cligffacy and safety in an
expanded patient population (such as several hdrndreeveral thousand) at geographically dispecBeital trial sites. Phase 3 clinical
trials are typically conducted when Phase 2 clinigals demonstrate that a dose range of the mtocandidate is effective and has an
acceptable safety profile. These trials typicatiyd at least two groups of patients who, in a lelchthshion, receive either the product or
a placebo. Phase 3 clinical trials are intendegktablish the overall risk/benefit ratio of thegwot and provide an adequate basis for
product labeling. Generally, two adequate and wefitrolled Phase 3 clinical trials are requiredtsy FDA for approval of a BLA.
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Post-approval studies, sometimes referred to asePhalinical trials, may be conducted after ihiarketing approval. These studies are used
to gain additional experience from the treatmergaifents in the intended therapeutic indicatiofutther assess the biologic’s safety and
effectiveness after BLA approval. Phase 4 studieshbe initiated by the drug sponsor or as a candif BLA approval by the FDA.

Annual progress reports detailing the results efdlinical trials must be submitted to the FDA awitten IND safety reports must be promptly
submitted to the FDA and the investigators foraegiand unexpected adverse events or any findimg tiests in laboratory animals that suggests a
significant risk for human subjects.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuabgmplete additional animal studies and must alselde additional information about the
chemistry and physical characteristics of the lgjim@nd finalize a process for manufacturing thedpct in commercial quantities in accordance with
cGMP requirements. The manufacturing process naisapable of consistently producing quality batdfebe product candidate and, among other
things, must develop methods for testing the idgnsirength, quality and purity of the final bigio product. Additionally, appropriate packaging
must be selected and tested and stability studiest be conducted to demonstrate that the prodactidate does not undergo unacceptable
deterioration over its shelf life.

U.S. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development, preclinicatligs and clinical trials, along with descriptiorfdgfte manufacturing process, analytical tests,
proposed labeling and other relevant informati@sarbmitted to the FDA in the form of a BLA requegtapproval to market the product for one or
more specified indications. The submission of a B&Aubject to the payment of substantial user. fees

Once the FDA receives a BLA, it has 60 days toawwhe BLA to determine if it is substantially colefe and the data is readable, before it
accepts the BLA for filing. Once the submissioadsepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depthiegwof the BLA. Under the goals and policies
agreed to by the FDA under the Prescription DrugrB®e Act, or PDUFA, the FDA has 12 months fromnsigsion in which to complete its initial
review of a standard BLA and make a decision oragfication, and eight months from submissionaf@riority BLA, and such goal is referred tc
the PDUFA date. The FDA does not always meet it P®dates for either standard or priority BLAs. Tiegiew process and the PDUFA date may
be extended by three months if the FDA requestseoBLA sponsor otherwise provides additional infation or clarification regarding information
already provided in the submission within the thste months before the PDUFA date.

After the BLA submission is accepted for filingetRDA reviews the BLA to determine, among othengisi whether the proposed product is
safe and effective for its intended use, and whetieproduct is being manufactured in accordanite @GMP to assure and preserve the product’s
identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA m@&fer applications for novel drug or biologicabgucts or drug or biological products which
present difficult questions of safety or efficaoyain advisory committee, typically a panel thatudes clinicians and other experts, for review,
evaluation and a recommendation as to whethergplcation should be approved and under what candit The FDA is not bound by the
recommendations of an advisory committee, butritsaers such recommendations carefully when madéuisions. During the approval process
FDA also will determine whether a risk evaluatiow anitigation strategy, or REMS, is necessary suesthe safe use of the product. If the FDA
concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the LSt submit a proposed REMS; the FDA will not apprthe BLA without an approved REN
if required. Development of a REMS can substantialcrease the costs of obtaining approval.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA will typically inspt the facilities at which the product is manufiaet. The FDA will not approve the BLA
unless it determines that the manufacturing preseasd facilities are in compliance with cGMP regpients and adequate to assure consistent
production of the product within required specifioas. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the Rvill typically inspect one or more clinical
sites to assure that the clinical studies were eoted in compliance with GCP requirements. If tBARletermines that the application,
manufacturing process or manufacturing facilities ot acceptable, it will outline the deficiencieghe submission and often will request additlona
testing or information before a BLA can be approved

The FDA will issue a complete response letteréf éigency decides not to approve the BLA. The compésponse letter describes all of the
specific deficiencies in the BLA identified by tR®A. The deficiencies identified may be minor, é&tample, requiring labeling changes, or major,
for example, requiring additional clinical trialsdditionally, the complete response letter mayudel recommended actions that the applicant might
take to place the application in a condition foprval. If a complete response letter is issueg agbplicant may either resubmit the BLA, addressing
all of the deficiencies identified in the letter,withdraw the application.

If a product receives regulatory approval, the aparmay be significantly limited to specific dises and dosages or the indications for use
may otherwise be limited, which could restrict toenmercial value of the product. Further, the FD&ymequire that certain contraindications,
warnings or precautions be included in the prothlmtling. In addition, the FDA may require post keding studies, sometimes referred to as Ph
testing, which involves clinical trials designedftother assess drug safety and effectiveness aydrequire testing and surveillance programs to
monitor the safety of approved products that haenlcommercialized. After approval, certain charigeke approved biologic, such as adding new
indications, manufacturing changes or additiona¢lmg claims, are subject to further FDA revievd approval. Depending on the nature of the
change proposed, a BLA supplement must be filedagpdoved before the change may be implementednBay proposed posipproval changes
a BLA, the FDA has up to 180 days to review theliappon. As with new BLAs, the review process ftea significantly extended by the FDA
requests for additional information or clarificatio
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Post-Approval Requirements

Any biologic products for which we or our collabtires receive FDA approvals are subject to contiguegulation by the FDA, including,
among other things, record-keeping requiremenggrting of adverse experiences with the produdyiding the FDA with updated safety and
efficacy information, product sampling and disttibn requirements, complying with certain electmorécords and signature requirements and
complying with FDA promotion and advertising re@uirents, which include, among others, restrictiongigect-to-consumer advertising, promoting
biologics for uses or in patient populations that@ot described in the product’s approved labglkmpwn as “off-label use”), industry-sponsored
scientific and educational activities, and promagibactivities involving the internet. The FDA olbg regulates the post-approval marketing and
promotion of biologics, and although physicians rpegscribe legally available drugs for off-labeéssmanufacturers may not market or promote
such off-label uses. Failure to comply with thesetber FDA requirements can subject a manufactorpossible legal or regulatory action, such as
warning letters, suspension of manufacturing, seinfi product, injunctive action, mandated correctidvertising or communications with health
professionals, possible civil or criminal penaltiesother negative consequences, including adyeriskcity.

We will rely, and expect to continue to rely, oirdhparties for the production of clinical and coential quantities of our products. Our
collaborators may also utilize third parties fomsoor all of a product we are developing with sacltiaborator. Manufacturers are required to cor
with applicable FDA manufacturing requirements eimed in the FDA’s cGMP regulations. cGMP regulasioequire among other things, quality
control and quality assurance as well as the cporeting maintenance of records and documentaticuing Branufacturers and other entities involved
in the manufacture and distribution of approveddgcs are required to register their establishmevith the FDA and certain state agencies, and are
subject to periodic inspections by the FDA andaiarstate agencies for compliance with cGMP andrdtws. Accordingly, manufacturers must
continue to expend time, money, and effort in tfeaaf production and quality control to mainta@®@MP compliance.

U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Excltysiv

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifichie FDA approval of our biologic product candielatome of our United States patents
may be eligible for limited patent term extensiower the Drug Price Competition and Patent TerntdRason Act of 1984, commonly referred to
the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amends permit a patent restoration term of up te figars as compensation for patent
term lost during product development and the FDdulatory review process. However, patent term rasitlm cannot extend the remaining term of a
patent beyond a total of 14 years from the produspproval date. The patent term restoration pasigénerally one-half the time between the
effective date of an IND and the submission data BLA plus the time between the submission date BEA and the approval of that application.
Only one patent applicable to an approved produetigible for the extension and the applicationtf@ extension must be submitted prior to the
expiration of the patent. The United States PaadtTrademark Office, in consultation with the FD&yiews and approves the application for any
patent term extension or restoration. In the fytwe may intend to apply for restoration of patenin for one of our currently owned or licensed
patents to add patent life beyond its current exjgin date, depending on the expected length oflthial trials and other factors involved in the
filing of the relevant BLA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA casaatielay the submission or the approval of cedpplications of other companies seeking
to reference another company’s BLA. We believe theRX302 is approved as a biological product uralBLA, it should qualify for a 12-year
period of exclusivity currently permitted by theoBigics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 200r BPCIA. Specifically, the BPCIA
established an abbreviated pathway for the appaiaibsimilar and interchangeable biological produ The new abbreviated regulatory pathway
establishes legal authority for the FDA to reviavd approve biosimilar biologics, including the gbksdesignation of a biosimilar as
“interchangeable” based on their similarity to ¢xig brand product. Under the BPCIA, an applicafiana biosimilar product cannot be approved by
the FDA until 12 years after the original brandedduct was approved under a BLA. However, an appiic may be submitted after four years if it
contains a certification of patent invalidity ormmfringement to one of the patents listed with EDA by the innovator BLA holder. The BPCIA is
complex and is only beginning to be interpreted iamalemented by the FDA. As a result, its ultim@tgact, implementation and meaning is subject
to uncertainty.

U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, to whichase subject, prohibits corporations and individifabm engaging in certain activities to
obtain or retain business or to influence a pewgorking in an official capacity. It is illegal toag, offer to pay or authorize the payment of amghi
of value to any foreign government official, goverent staff member, political party or political ciaate in an attempt to obtain or retain busine:
to otherwise influence a person working in an ddficapacity.
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U.S. Federal and State Health Regulation Laws

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of statefederal laws have been applied to
restrict certain marketing practices in the biophaceutical industry in recent years. These lawsidiecanti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. Because of the breadth of these lawshanthrrowness of the applicable exceptions areltsabors, it is possible that some of our business
activities could be subject to challenge underanmore of such laws.

The federal health care program anti-kickback stgtuohibits, among other things, knowingly andfwily offering, paying, soliciting, or
receiving remuneration to induce or in return farghasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging forghechase, lease, or order of any health care item o
service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid,tbeofederally financed healthcare programs. Ttgite has been interpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical manufactunese@hand and prescribers, purchasers, and farymalanagers on the other. Although there
are a number of statutory exceptions and regulaafy harbors protecting certain common activities prosecution, the exceptions and safe
harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices thathrevciemuneration intended to induce prescribingclpases, or recommendations may be subject to
scrutiny if they do not satisfy the requirementanfexemption or safe harbor. Our practices maymall cases meet all of the criteria for safeboa
protection from anti-kickback liability.

Federal false claims laws and civil monetary péeslaws prohibit, among other things, any persoantity from knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, a false claim for payeethie federal government, or knowingly makingcausing to be made, a false statement to get a
false claim paid. The majority of states also hstegutes or regulations similar to the federal-&itfkback law and false claims laws, which apply to
items and services reimbursed under Medicaid amef atate programs, or, in several states, apghrdéess of the payor, including commercial
payors.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Actability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created new fedecaminal statutes that prohibit, among
other things, executing a scheme to defraud anihtoaae benefit program and making false statenretésing to healthcare matters. HIPAA, as
amended by the Health Information Technology andi€l Health Act, or HITECH, and its implementinggulations, also imposes certain
requirements relating to the privacy, security )ladsmission of individually identifiable healtif@nmation. In addition, many states have adopted
laws similar to each of the above federal lawshaganti-kickback and false claims laws, sometdtiwmay apply to items or services reimbursed
by any third-party payor, including commercial insts. We are also subject to state laws goverhiagtivacy and security of health information in
certain circumstances, many of which differ fronsteather in significant ways and may not have #maes effect, thus complicating compliance
efforts.

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf the health regulatory laws described abovangrother laws that apply to us, we may be
subject to penalties, including potentially sigegfint criminal and civil and/or administrative pdigd, damages, fines, disgorgement, imprisonment,
exclusion from participation in government healtlecarograms, contractual damages, reputational fedtministrative burdens, diminished profits
and future earnings, and the curtailment or resiring of our operations, any of which could adedysaffect our ability to operate our business and
our results of operations.

In the United States and foreign jurisdictions réhieave been and continue to be a number of iniisthat seek to reduce healthcare costs. For
example, in March 2010 the Patient Protection afidrdable Health Care Act, as amended by the Hezdtre and Education Reconciliation Act, or
collectively the PPACA, was enacted, which includesasures to significantly change the way healté isafinanced by both governmental and
private insurers. Among the provisions of the PPA& Areatest importance to the pharmaceutical aoedhnology industry are the following:

. an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity ttufactures or imports certain branded prescripfings and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to thaiket share in certain government healthcarergros;

. new requirements on certain manufacturers ofslrdevices, biological products and medical segpb report annually certain financial
arrangements, including reporting any “transfevaifie” made or distributed to physicians and teagiospitals and reporting annually
certain ownership and investment interests helgHygicians and their immediate family members;

. a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research lestiiwoversee, identify priorities in, and condeminparative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such research;

. creation of the Independent Payment AdvisoryrBaehich will have authority to recommend certaliranges to the Medicare program
that could result in reduced payments for presorpdrugs and those recommendations could haveftaet of law even if Congress dt
not act on the recommendations; and

. establishment of a Center for Medicare Innovatiothe Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Servicesetst innovative payment and sen
delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid sfieg, potentially including prescription drug spergl

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted since the PPACA was enacteéxkomple, in August 2011, the
President signed into law the Budget Control Ac2@11, which, among other things, created the Jahtct Committee on Deficit Reduction to
recommend to Congress proposals in spending resscti he Joint Select Committee did not achieargeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2
trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, triggerithe legislation’s automatic reduction to sevg@lernment programs. This included reductions to



Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscakyahich went into effect in April 2013 and willast in effect through 2024 unless additic
Congressional action is taken. Additionally, inudary 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 20 signed into law, which, among other
things, reduced Medicare payments to several peosjdncluding hospitals and imaging centers.
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We expect that additional state, federal and foréigalthcare reform measures will be adopted iriuthee, any of which could result in
reduced demand for our products or other advefsetef

Europe / Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, amed our collaborators, will be subject to a vigrigf regulations in other jurisdictions
governing, among other things, clinical trials @my commercial sales and distribution of our prasluc

Whether or not we, or our collaborators, obtain F&pfroval for a product, we must obtain the re¢giapprovals from regulatory authorities
in foreign countries prior to the commencementlimiical trials or marketing of the product in thosesuntries. The requirements and process
governing the conduct of clinical trials, producehsing, pricing and reimbursement vary from coutd country.

If we, or our collaborators, fail to comply with @jzable foreign regulatory requirements, we mablgject to, among other things, fines,
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaledpct recalls, seizure of products, operatingigins and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage r@imbursement status of any product candidatefiicch we obtain regulatory approval. In
the United States and markets in other countredesf any products for which we receive regulatgproval for commercial sale will depend in
part on the availability of reimbursement from thparty payors including government health admiatste authorities, managed care providers,
private health insurers and other organizations.

Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatraf their conditions generally rely on third4ygpayors to reimburse all or part of the
associated costs. Patients are unlikely to us@mmatucts unless coverage is provided and reimbuweseim adequate to cover a significant portion of
the cost of our products. Therefore, successfulneernialization of our product will depend in part the availability of third-party payor
reimbursement for the cost of our products andayngent to the physician for administering our pridu

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had nine full-time esgipes and one patithe employee, four of whom have Ph.D. or M.D. éegt None of ot
employees are covered by collective bargainingeagests and we consider relations with our employ@és good.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist prind&ilysts associated with the clinical developniRX302. Research and development
expenses are the primary source of our expense®tateld $24.7 million, $10.3 million and $13.5 lwih for the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

Corporate Information

We file annual, quarterly, current reports, protatements and other information with the Securiied Exchange Commission (SEC). Our
primary website can be found_at http://www.sophigsn. We make available free of charge at this wel{siteler the “Investors — Financial
Information” caption) all of our reports filed aurhished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofSbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, including our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reporidqorm 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-Kandndments to those reports. These
reports are made available on the website as sbogaaonably practicable after their filing with furnishing to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an
internet site that contains our public filings wittke SEC and other information regarding the Compatnwww.sec.gov These reports and other
information concerning the Company may also be ssaxtat the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100e€tSNE, Washington DC 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operationiué Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-8BC-0330. Furthermore, we also make
available on our website free of charge, and intgd any shareholder who requests it, the Comeniftiearters for our Audit, Compensation, and
Governance and Nominating Committees, as well@€tide of Business Conduct and Ethics that aplie8 directors, officers and employees of
the Company. Amendments to these documents or reaigkated to the Code of Business Conduct anad&thill be made available on our website
as soon as reasonably practicable after their éio@cd he contents of the websites referred tdis paragraph are not incorporated into this Annual
Report. Further, our references to the URLs fos¢h@ebsites are intended to be inactive textuateate only.
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We are governed by the Business Corporations ABritish Columbia. We began operations on Janu&n2002. Our operations were initic
located in Vancouver, British Columbia. In April2D we relocated our core activities and headqrsafitem Vancouver, British Columbia to San
Diego, California. Effective April 2, 2012, we clged our name from Protox Therapeutics Inc. to SapBio Inc.

We are an “emerging growth company” as definethendumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012wWeemain an emerging growth
company until the earlier of (1) the last day df flscal year (a) following the fifth anniversarfaur initial public offering in August 2013, (b i
which we have total annual gross revenue of at B8 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed toabkarge accelerated filer, and (2) the date on
which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in convertible debt during the prior three-year perlt: refer to the Jumpstart Our Business
Startups Act of 2012 herein as the “JOBS Act,” egfdrences herein to “emerging growth company”Idiete the meaning associated with it in the
JOBS Act.”

ltem 1A . Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are an early stage company with no approved picid and no revenue from commercialization of ouropluct candidate.

We are at an early stage of development of ourymocaindidate, PRX302, for the treatment of theelowrinary tract symptoms of benign
prostatic hyperplasia, or BPH and for the treatnoémbcalized low to intermediate risk prostate @am We have not completed the development of
any product candidates and, accordingly, have egtib to commercialize, or generate any productmas® from any product candidate. PRX302
requires significant additional clinical testingdanvestment prior to seeking marketing approvakither the treatment of BPH or for the treatment
of prostate cancer. We expect to initiate a Phga®@f of concept clinical trial of PRX302 for threatment of localized low to intermediate risk
prostate cancer before the end of the first haf#f5. In the fourth quarter of 2015, we expedidwe the results of the first Phase 3 clinical tfa
PRX302 for the treatment of lower urinary tract ggoms of BPH. In order to seek regulatory apprdemthe treatment of the symptoms of BPH,
would be required to conduct a second Phase Zalitrial and we do not expect to commence anytiaadil Phase 3 clinical trials without receiving
favorable results from the ongoing Phase 3 clirtical and unless we raise the additional fundsiiregl to conduct the second Phase 3 clinical t#i
commitment of substantial resources by us and fiatgrartners will be required to conduct a sectimeé:-consuming Phase 3 clinical trial for
PRX302 to meet applicable regulatory standardsiolequired regulatory approvals, and to succégsfammercialize this product candidate for
the treatment of the symptoms of BPH and to furtherclinical development program of PRX302 for tteatment of prostate cancer. PRX302 is not
expected to be commercially available for eithelidation for several years, if at all.

We are highly dependent on the success of PRX30@ we may not be able to successfully obtain regoator marketing approval for, or
successfully commercialize, this product candidate.

To date, we have expended significant time, ressuand effort on the development of PRX302 forldkesr urinary tract symptoms of BPH,
including conducting preclinical and clinical tsaWe have no product candidates in our clinicattigmment pipeline other than PRX302, which we
are developing for two potential indications. Ohility to generate product revenues and to achéewemercial success in the near term will initially
depend almost entirely on our ability to succe$gfiévelop, obtain regulatory approval for and teencessfully commercialize PRX302 for either
the treatment of localized low to intermediate fs&state cancer and/or the lower urinary tract@pms of BPH in the United States and the
European Economic Area, or EEA. Before we can nmaRkd sell PRX302 in the United States or foreigisgictions for any indication, we will
need to commence and complete additional clini@bkt manage clinical, preclinical, and manufaictgractivities, obtain necessary regulatory
approvals from the Food and Drug AdministrationFBrA, in the United States and from similar foreiggulatory agencies in other jurisdictions,
obtain manufacturing supply, build a commercialamigation or enter into a marketing collaboratidthva third party, and in some jurisdictions,
obtain reimbursement authorization, among othegthiWe cannot assure you that we will be ableitoessfully complete the necessary preclinical
studies and clinical trials and/or obtain regubat@pprovals and sufficient commercial manufactusogply for PRX302 in either indication. If we
not receive regulatory approvals, our businessp#ats, financial condition and results of operetiwill be adversely affected. Even if we obtain
regulatory approvals, we may never generate s@amifirevenues from any commercial sales of PRXB0Ze fail to successfully commercialize
PRX302, we may be unable to generate sufficiergmags to sustain and grow our business and oundsssiprospects, financial condition and
results of operations will be adversely affected.
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The clinical trial protocol and design for our onengoing and any additional future Phase 3 clinicalals of PRX302 may not be sufficient to
allow us to submit a BLA to the FDA or demonstragafety or efficacy at the level required by the FD@ product approval.

Ouir first Phase 3 clinical trial in the treatmehtawer urinary tract symptoms of BPH, which comtplkenrollment in September 2014, use:
International Prostate Symptom Score, or IPSS coogécmeasure evaluated at total change from basmlare52 weeks as the primary endpoint.
Secondary endpoints include Qmax (maximum urine)fichange from baseline (maximum urine flow) ovengeeks. The IPSS outcome measure,
which is a validated primary efficacy endpoint use@ssess the treatment benefit in BPH clini¢alstris a patient recorded, composite assessment
that takes into account factors such as abilitgnipty the bladder, frequency of urination, intetemity of urination and the urgency of urinationeTh
IPSS outcome measure is subjective in nature andres patients in the trial to accurately andoattively assess numerous symptoms. The
subjective nature of the IPSS outcome measure nadg mfficacy more difficult to demonstrate thandbnical trials for therapies that can show
objective measures of efficacy.

We have not requested a special protocol assessone3®A, which drug development companies someatinse to obtain an agreement with
the FDA concerning the design and size of a clirtita intended to form the primary basis of afeefiveness claim. Without the concurrence of the
FDA on an SPA or otherwise, we cannot be certanttie design, conduct and data analysis appr@aauf ongoing and any future Phase 3 clinical
trials will generate data sufficient to establibb effectiveness of PRX302 for treatment of BPH styams to the FDA's satisfaction, and therefore
allow us to submit or receive approval of a BLA RRRX302. If the FDA requires us, or we otherwistethaine, to amend our protocols, change our
clinical trial designs, increase enrollment targetsonduct additional clinical trials, our ability obtain regulatory approval on the timeline vawén
projected would be jeopardized and we could beirediuo make significant additional expenditurdated to clinical development.

Further, even if we achieve positive results onethépoints for a clinical trial, the FDA may disagmwith our interpretation of the data and
deem the results insufficient to demonstrate efjcat the level required by the FDA for product eqwal. It is possible that we may make
modifications to the clinical trial protocols orgigns of our future clinical trials that delay elfm@nt or completion of such clinical trials andut
delay regulatory approval of PRX302 for the treattref symptoms of BPH. Any failure to obtain appabfor PRX302 on the timeline that we
currently anticipate, or at all, would have a mialeand adverse impact on our business, prospatscial condition and results of operations.

Our clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstte safety and efficacy of PRX302 for either indfwmn being pursued, including our more
advanced program where the interim administrativeaysis of PRX302 for the treatment of symptomsB#fH found that it did not meet the
predefined efficacy standard at week 12. Failurerteet the safety or efficacy standards for the treould prevent or delay regulatory approval
and commercializati on .

Clinical development is expensive, takes many ygacomplete and its outcome is inherently uncert&ailure can occur at any time during
clinical trial process and PRX302 is subject torikks of failure inherent in drug development. &ss in early clinical trials does not mean thigrla
clinical trials will be successful because prodrantdidates in later-stage clinical trials may failemonstrate sufficient safety or efficacy despit
having progressed through initial clinical testirgen at statistically significant levels. We vii# required to demonstrate through well-controlled
clinical trials of PRX302 that our product candelé safe and effective for use in its target iatlan before we can obtain regulatory approvalsté
commercial sale. Companies frequently suffer sigaift setbacks in late-stage clinical trials, eattar earlier clinical trials have shown promising
results. Our ongoing and any future clinical trielRX302 may not be successful for a varietyealsons, including faults in the clinical trial
designs, the failure to enroll a sufficient numbgpatients, undesirable side effects and othetgabncerns and the inability to demonstrate
sufficient efficacy. If PRX302 fails to demonstratefficient safety or efficacy, we would experieneentially significant delays in, or be requitex
abandon our development of, PRX302, which wouldcehematerial and adverse impact on our businegspects, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are currently conducting a Phase 3 clinical ti@RX302 for the treatment of lower urinary tragmptoms of BPH and, if we receive
favorable results from this on-going clinical triale may conduct an additional Phase 3 clinical far PRX302 to examine whether PRX302 will
effectively relieve BPH symptoms as measured at@&eks following treatment, which second trial vl required by the FDA before we can seek
marketing approval of PRX302 in this indication.December 2014, the Independent Data Monitoring @ittee, or IDMC, for our on-going Phase
3 clinical trial completed the planned, protocoésified administrative analysis of efficacy basedtoe IPSS change from baseline to week 12 for all
479 patients dosed in the trial. The protocol-caifly threshold at 12 weeks is defined as an IR&Sient effect of greater than a 2-point
improvement in IPSS between PRX302 treatment coedpar a placebo- (which is otherwise referred tthassehicle) only control. The IDMC
found that the predefined efficacy threshold atkvE2 was not achieved for patients in the triglm@taneously with this administrative interim
efficacy analysis, the IDMC completed its fifth afimal periodic analysis of unblinded safety data aeported no safety concerns to us. There were
no events of sepsis reported post administratistuafy drug in this trial. The ongoing Phase 3icéhtrial remains blinded and we do not know the
IPSS improvements between the active and contnos &f the study. We expect to continue to follolpatients through the end of the 52 week
monitoring period, which is expected to end for I of the treated patients in September 2016.0tlicome of the interim analysis may not be
predictive of the IPSS outcome measure at 52 weekhether the primary endpoint or secondary endpare met. Even if the outcome measure at
52 weeks and primary and secondary endpoints ara@ffP&R X302 is slow to achieve effectiveness, thay limit its commercial potential relative to
therapies that demonstrate more immediate effe€dbFS. The FDA has not agreed upon the amount 85IReatment effect that must be
demonstrated in this or the subsequent requiredeP®rial in order for marketing approval to barged. If PRX302 fails to demonstrate sufficient
safety and efficacy in this Phase 3 clinical tred do not anticipate that we would pursue theiredusecond Phase 3 clinical trial and would likely
abandon development of PRX302 in the indicatiothefsymptoms of BPH, which would have a material agverse impact on our business,



prospects, financial condition and results of opens. Similarly, if any of our other future clirdttrials fail to demonstrate sufficient safety i
efficacy, we would experience potentially significaelays in, or be required to abandon our devety program, which would have a material and
adverse impact on our business, prospects, finecmmlition and results of operations.
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PRX302 is subject to extensive regulation, and waymot obtain regulatory approvals for PRX302.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labelipgckaging, storage, tracking, recordkeeping, athieg, promotion, export, import,
marketing and distribution and other possible #@@tis relating to our product candidate are, amdafty other biologic or drug candidate that we may
develop will be, subject to extensive regulatioritoy FDA in the United States and other regulagggncies in foreign jurisdictions. PRX302 is
subject to regulation in the United States as bbbio. Biologics require the submission of a BidkgLicense Application, or BLA, and we are not
permitted to market PRX302 in the United Stated we obtain approval from the FDA of a BLA. To rkat PRX302 in the EEA, which includes
the 27 member states of the European Union plusvdlgrLiechtenstein and Iceland, we must submit akieting Authorization Application, or
MAA, to the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, &pproval under the EMA’s centralized procedure clvlif the marketing authorization is
granted, will enable us to market the product tghmut the entire territory of the EEA. A BLA or MAAwust be supported by extensive clinical and
preclinical data, as well as extensive informatiegarding chemistry, manufacturing and controlsCBIC, sufficient to demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of the applicable product candidatbe satisfaction of FDA and EMA, respectively.

Regulatory approval of a BLA or an MAA is not guateed, and the approval process is expensive dhthiue several years. The FDA and
foreign regulatory entities also have substanigdrétion in the approval process. The number gpes of preclinical studies and clinical trialsttha
will be required for BLA or MAA approval varies depding on the product candidate, the disease arahaition that the product candidate is
designed to target and the regulations applicab#ny particular product candidate. Despite the md expense associated with preclinical studies
and clinical trials, failure can occur at any stagy@d we could encounter problems that cause teptat or perform additional preclinical studies or
clinical trials or generate additional CMC dataeT#DA, EMA and similar foreign authorities couldale limit or deny approval of a product
candidate for many reasons, including because they:

. may not deem our product candidate to be adequsaédyand effective

. may not find the data from our preclinical studiesl clinical trials or CMC data to be sufficientstapport a claim of safety and effica
. may not approve the manufacturing processéacilities associated with our product candidate

. may conclude that we have not sufficiently destmated long-term stability of the formulationtbé drug product for which we are

seeking marketing approval;

. may change approval policies (including wigspect to our product candidate’s class of biok)gor adopt new regulations; or
. may not accept a submission due to, amomer seasons, the content or formatting of the sabiwi.

Obtaining approval of a BLA is a lengthy, expensiwel uncertain process. As part of the U.S. Pratsoni Drug User Fee Act, the FDA has a
goal to review and act on a percentage of all sebions in a given time frame. The general revieal fir a BLA is 12 months from the submission
date for a standard application and eight monibrs fihe submission date for a priority review apmtiien. The FDA's review goals are subject to
change, and it is unknown whether the review of.A Bor PRX302 will be completed within the FDA'srget timelines or will be delayed.
Moreover, the duration of the FDA’s review may deg@n the number and types of other BLAs that aberstted to the FDA around the same time
period or are pending. Generally, public concegarding the safety of drug products could delalnoit our ability to obtain regulatory approval,
result in the inclusion of unfavorable informationour labeling, or require us to undertake othaiviies that may entail additional costs.
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We have not submitted an application for approvalliained FDA approval for any product. This latlexperience may impede our ability to
obtain FDA approval in a timely manner, if at &if PRX302. In addition, failure to comply with FDead other applicable U.S. and foreign
regulatory requirements, either before or aftedpod approval, may subject us to administrativgidicially imposed sanctions, including:

. warning letters;

. civil and criminal penalties;

. injunctions;

. withdrawal of approved products;

. product seizure or detention;

. product recalls;

. total or partial suspension of productiong an

. refusal to approve pending BLAs or supplets¢n approved BLAs.

Even if we believe that data collected from ourcfinécal studies and clinical trials of our prodweindidate are promising, our data may not be
sufficient to support marketing approval by the FBrany foreign regulatory authority, or regulatarterpretation of these data and procedures may
be unfavorable. In addition, the FDA'’s regulatoeyiew of BLAs for product candidates intended fodespread use by a large proportion of the
general population is becoming increasingly focusedafety, which may lead to increased scrutinghefsafety data we submit in our BLA for
PRX302. Even if approved, a product candidate nuyoa approved for all indications requested arth sypproval may be subject to limitations on
the indicated uses for which the biologic may bekaizd, restricted distribution methods or othenitliitions. Our business and reputation may be
harmed by any failure or significant delay in obtag regulatory approval for the sale of our pradiandidate. We cannot predict when or whether
regulatory approval will be obtained for any prodcendidate we develop.

To market any biologics outside of the United Statee and current or future collaborators must dgmith numerous and varying regulatory
and compliance related requirements of other camsmtApproval procedures vary among countries amdivolve additional product testing and
additional administrative review periods, includinigtaining reimbursement and pricing approval iecemarkets. The time required to obtain
approval in other countries might differ from thatjuired to obtain FDA approval. The regulatoryrappl process in other countries may include all
of the risks associated with FDA approval as weladditional, presently unanticipated, risks. Ragul approval in one country does not ensure
regulatory approval in another, but a failure daglén obtaining regulatory approval in one countrgty negatively impact the regulatory process in
others, including the risk that our product cantidanay not be approved for all indications receeesind that such approval may be subject to
limitations on the indicated uses for which thegdnoay be marketed.

PRX302 may cause undesirable side effects or hahermproperties that may delay or prevent its regtary approval or commercialization or
limit its commercial potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by PRX302 couldecas or regulatory authorities to interrupt, detayspend or terminate clinical trials and
could result in a more restrictive label or theagedbr denial of marketing approval by the FDA drestregulatory authorities. This, in turn, coulaili
or prevent us from commercializing PRX302 and gatireg revenues from its sale. The most common advevents observed in patients who
received PRX302 in our Phase 2 clinical trials thate potentially attributable to PRX302 includid presence of red blood cells in urine, painful
urination, frequent urination and urinary urgenggrineal pain and discomfort (observed in patiarte received both drug and vehicle), vertigo and
malaise that could be attributable to PRX302 inducammation. Each of the foregoing adverse evecturred in greater than 5% of the PRX302
population. Although none of the patients in ouagt1/2 clinical trial using the transrectal roaftedministration experienced sepsis and the IDMC
reported no safety concerns to us from its fiftd &inal periodic analysis of unblinded safety dataur on-going PLUSE clinical trial and there wel
no events of sepsis reported post administratisiuafy drug in this trial, , our change to thisteaf administration could increase the risk ofssep
Results from our ongoing and future clinical triataild reveal a high and unacceptable severitypaedalence of these or other side effects. In such
an event, our trials could be suspended or termihand the FDA or comparable foreign regulatorjatities could order us to cease further
development of or deny approval of PRX302 foratgyeted indication. Further, such side effectsatatflect patient recruitment or the ability of
enrolled patients to complete the trial or resulpotential product liability claims. Any of thesecurrences may have a material and adverse impact
on our business, prospects, financial conditionrasdlts of operations.
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In addition, if PRX302 receives marketing approaadl we or others later identify undesirable sideot$ caused by PRX302, a number of
significant negative consequences could resullidticg:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw their epal of PRX302;

. regulatory authorities may require that we destiate a larger clinical benefit by conductingitiddal clinical trials for approval to
offset the risk;

. regulatory authorities may require the additdtabeling statements or warnings that could digfi the usage of the product or
otherwise limit the commercial success of PRX302;

. we may be required to change the way PRX8@2ministered,;

. we may choose to recall, withdraw or discurg sale of PRX302;

. we could be sued and held liable for harosed to patients;

. we may not be able to enter into collaboratgreements on acceptable terms and executer tausiness model; and
. our reputation may suffer.

Any one or a combination of these events couldgmeus from achieving or maintaining market acoegeeof the affected product or could
substantially increase the costs and expenseswheocializing PRX302, which in turn could delaypsevent us from generating any revenues from
the sale of the product, which could significaritrm our business, prospects, financial conditimhra@sults of operations.

We may experience delays in the commencement orptetion of our clinical trials, which could resulin increased costs to us and delay our
ability to pursue regulatory approval and genergieoduct revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of cliniesting could significantly impact our productvéépment costs and could result in the
need for additional financing. Although we initidtthe first of two required Phase 3 clinical triaf?RX302 for the treatment of the symptoms of
BPH in October 2013, we do not know when or whethersecond Phase 3 clinical trial of PRX302 irt thdication or our planned Phase 2 clinical
trial for the treatment of localized low to interdiate risk prostate cancer will begin, or if anygoimg or future trials will be completed on time,at
all.

We have experienced a delay in the commencementrgiroof of concept study for the treatment ofilaed low to intermediate risk prostate
cancer because our existing clinical drug suppfyeéxpired and we are awaiting the approval of niavical drug supply. We expect to receive
approval in the first half of 2015 and any delayshat timeline could further delay the start af throof of concept prostate cancer study.

We currently do not have drug product filled amddhed to enable the start of a second Phasei8atlinal of PRX302 for the treatment of the
symptoms of BPH. In addition, we currently do navé the funds available to initiate the fill andish of this drug product and therefore the stha

second Phase 3 clinical trial will be delayed uthtié material can be filled and finished.

Further, the commencement or completion of clinidals can be delayed for a variety of reasondufing delays in or related to:

. raising sufficient capital to fund the cliaidrial;

. obtaining regulatory approval, or feedbankmial design necessary, to commence a clinicalt tr

. identifying, recruiting and training suitaldlinical investigators;

. identifying, recruiting and enrolling suitatpatients to participate in a clinical trial;

. catastrophic loss of drug product due to shmgmlelays or delays in customs in connection wétlivdry of drug product to foreign

countries for use in clinical trials;
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. reaching agreement on acceptable terms withpeiive contract research organizations, or CR@sclinical trial sites, the terms of
which can be subject to extensive negotiation aay wary significantly among different CROs and iciat trial sites;

. obtaining sufficient quantities of PRX302 ahe diluent used with PRX302 for use in clinigéls;

. having patients complete a trial or returngdost-treatment follow-up;

. adding new clinical trial sites;

. political unrest in countries where our al sites maybe located, including in Russia dedUkraine where we have current sites;

. failure to conduct the clinical trial in acdance with regulatory requirements or our clinjmadtocols;

. failure to demonstrate a benefit from usirdyag, changes in governmental regulations or atnative actions;

. unforeseen safety issues or any determimatiat a clinical trial presents unacceptable ha#gks;

. obtaining institutional review board, or IRBoproval to conduct a clinical trial at a progpecsite; and

. retaining patients who have initiated a clihic&l but may withdraw due to adverse side eBdobm the therapy, insufficient efficacy,

fatigue with the clinical trial process or persoisaues.

Any delays in the commencement or completion ofadimical trials will delay our timeline to obtaiegulatory approval for our product
candidate. In addition, many of the factors thatsea or lead to, a delay in the commencement oiceli trials may also ultimately lead to the denial
of regulatory approval for a product candidate. Wdge completed enrollment in our first Phase 3adirtrial for the treatment of the symptoms of
BPH. We do not expect to commence enrollment ofseaond required Phase 3 clinical trial in thigégatdon until we complete the first Phase 3
clinical trial and have favorable efficacy and $afesults and until we have raised additional pequired to fund such second Phase 3 clinical
trial. Our planned Phase 2 clinical trial for tieatment of localized prostate cancer will seesrnmll approximately 20 patients at one site and is
expected to begin enroliment before the end ofiteehalf of 2015.

We may face competition to enroll BPH patientsum future clinical trials from other clinical trimfor other sponsors including potential
competitors. Patient enrollment, a significant éaéh the timing of clinical trials, is affected loyany factors including the size and nature of the
patient population, the proximity of patients tinidal sites, the eligibility criteria for the ttighe design of the clinical trial, competing dtial trials
and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as topbeential advantages of the drug being studie@lation to other available therapies, including an
new drugs that may be approved for the indicatiwasre investigating. Delays in enroliment in anufe clinical trials of PRX302 would result in
delays in our ability to pursue regulatory appravaPRX302.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidancenads/ occur and we may need to amend clinical priadocols to reflect these changes.
Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinigal protocols to IRBs for re-examination, whickaynimpact the costs, timing and successful
completion of a clinical trial. If we experiencelalgs in the completion of, or if we must terminatay clinical trial of PRX302, our ability to obtai
regulatory approval for that product candidate tldelayed and the commercial prospects, if amthe product candidate may be harmed. If we
ultimately commercialize PRX302, other therapieastii® same indications may have been introducéletonarket during the period we have been
delayed and such therapies may have establishechpetitive advantage over our product candidates.

We rely on third parties to manufacture PRX302 aad ingredient used in the diluent used to adminisRX302, and we intend to rely on
third parties to manufacture commercial supplies BRX302, if and when it is approved. The developinamd commercialization of PRX302
could be stopped or delayed if any such third pdails to provide us with sufficient quantities difie product or the diluent or fails to do so at
acceptable quality levels or prices or fails to m&iin or achieve satisfactory regulatory compliance

We do not currently have nor do we plan to acqthiesinfrastructure or capability internally to méexture our clinical drug supplies for use in
the conduct of our clinical trials, and we lack tesources and the capability to manufacture PRX802 clinical or commercial scale. Instead, we
rely on our third-party manufacturing partner, Boeger Ingleheim RCV GmbH & Co KG, or Bl, locatadAustria, for the production of PRX302
and BI Germany for fill and testing services purdua an agreement which we entered into in 201TuBently procures an ingredient used in the
formulation of PRX302 from a multinational indusirbiotech company which is a single source suppie a purchase order basis. The facilities
used by our third-party manufacturer to manufacRRX302 and any other potential product candidiiziswe may develop in the future must be
approved by the applicable regulatory authoritieduding the FDA, pursuant to inspections thal W conducted after we submit our BLA to the
FDA. We do not control the manufacturing processedl and are currently completely dependent oridBlthe production of PRX302 in accordance
with cGMPs, which include, among other things, gualontrol, quality assurance and the maintenaricecords and documentation.

27




Although we have entered into an agreement fontaeufacture of clinical supplies and initial commal supplies of PRX302, Bl may not
perform as agreed, may be unable to comply witeel&SMP requirements and with FDA, state and fareggulatory requirements or may termir
its agreement with us. Moreover, we have not edti#® a commercial supply agreement with Bl andh& not demonstrated that it will be capable
of manufacturing the filled and finished PRX302alarge commercial scale. It is possible that wg meed to reformulate PRX302. Delays in
finalizing the current commercial fill finish prose could cause delays to future planned clinigalistr

We have experienced a delay in the commencemenirgiroof of concept study for the treatment oflaed low to intermediate risk prostate
cancer because our existing clinical drug supplyéxpired and we are awaiting the approval newocdirdrug supply. We expect to receive approval
in the first half of 2015 and any delays in thataline could further delay the start of the probf@ncept prostate cancer study.

Further, if our single source provider is unabletaecides to no longer supply Bl or us with agrédient for the diluent, we could experience
delays in obtaining product for clinical trials iinte procured another source or until we reforrnritlie product and we may be required to contract
with another source in order to assure adequateneooial supply. Reformulation could result in sfggant further delays as we would be required to
conduct additional clinical trials.

If our third-party manufacturer cannot successfolignufacture material that conforms to our spedfiiims and the applicable regulatory
authorities’ strict regulatory requirements, orpesgulatory inspection, they will not be able éowre or maintain regulatory approval for the
manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have ramtrol over the ability of any third-party manufacr to maintain adequate quality control, quality
assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA graher applicable regulatory authorities do ngirape these facilities for the manufacture of our
products or if they withdraw any such approvalha future, or if our suppliers or third-party maactiurer decide they no longer want to supply our
biologic or manufacture our products, we may neefihd alternative manufacturing facilities, whialould significantly impact our ability to
develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market products. We might be unable to identify mantufeers for long-term commercial supply on
acceptable terms or at all. Manufacturers are stiljeongoing periodic unannounced inspection leyRBA and other governmental authorities to
ensure strict compliance with government regulai@urrently, our contract manufacturer is locatatside the United States and the FDA has
recently increased the number of foreign drug mactufers which it inspects. As a result, our thgedty manufacturer may be subject to increased
scrutiny.

If we were to experience an unexpected loss of RR&RIpply, we could experience delays in our orggaimd future clinical trials as Bl would
need to manufacture additional PRX302 and wouldi rsedficient lead time to schedule a manufactusiog. This is due to the fact that, given its
nature, PRX302 cannot be manufactured in the Blitiaat the same time as other biologics.

PRX302 is manufactured by starting with cells whach stored in a cell bank. We have one mastebaek and multiple working cell banks
and believe we would have adequate backup shoyldelhbank be lost in a catastrophic event. Howgtés possible that we could lose multiple
cell banks and have our manufacturing severely atgubby the need to replace the cell banks.

The manufacture of biopharmaceutical products ispex and requires significant expertise and chjpiteestment, including the development
of advanced manufacturing techniques and proce#sot®. We and our contract manufacturers must ¢pmjh cGMP regulations and guidelines.
Manufacturers of biopharmaceutical products ofteeoenter difficulties in production, particularly caling up and validating initial production and
contamination. These problems include difficultigth production costs and yields, quality contintluding stability of the product, quality
assurance testing, operator error, shortages difigdaersonnel, as well as compliance with slyienforced federal, state and foreign regulations.
Furthermore, if microbial, viral or other contamioas are discovered in our products or in the rfeturing facilities in which our products are
made, such manufacturing facilities may need tolbged for an extended period of time to inveségatd remedy the contamination. We cannot
assure you that any stability or other issuesirglab the manufacture of any of our products wilt occur in the future. Additionally, our
manufacturer may experience manufacturing diffiegltlue to resource constraints or as a resudthofr ldisputes or unstable political environments.
If our manufacturer were to encounter any of ttdiffeculties, or otherwise fail to comply with thetontractual obligations, our ability to provideye
product candidates to patients in clinical trialswd be jeopardized. Any delay or interruptiontie supply of clinical trial supplies could delag th
completion of clinical trials, increase the costsaciated with maintaining clinical trial prograarsd, depending upon the period of delay, require us
to commence new clinical trials at additional exgor terminate clinical trials completely.
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Any adverse developments affecting clinical or caeneial manufacturing of our products may resulihipment delays, inventory shortages,
lot failures, product withdrawals or recalls, theed to reformulate our product or other interrupgion the supply of our products. We may also have
to take inventory write-offs and incur other charg@d expenses for products that fail to meet pations, undertake costly remediation efforts or
seek more costly manufacturing alternatives. Aciogyilgl, failures or difficulties faced at any levafl our supply chain could materially adversely
affect our business and delay or impede the dewstop and commercialization of any of our produetproduct candidates and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospitssicial condition and results of operations.

We have relied upon and expect to rely upon mukiROs to conduct and oversee our ongoing and anyre clinical trials for PRX302. If
any of our CROs does not meet our deadlines or othige conduct the trials as required or if any CR&periences regulatory compliance
issues we may not be able to obtain regulatory awaitt for or commercialize our product candidate whexpected or at all.

We have used multiple CROs for our ongoing Phad@®al trial of PRX302 and expect to rely upon @Rfor any future clinical trials. We
also rely upon medical institutions, clinical intigators and contract laboratories to conduct nalstin accordance with our clinical protocols and
accordance with applicable legal and regulatoryiregnents. These third parties play a significalg in the conduct of these trials and the
subsequent collection and analysis of data frontlihéal trials. There is no guarantee that anghsthird party will devote adequate time and
resources to our clinical trial. If any of our CR@sany other third parties upon which we relyddministration and conduct of our clinical triats d
not successfully carry out their contractual dutiesbligations or fail to meet expected deadliifethiey need to be replaced or if the quality or
accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compised due to the failure to adhere to our clinakocols or regulatory requirements or if they
otherwise perform in a substandard manner, ouicelitrials may be extended, delayed, suspendéehiminated, and we may not be able to com
development of and ultimately obtain approval fed successfully commercialize PRX302. We will regavily on these third parties for the
execution of our ongoing and future clinical triatsd will control only certain aspects of theirigities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for engur
that each of our clinical trials is conducted it@dance with the applicable protocol, legal, ratpry and scientific standards, and our reliance on
CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory resdites.

We and our CROs are required to comply with cur@odd Clinical Practice, or GCP, which are regoladiand guidelines enforced by the
FDA, the competent authorities of the Member Stafdhe EEA and comparable foreign regulatory arities for products in clinical development.
Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP regulatibrough periodic inspections of clinical triabsigors, principal investigators and clinical trial
sites. If we or any of our CROs fail to comply wépplicable GCP regulations, the clinical data gateel in our clinical trials may be deemed
unreliable and our submission of marketing applicest may be delayed or the FDA may require us top®a additional clinical trials before
approving our marketing applications. We cannotigsgou that, upon inspection, the FDA will deterenthat any of our clinical trials comply or
complied with applicable GCP regulations. In additiour clinical trials must be conducted with prodproduced under the current Good
Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, regulations erddrby the FDA, and our clinical trials require eganumber of test subjects. Our failure to
comply with these regulations may require us teatglinical trials, which would delay the regulgtapproval process. Moreover, our business may
be implicated if any of our CROs violates fedenastate fraud and abuse or false claims laws agualagons or healthcare privacy and security laws.

We have a CRO in Russia and have clinical sitestiorongoing Phase 3 clinical trial in Russia amelWkraine. None of these sites are in the
formerly active war zone of Eastern Ukraine anddte, none of these sites have been impacted tyo#it#ities in Ukraine or by the existing and
announced United States, European or other sasdigainst Russia. However, we cannot assure yothiawill not change, and we continue to
monitor the situation. If any of our clinical trisites terminates for any reason, we may experigre®ss of follow-up information on patients
enrolled in our ongoing clinical trial unless we able to transfer the care of those patients athan qualified clinical trial site. Further, if ou
relationship with any of our CROs is terminated,m&y be unable to enter into arrangements withreteve CROs on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all.

Switching or adding CROs can involve substantiat @md require extensive management time and fac@asldition, there is a natural
transition period when a new CRO commences worla Assult, delays may occur, which can materiatigact our ability to meet our desired
clinical development timelines. Though we carefulignage our relationship with our CROs, there @andassurance that we will not encounter
such challenges or delays in the future or thagdltelays or challenges will not have a materiaées® impact on our business, prospects, financial
condition or results of operations.

Any adverse developments that occur during any iciat trials conducted by Kissei may affect our abjlto obtain regulatory approval or
commercialize PRX302.

Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Kissei, retdfresrights to develop and commercialize PRX302apan for the treatment of the symptoms
of BPH, prostate cancer, prostatitis or other dissaf the prostate. If serious adverse events dering any other clinical trials Kissei decides t
conduct with respect to PRX302, the FDA and otkgulatory authorities may delay, limit or deny apyal of PRX302 or require us to conduct
additional clinical trials as a condition to maiikgtapproval, which would increase our costs. Ifreeeive FDA approval for PRX302 and a new and
serious safety issue is identified in connectiothwilinical trials conducted by Kissei, the FDA avttier regulatory authorities may withdraw their
approval of the product or otherwise restrict duitity to market and sell our product. In additidreating physicians may be less willing to
administer our product due to concerns over sugkraé events, which would limit our ability to coraroialize PRX302.
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We face significant competition from other pharmadgcal and biotechnology companies and from minirhalnvasive surgical therapies and
surgical alternatives, and our operating resultslixguffer if we fail to compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive. We have competitors botthmUnited States and international
markets, including major multinational pharmacealtmompanies, biotechnology companies and univessiind other research institutions. Many of
our competitors have substantially greater findntgghnical and other resources, such as largeareh and development staff, experienced
marketing and manufacturing organizations and wsféblished sales forces. Additional mergers aqdisitions in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries may result in even meseurces being concentrated in our competitors.pétition may increase further as a result of
advances in the commercial applicability of teclog@és and greater availability of capital for inreent in these industries. Our competitors may
succeed in developing, acquiring or licensing om&riusive basis, products that are more effectasier to administer and/or less costly than
PRX302.

We expect that PRX302 will compete with the curteaatment options for the symptoms of BPH, whintiude oral drug therapy and surgery.
Oral drug therapies include (a) a-blockers, sudamsulosin (marketed under various trade namesitnerous companies, including as FlorfRdy
Astellas Pharma), alfuzosin (marketed in the Un8taites by Sanofi as Uroxatfal ), doxazosin (maxkel Pfizer as Cardufa and Card@ra XL)
and silodosin (marketed by Watson PharmaceuticaRapafld® in the United States), (b) 5-a redudiasibitors, such as dutasteride (marketed by
GlaxoSmithKline plc as Avodaft ) and finasterideagketed by Merck & Co., Inc. as Pros@ar ), (c) covations of a-blockers and 5-a reductase
inhibitors such as tamsulosin and dutasteride (etackby GSK as Jalyh ) and (d) tadalafil (marketeialis® by Eli Lilly), a PDES5 inhibitor
which obtained FDA approval for the treatment & Symptoms of BPH in October 2011. Several miniynalasive surgical therapies, or MIST, i
available, including transurethral microwave thetimeoapy, or TUMT, transurethral needle ablationTONA, photo-selective vaporization of
prostate, holmium laser enucleation of the prosted@surethral electrovaporization of the prostaterstitial laser coagulation, and the Urol&ft
system (marketed by NeoTract, Inc.), which is aplant delivered into the body via a small needlé designed to hold prostate tissue out of the
of the blocked urethra. Currently, the most commarsed MIST procedures are laser ablations of thstate, TUMT, and TUNA. Surgery for BPH
treatment is usually considered in patients whiodiaig therapy as a result of side effects or igadée relief of symptoms, have refractory urinary
retention, or have recurrent urinary tract infeatioAlternatively, surgery may be the initial treant in patients with severe urinary symptoms.
Surgical procedures for BPH include transuretheaéction of the prostate, as well as other proesdsuch as transurethral incision of the prostate
and transurethral vaporization of the prostate.

We expect that PRX302 will compete with the curtesatment options for prostate cancer, which idelsurgical options such as laparoscopic
and radical prostatectomy or radiation. In addititvere are other focal targeted therapies whietgaming traction that are currently in clinical
development or have been recently approved whidhde: brachytherapy, cryotherapy, high frequertnasound, cyber knife, radio frequency
ablation and laser ablation.

The availability and price of our competitors’ puatls and procedures could limit the demand, angtice we are able to charge, for PRX302.
We will not successfully execute on our businegedlves if the market acceptance of PRX302 ishiited by price competition, if physicians are
reluctant to switch from existing products or prdgees to PRX302 or if physicians switch to othewmpeoducts or surgeries or choose to reserve
PRX302 for use in limited patient populations. tdaion, established pharmaceutical companies magsit heavily to accelerate discovery and
development of novel compounds or to in-license @wklop novel compounds that could make PRX302letes

Any new product that competes with an approved grbthust demonstrate compelling advantages inagfficconvenience, tolerability and
safety in order to be approved and overcome poogpetition and to be commercially successful. Adoaly, our competitors may succeed in
obtaining patent protection, obtaining FDA apprawatliscovering, developing and commercializingduwts before we do, which would have a
material adverse impact on our business. The itabil compete with existing products or subseglyentroduced products would have a material
adverse impact on our business, prospects, finecmmlition and results of operations.

30




Even if we obtain and maintain approval for PRX3@@m the FDA, we may never obtain approval for PROXBoutside of the United States,
which would limit our market opportunities and adksely affect our business.

Sales of PRX302 outside of the United States welkbbject to foreign regulatory requirements gowerelinical trials and marketing approv
Even if the FDA grants marketing approval for adarct candidate, comparable regulatory authoritidereign countries must also approve the
manufacturing and marketing of the product caneislai those countries. Approval procedures varyranjarisdictions and can involve requireme
and administrative review periods different fromgdagreater than, those in the United States, imeduddditional preclinical studies or clinical f8a
In many countries outside the United States, ayrbdandidate must be approved for reimbursemedntdé can be approved for sale in that
country. In some cases, the price that we interwhéwge for our products is also subject to apgrava may decide to submit an MAA to the EMA
for approval in the EEA. As with the FDA, obtainiagproval of an MAA from the EMA is a similarly lgthy and expensive process and the EMA
has its own procedures for approval of product atds. Even if a product is approved, the FDAherEMA, as the case may be, may limit the
indications for which the product may be marketeduire extensive warnings on the product labalingequire expensive and time-consuming
clinical trials or reporting as conditions of appab Regulatory authorities in countries outsidéhaf United States and the EEA also have
requirements for approval of drug candidates witticly we must comply prior to marketing in those mnies. Obtaining foreign regulatory appro\
and compliance with foreign regulatory requiremeratsld result in significant delays, difficultieagcosts for us and could delay or prevent the
introduction of our products in certain countriearther, clinical trials conducted in one countrgiyrmot be accepted by regulatory authorities ik
countries and regulatory approval in one countrysdoot ensure approval in any other country, wailgilure or delay in obtaining regulatory
approval in one country may have a negative effadhe regulatory approval process in others. Alsgulatory approval for any of our product
candidates may be withdrawn. If we fail to complighvthe regulatory requirements in internationakkess and/or receive applicable marketing
approvals, our target market will be reduced ardatility to realize the full market potential oRX302 will be harmed and our business will be
adversely affected.

We will be, with respect to any product candidate Which we obtain FDA approval, subject to ongoidA obligations and continued
regulatory review, which may result in significarstdditional expense.

Any regulatory approvals that we obtain for ourdarct candidate may also be subject to limitatiomshe approved indicated uses for which
the product may be marketed or to the conditiorsppiroval, or contain requirements for potentiathgtly post-marketing testing, including post-
marketing studies and clinical trials and surveitla to monitor the safety and efficacy of the paidiandidate. In addition, if the FDA or a
comparable foreign regulatory authority, like thdA, approves a product candidate, the manufactysiegesses, labeling, packaging, distribution,
adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, ptimm, import, export, tracking and recordkeepiagthe product will be subject to extensive and
ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirenmantsde submissions of safety and other post-niargénformation and reports, registration, as
well as continued compliance with cGMPs for marledeugs and drugs used in clinical trials and GfoPany clinical trials that we conduct post-
approval. Later discovery of previously unknownkgemns with a product, including adverse eventsnafticipated severity or frequency, or with
third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processefailure to comply with regulatory requiremgnnay result in, among other things:

. restrictions on the marketing or manufacturifighe product, withdrawal of the product from thanket, or voluntary or mandatory
product recalls;

. fines, warning letters or holds on clinicdls;

. refusal by the FDA to approve pending applaasior supplements to approved applications filedsor our strategic partners, or
suspension or revocation of product license appspva

. product seizure or detention, or refusglé¢amit the import or export of products; and
. injunctions, the imposition of civil or crimal penalties, or exclusions.

The FDA's policies may change and additional gowegnt regulations may be enacted that could prelierit,or delay regulatory approval of
our product candidates. If we are slow or unabladapt to changes in existing requirements or do@tion of new requirements or policies, or if we
are not able to maintain regulatory compliancewes lose any marketing approval that we may havaimdéd and we may not achieve or sustain
profitability, which would have a material adverféect on our business, prospects, financial camd#énd results of operations.

Moreover, the recently enacted federal Drug Su@bigin Security Act, imposes new obligations on nfiacturers of pharmaceutical products,
among others, related to product tracking andrigaghmong the requirements of this new federaldiagion, manufacturers will be required to
provide certain information regarding the drug prado individuals and entities to which productr@sship is transferred, label drug product with a
product identifier, and keep certain records reiggrthe drug product. Further, under this new legjizn, manufacturers will have drug product
investigation, quarantine, disposition, and nadificn responsibilities related to counterfeit, died, stolen, and intentionally adulterated proguas
well as products that are the subject of fraudulemtsactions or which are otherwise unfit for riigttion such that they would be reasonably likel
result in serious health consequences or death.
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We will need to increase the size of our organipatiand the scope of our outside vendor relationshipnd we may experience difficulties in
managing growth.

As of December 31, 2014 we had nine full-time emppés and one part-time employee. In addition, we leegaged part-time individual
consultants to assist us with establishing accogrdystems, managing vendors and CROs, projectgearent, regulatory compliance and business
development. We will need to expand our managesarational, financial and other resources in otdenanage our operations and clinical trials,
continue our research and development activitied,cammercialize our product candidate. Our managend scientific personnel, systems and
facilities currently in place may not be adequatsupport our future growth. Our need to effectivalanage our operations, growth and various
projects requires that we:

. manage our clinical trials effectively;

. manage our internal development efforts eféedyi while carrying out our contractual obligatidiesicensors, contractors and other
third parties;

. continue to improve our operational, fina@nd management controls and reporting systechpatedures;

attract and retain sufficient numbers oétébd employees; and
. manage our regulatory compliance oversightiafrastructure.

To date, we have utilized the services of thirdypaendors to perform tasks including clinical kmaanagement, statistics and analysis,
regulatory affairs, formulation development andeottirug development functions. Our growth strategy also entail expanding our group of
contractors or consultants to implement these tgsksy forward. Because we rely on numerous coastst effectively outsourcing many key
functions of our business, we will need to be ableffectively manage these consultants to enfiatethey successfully carry out their contractual
obligations and meet expected deadlines. Howefrene are unable to effectively manage our outsaliezgivities or if the quality or accuracy of the
services provided by consultants is compromise@ufigrreason, our clinical trials may be extendetaykd or terminated, and we may not be able to
obtain regulatory approval for our product candidat otherwise advance our business. There can besurance that we will be able to manage our
existing consultants or find other competent o@sidntractors and consultants on economically redse terms, or at all. If we are not able to
effectively expand our organization by hiring nemvpgtoyees and expanding our groups of consultardsantractors, we may be unable to
successfully implement the tasks necessary toduthvelop and commercialize our product candidate accordingly, may not achieve our
research, development and commercialization goals.

Our limited operating history makes evaluating obusiness and future prospects difficult.

Our predecessor, Protox Pharmaceuticals Inc., masporated in January 2002. We were formed in R233 under the predecessor to the
British Columbia Business Corporations Act, or B@BCA, by the amalgamation of Stratos Biotechnadednc., Nucleus BioScience Inc. and
Brightwave Ventures Inc. under the name SNB Cagitap. In July 2004, we acquired all the shareBrotox Pharmaceuticals Inc. in a plan of
arrangement under the BCBCA and changed its narReotox Therapeutics Inc. In 2011, we formed a Whowned U.S. subsidiary incorporated in
Delaware, Protox Therapeutics Corp. In 2012, wenghd our name to Sophiris Bio Inc. and changedh#ime of our subsidiary to Sophiris Bio C¢
In 2012, Sophiris Bio Corp. formed a wholly-ownedbsidiary incorporated in Delaware, Sophiris Biddiiog Corp. We face considerable risks and
difficulties as a company with limited operatingtioiry, particularly as a consolidated entity withaperating subsidiary that also has a limited
operating history. If we do not successfully addrgese risks, our business, prospects, operaiuts and financial condition will be materiallych
adversely harmed. Our limited operating history ek particularly difficult for us to predict ofuture operating results and appropriately budge
our expenses. In the event that actual resultsrdifbm our estimates or we adjust our estimatdsture periods, our operating results and financia
position could be materially affected. We have tediexperience as a consolidated operating eatity have not yet demonstrated an ability to
successfully overcome many of the risks and uniceiga frequently encountered by companies in negvrapidly evolving fields, particularly in the
pharmaceutical or biotechnology areas.

The terms of our senior debt facility require us oeet certain operating covenants and place resioics on our operating and financial
flexibility. If we raise additional capital througtdebt financing, the terms of any new debt couldther restrict our ability to operate our
business.

In June 2014, we entered into a $6 million sengmused loan with Oxford Finance LLC, or Oxford. §kvan is secured by a lien covering all
of our assets, including intellectual property, arealso pledged as collateral all of our equitgiiests in Sophiris Bio Corp. and Sophiris Bio
Holding Corp. We are obligated to make monthly pagta of principal and interest through the matudye of July 1, 2018, assuming there is no
default that results in acceleration of the debt.
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The loan agreement contains customary affirmaticeregative covenants, indemnification provisiond avents of default. The affirmative
covenants include, among others, covenants reguisrto maintain our legal existence and governat@pprovals, deliver certain financial reports
and maintain certain intellectual property rigfitee negative covenants include, among othersjgtstrs on transferring or licensing our assets,
changing our business, incurring additional inddbéss, engaging in mergers or acquisitions, pagivigends or making other distributions, and
creating other liens on our assets, in each cdgeduo customary exceptions. If we default urttierloan, Oxford may accelerate all of our
repayment obligations and take control of our péetigssets, potentially requiring us to renegobateagreement on terms less favorable to us or to
immediately cease operations. Further, if we apaidiated, Oxford’s right to repayment would be setd the rights of the holders of our common
shares to receive any proceeds from the liquida@odiord could declare a default under the loannugh@ occurrence of any event that Oxford
interprets as a material adverse change as defimdel the loan agreement, thereby requiring uspay the loan immediately or to attempt to rev
the declaration of default through negotiationitigation. Any declaration by Oxford of an eventd®fault could significantly harm our business and
prospects and could cause the price of our cominares to decline. If we raise any additional detzrfcing, the terms of such additional debt could
further restrict our operating and financial fleiktip.

Our ability to generate revenues from PRX302 wi# Bubject to attaining significant market acceptanamong physicians, patients and
healthcare payors.

PRX302, if approved in either indication for whiale are currently pursuing development or any oitgication, may not attain market
acceptance among physicians, patients, healtheg@or the medical community. We believe thatdbgree of market acceptance and our ability
to generate revenues from PRX302 will depend oaraber of factors, including:

. timing of market introduction of our prodsas well as competitive drugs;

. efficacy and safety of PRX302;

. the clinical indication(s) for which PRX302 approved;

. continued projected growth of the urologidelease markets, including incidence of BPH;
. acceptance by patients, primary care spstdand key specialists, including urologists;
. potential or perceived advantages or disadgastaf PRX302 over alternative treatments, inclgdiost of treatment and relative

convenience and ease of administration and lerfgghstained benefits from treatment;

. strength of sales, marketing and distribusapport;

. the price of PRX302, both in absolute teand relative to alternative treatments;

. the effect of current and future healthdaves;

. availability of coverage and adequate coveragimbursement and pricing from government ahérahird-party payors; and
. product labeling or product insert requiretsesf the FDA or other regulatory authorities.

If PRX302 is approved but fails to attain marketegtance by physicians, patients, health care pagothe medical community, we may not
be able to generate significant revenue to achoeweistain profitability, which would have a maséadverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Coverage and reimbursement may not be availablemay be available at only limited levels, for PRX3@vhich could make it difficult for us
to sell PRX302 profitably.

Market acceptance and sales of PRX302 will deperiarge part on global reimbursement policies amg be affected by future healthcare
reform measures, both in the United States and &theinternational markets. Patients who are pilesd medicine for the treatment of their
conditions generally rely on third party payorseanburse all or part of the costs associated thithr prescription drugs. Patients are unlikelyse
our products unless coverage is provided and raiseinoent is adequate to cover a significant potifcihe cost of our products. Therefore,
successful commercialization of our product wilpded in part on the availability of governmentad &hnird-party payor reimbursement for the cost
of PRX302 and/or payment to the physician for adsbéning PRX302. In the United States, no uniformtiqy of coverage and reimbursement for
drug products exists among third-party payors. &ee, coverage and reimbursement for drug produaridiffer significantly from payor to payor.
As a result, the coverage determination procesiés a time-consuming and costly process thatredjluire us to provide scientific and clinical
support for the use of our products to each pagpamately, with no assurance that coverage anduatleeceimbursement will be obtained. One third-
party payor’'s decision to cover a particular meldicaduct or service does not assure that otheonsayill also provide coverage for the medical
product or service, or to provide coverage at @&yadte reimbursement rate. As a result, the cogetatgrmination process will require us to pro
scientific and clinical support for the use of puoducts to each payor separately, with no assardrat adequate coverage and reimbursement v
obtained. Further, a third-party payor’s decisiopitovide coverage for a medical product or serdimes not imply that an adequate reimbursement
rate will be approved. The market for our prodwatdidates will depend significantly on access baltparty payors’ formularies, or lists of
treatments for which third-party payors provide @@age and reimbursement.

Third-party payors establish coverage and reimboese policies for new products, including produandidates like PRX302. In particular, in
the United States, private health insurers andr dttikel-party payors often provide reimbursemenmttfeatments based on the level at which the
government (through the Medicare or Medicaid progaprovides reimbursement for such treatmentghdrnited States, the EEA and other
significant or potentially significant markets four product candidate, government authorities hird-party payors are increasingly attempting to
limit or regulate the price of medical products aedvices, particularly for new and innovative prod and therapies, which has resulted in lower
average selling prices. Further, the increased asiplon managed healthcare in the United Statesranduntry and regional pricing and
reimbursement controls in Canada and the EEA willgulditional pressure on product pricing, coveragenbursement and utilization, which may
adversely affect our product sales and resultpefations. These pressures can arise from pohcidpractices of managed care groups, judicial
decisions and governmental laws and regulatiorge®lto Medicare, Medicaid and healthcare refoouerage and reimbursement policies and
pricing in general. Any reduction in reimbursemfeom Medicare or other government programs maylrésa similar reduction in payments from
private payors.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhre Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edudeconciliation Act, or
collectively, PPACA, became law in the United SsafePACA substantially changes the way healthsafieanced by both governmental and private
insurers and significantly affects the pharmacealiiedustry. Among the provisions of PPACA of gesatimportance to the pharmaceutical industry
are the following: (i) an annual, nondeductible é@eany entity that manufactures or imports cereamded prescription drugs and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to thaiket share in certain government healthcarerprog;, (ii) an increase in the rebates a
manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug RePabgram to 23.1% and 13% of the average manuéagirice for branded and generic drugs,
respectively; (iii) a new Medicare Part D covergge discount program, in which manufacturers mgegeto offer 50% point-of-sale discounts to
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs tdtdégoeneficiaries during their coverage gap peraxa condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient
drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D; (ivgrsibn of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liabititycovered drugs dispensed to individuals who
are enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizatigpnexpansion of eligibility criteria for Mediadiprograms by, among other things, allowing
states to offer Medicaid coverage to additionahiitials with income at or below 133% of the Fedl®averty Level, thereby potentially increasing
manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability; (vi) exygon of the entities eligible for discounts untlex Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing
program,; (vii) expansion of health care fraud ahdsz laws, including the federal civil False Claitwet and the Anti-Kickback Statute, new
government investigative powers, and enhanced pes&br noncompliance; and (viii) a new Patienfa@eed Outcomes Research Institute to
oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct conapiae clinical effectiveness research, along withding for such research. We cannot predict
whether legal challenges will result in changeth®PPACA or if other legislative changes will lipted, or how such changes would affect our
business.

In the EEA, the success of PRX302, if approved, dgpend largely on obtaining and maintaining gawegnt reimbursement, because in m
European countries patients are unlikely to usefies that are not reimbursed by the governmesgoNating prices with governmental authorities
can delay commercialization by 12 months or momnfRursement policies may adversely affect ouiitgthid sell our products on a profitable basis.
In many international markets, governments conhelprices of prescription pharmaceuticals, ineigdhrough the implementation of reference
pricing, price cuts, rebates, revenue-related takresprofit control, and expect prices of pres@ippharmaceuticals to decline over the life of the
product or as volumes increase. Recently, manytdesrin the EEA have increased the amount of distorequired on pharmaceutical products and
other therapies, and we expect these discountsntince as countries attempt to manage healthegenditures, especially in light of current
economic conditions. As a result of these priciracpces, it may become difficult to achieve pmalfility or expected rates of growth in revenue or
results of operations. Any shortfalls in revenuald@dversely affect our business, prospects, &igduisondition and results of operations.

Certain countries have a very difficult reimbursatenvironment and we may not obtain reimburseroepticing approval, if required, in all
countries where we expect to market a product,eomay obtain reimbursement approval at a levelvlvatid make marketing a product in certain



countries not viable

We expect to experience pricing pressures in cdiorewith the sale of PRX302, if approved, and athyer products that we may develop, due
to the trend toward managed healthcare, the incgasluence of health maintenance organizatiams additional legislative proposals. If we fail to
successfully secure and maintain adequate covarajeeimbursement for our products or are signifigadelayed in doing so, we will have

difficulty achieving market acceptance of our proguand expected revenue and profitability whicluddave a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and resflbperations.
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Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rket additional product candidates or approved prads could impair our ability to grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire edigy and/or market additional products and prodaotiidates. Because our internal rese
capabilities are limited, we may be dependent ygwarmaceutical and biotechnology companies, acadsereéntists and other researchers to sell or
license products or technology to us. The succetfssstrategy depends partly upon our abilitydentify, select and acquire promising
pharmaceutical product candidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleimgra license or acquisition of a product candidatepproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with sa&lly greater financial, marketing and salesueses, may compete with us for the license or
acquisition of product candidates and approveduymtsd We have limited resources to identify anccate@the acquisition or in-licensing of third-
party products, businesses and technologies aegdrate them into our current infrastructure. Moeowe may devote resources to potential
acquisitions or in-licensing opportunities that aexver completed, or we may fail to realize thécgpdated benefits of such efforts. We may not be
able to acquire the rights to additional productdidates on terms that we find acceptable, orlat al

In addition, future acquisitions may entail numerayperational and financial risks, including:

. exposure to unknown liabilities;

. disruption of our business and diversion af management’s time and attention to develop aedyroducts or technologies;

. incurrence of substantial debt or dilutiveuances of securities to pay for acquisitions;

. higher than expected acquisition and intégmecosts;

. increased amortization expenses;

. difficulty and cost in combining the opeats and personnel of any acquired businesses withperations and personnel;

. impairment of relationships with key supplierscustomers of any acquired businesses due t@ekan management and ownership;
and

. inability to retain key employees of any aitgd businesses.

Further, any product candidate that we acquire regyire additional development efforts prior to eoemcial sale, including extensive clinical
testing and approval by the FDA and applicableifpreegulatory authorities. All product candidagées prone to risks of failure typical of
pharmaceutical product development, including thesbility that a product candidate will not be winato be sufficiently safe and effective for
approval by regulatory authorities. In addition, @@anot provide assurance that any products thatewelop or approved products that we acquire
will be manufactured profitably or achieve marketeptance.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjraarnal computer systems and those of our ctaed any future CROs and other
contractors and consultants and collaborators @reexable to damage from computer viruses, unaizéaccess, natural disasters, terrorism, war
and telecommunication and electrical failures. Wik have not experienced any such material syfstéume, accident or security breach to date, if
such an event were to occur and cause interrupitioogr operations, it could result in a materirdption of our development programs and our
business operations. For example, the loss ofcelintiial data from completed or future clinicahts could result in delays in our regulatory apaio
efforts and significantly increase our costs taket or reproduce the data. Likewise, we rely drdtparties to manufacture PRX302 and conduct
clinical trials, and similar events relating toitheomputer systems could also have a materialradweffect on our business. To the extent that any
disruption or security breach were to result insslof, or damage to, our data or applicationgappropriate disclosure of confidential or protaig
information, we could incur liability and the fugthdevelopment and commercialization of our prodacididate could be delayed.
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Business interruptions could seriously harm our fute revenue and financial condition and increase locosts and expenses.

Our operations could be subject to earthquakesepshortages, telecommunications failures, sysfaihses, water shortages, floods,
hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather cimmdit medical epidemics and other natural or madenttisasters or business interruptions. The
occurrence of any of these business interruptiontdcseriously harm our business and financial ¢@mand increase our costs and expenses. A
majority of our management operates in our priragacutive offices located in San Diego, Califerrif our San Diego offices were affected by a
natural or man-made disaster, particularly thoaedhe characteristic of the region, such as wédfand earthquakes, or other business interryption
our ability to manage our domestic and foreign apiens could be impaired, which could materially aalversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition. We currently rely, and intetedrely in the future, on our thirdarty manufacturer, Bl, which is located in Austigd Germany, !
produce our supply of PRX302. Our ability to obtsimpplies PRX302 could be disrupted, and our resifloperations and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected if the operegiof Bl were affected by a man-made or natusasier or other business interruption. The
ultimate impact of such events on us, our significuppliers and our general infrastructure is wakm

Our business involves the use of hazardous matetiaihd we and our third-party manufacturer must cpig with environmental laws and
regulations, which can be expensive and restricbhwe do business.

Our third-party manufacturer’s activities invollreetcontrolled storage, use and disposal of hazardwmierials owned by us, including the
components of PRX302 and other hazardous compo&pesifically, the cleavage of the PSA-sensitiiévaton sequence of PRX302 in the
manufacturing process could potentially lead tor#iease of the C-terminal inhibitory peptide réaglin the formation of active aerolysin, a pore-
forming hemolytic toxin. We and our manufacturez aubject to federal, state and local as well exido laws and regulations governing the use,
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal okthezardous materials. Although we believe thasé#iety procedures utilized by our third-party
manufacturer for handling and disposing of thestenes comply with the standards prescribed bgeHaws and regulations, we cannot eliminate
the risk of accidental contamination or injury frehese materials. B, our thipgarty manufacturer, does not manufacture PRX30 fiacility at the
same time as it manufactures other biologics dukedoxic nature of aerolysin. In the event obanident, state, federal or foreign authorities may
curtail the use of these materials and interruptmsiness operations. We do not currently mairttairerdous materials insurance coverage. If w
subject to any liability as a result of our thirdrfy manufacturer’s activities involving hazardouaterials, our business and financial condition may
be adversely affected. In the future we may seestablish longer term third-party manufacturingaagements, pursuant to which we would seek to
obtain contractual indemnification protection freorch third-party manufacturers potentially limititigs liability exposure.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againsts) we may incur substantial liabilities and may tequired to limit commercialization of our
products.

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing and, if approveds tommercialization of PRX302. For example,
we may be sued if any product we develop allegediyses injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitaliring clinical testing, manufacturing,
marketing or sale. Any such product liability claimmay include allegations of defects in manufantyrdefects in design, a failure to warn of dan
inherent in the product, negligence, strict lidpibr a breach of warranties. Claims could alsadsgerted under state or foreign consumer protection
acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselvasnagproduct liability claims, we may incur sulvgtal liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidate. Evesuecessful defense would require significant finarend management resources. Regardless of
the merits or eventual outcome, liability claimsymasult in:

. decreased demand for our product or procactidates that we may develop;
. injury to our reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. initiation of investigations by regulators;

. costs to defend the related litigation;

. a diversion of management’s time and ououeses;

. substantial monetary awards to clinical tpatticipants or patients;

. product recalls, withdrawals or labeling,rkeing or promotional restrictions;
. loss of revenue;
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. exhaustion of any available insurance andcapital resources;
. the inability to commercialize our produotsproduct candidates; and
. a decline in our share price.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient praddiability insurance at an acceptable cost tdgrbagainst potential product liability claims
could prevent or inhibit the commercialization obgucts we develop. We currently carry productilighinsurance covering our clinical studies and
commercial product sales in the amount of $10 anilin the aggregate.

Although we maintain such insurance, any claim thay be brought against us could result in a goddment or settlement in an amount that
is not covered, in whole or in part, by our inswor that is in excess of the limits of our inswwecoverage. If we determine that it is prudent to
increase our product liability coverage due todgbmmercial launch of any product, we may be unabtebtain such increased coverage on
acceptable terms or at all. Our insurance poliaiss have various exclusions, and we may be sutgjecproduct liability claim for which we have
coverage. We will have to pay any amounts awargea dourt or negotiated in a settlement that excesdoverage limitations or that are not
covered by our insurance, and we may not havee able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay sucltoants.

If we are not successful in attracting and retairgrhighly qualified personnel, we may not be ablestaccessfully implement our business
strategy.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitivetdchnology and pharmaceuticals industries depepads our ability to attract and retain
highly qualified managerial, scientific and medipaksonnel. We are highly dependent on our managieanel scientific and medical personnel,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Presidétandall E. Woods and our Chief Operating Offimed Head of Research and Development,
Allison Hulme, Ph.D. In order to retain valuablepayees at our company, in addition to salary aaghdncentives, we provide incentive stock
options that vest over time. The value to employ#edock options that vest over time will be sfgraintly affected by movements in our share price
that are beyond our control, and may at any timmsefficient to counteract more lucrative offersrii other companies.

Our scientific team in particular has expertiseniainy different aspects of drug discovery and depraknt, and may be difficult to retain or
replace. We conduct our operations at our faalitieSan Diego, California and this region is hegdtgrs to many other biopharmaceutical
companies and many academic and research instisugiod therefore we face increased competitiopdesonnel in this location. Competition for
skilled personnel in our market is very intense emighpetition for experienced scientists may limit ability to hire and retain highly qualified
personnel on acceptable terms.

In addition, we have scientific and clinical advisavho assist us in formulating our product devedept and clinical strategies. These advisors
are not our employees and may have commitments tmnsulting or advisory contracts with, otheritigg that may limit their availability to us, or
may have arrangements with other companies totasshe development of products that may compétie eurs.

Despite our efforts to retain valuable employeesmioers of our management and scientific and derreopteams may terminate their
employment with us on short notice. Although weéaritten employment arrangements with all of aupyees, these employment arrangements
provide for at-will employment, which means that employees can leave our employment at any tinitl, av without notice. The loss of the
services of any of our executive officers or otkey employees and our inability to find suitablplaeements could potentially harm our business,
financial condition and prospects. We do not maintkey man” insurance policies on the lives ofgeéndividuals or the lives of any of our other
employees.

Our employees, independent contractors, consultaotsnmercial partners and vendors may engage incoigduct or other improper activities,
including noncompliance with regulatory standardsid requirements and insider trading.

We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other illegdivity by our employees, independent contragtoonsultants, commercial partners and
vendors. Misconduct by these parties could incintentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct thid to: comply with the laws of the FDA and
other similar regulatory bodies; provide true, céetgand accurate information to the FDA and o#fiilar regulatory bodies; comply with
manufacturing standards we have established; cowifiyfederal and state healthcare fraud and ahndéhealth regulatory laws and other similar
foreign fraudulent misconduct laws; or report finahinformation or data accurately or discloseutharized activities to us. These laws may img
among other things, our activities with principayéstigators and research subjects, as well asabes, marketing and education programs. In
particular, the promotion, sales, and marketinbe#lth care items and services, as well as cdrta@imess arrangements in the healthcare industry,
are subject to extensive laws intended to prevenidf misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and o#irrsive practices. These laws may restrict or
prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, metikg and promotion, structuring and commissiorgsjtain customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements generally. Misconduct cdsidiavolve the improper use or disclosure of infation obtained in the course of clinical trials,
which could result in regulatory sanctions andaesiharm to our reputation. Additionally, we arbjsat to state and foreign equivalents of each of
the healthcare laws described above under “lteBuginess”, some of which may be broader in scopemway apply regardless of the payor.
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We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsi:zthit it is not always possible to identify amdedt misconduct, and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent inappropriate condugtmoéabe effective in controlling unknown or unmgad risks or losses or in protecting us from
governmental investigations or other actions orslaite stemming from a failure to be in compliandthwuch laws. Efforts to ensure that our
business arrangements will comply with applicatdeltihcare laws may involve substantial costs. poissible that governmental and enforcement
authorities will conclude that our business praagimay not comply with current or future statutegulations or case law interpreting applicable
fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws. If anf sations are instituted against us, and we arsutzessful in defending ourselves or assertimg ou
rights, those actions could have a significant ioba our business, including the imposition oh#figant civil, criminal and administrative penaisi
damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, individugtisonment, possible exclusion from participaiioiMedicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs, contractual damages, repughtiarm, diminished profits and future earningesl eurtailment of our operations, any of which
could adversely affect our ability to operate ousibess and our results of operations. Defendiagnagany such actions can be costly, time-
consuming and may require significant financial aedsonnel resources. Therefore, even if we areesséul in defending against any such actions
that may be brought against us, our business mawnered.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to market and sell any products we n
develop, we may not be able to effectively market aell our products and generate product revenue.

We are developing PRX302 for large patient popaoltetiserved by urologists as well as general pegptiysicians, which number in the ten:
thousands in the United States. Traditional phaeutcal companies employ groups of sales repretsegganumbering in the thousands to call on
this large of a number of physicians. We do notenity have an organization for the sale, marketindistribution of PRX302 and we must build
this organization or make arrangements with thadips to perform these functions in order to comuiaéize PRX302 and any future products. We
intend to establish (either internally or througtoatract sales force) a sales force to sell PRXB@dproved, in the United States. We plan tdnga
with third parties to commercialize PRX302 outside United States. The establishment and developofieur own sales force or the establishment
of a contract sales force to market any productsnag develop in the United States will be expensaive time consuming and could delay any
product launch, and we cannot be certain that wadvoe able to successfully develop this capatitye are unable to establish our sales and
marketing capability or any other non-technicalatzlfities necessary to commercialize any produesnay develop, we will need to contract with
third parties to market and sell such producth@United States. We currently possess limiteduress and may not be successful in establishin
own internal sales force or in establishing arramgiets with third parties on acceptable terms, #liat

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and CapitaRequirements

We will need to obtain additional financing to corgte the development and commercialization of PRX2Md to repay existing debt and we
may be unable to raise capital when needed, whichuld force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our é&pment program or commercialization
efforts.

Our operations have consumed substantial amourmsbf since inception. Since inception, we haveedaapproximately $113 million from
sale of equity securities in private placements@utalic offerings, $21 million from the issuancedwbt securities, and $9 million from the exercise
of common share purchase warrants. We will conttougpend substantial amounts to continue clirdeaklopment of PRX302, including for the
completion of our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trial fioe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, the condéieny future Phase 3 clinical trials for the
treatment of the symptoms of BPH, our planned podaoncept study of PRX302 for the treatment chlized low to intermediate risk prostate
cancer and to pay for future required clinical depment, and seek regulatory approval for PRX302¢pay our Oxford loan and to launch and
commercialize PRX302, if approved.

We expect that our existing cash, together witaregt thereon, will be sufficient to fund our ofienas for at least the next 12 months,
assuming that we do not initiate the second Phaiei8al trial of PRX302 for the treatment of tegmptoms of BPH. However, changing
circumstances may cause us to consume capitafisagrily faster than we currently anticipate, anglmway need to spend more money than currently
expected because of circumstances beyond our tdrtroexample, our ongoing Phase 3 clinical figalthe treatment of the symptoms of BPH or
our planned Phase 2 clinical trial for the treathdrocalized low to intermediate risk prostat@car may encounter technical or other issues, or in
the case of the Phase 2 clinical trial, enrollmesiies that could delay the trial or cause ourldpweent costs to increase more than we expected,
depleting our cash earlier than expected and jel@ag our ability to obtain or to use the triatesults in the absence of additional funding. Any
clinical development efforts beyond our ongoing $&ha clinical trial in BPH and our planned Phaséiriical trial in localized low to intermediate
risk prostate cancer will require additional furglin
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We expect to finance future cash needs thrgudplic or private equity offerings, debt finangsnor strategic partnerships and alliances and
licensing arrangements, as well as through intémesime earned on cash balances. We cannot béncivéia additional funding will be available on
acceptable terms, or at all. Subject to limitedegtions, our Oxford loan also prohibits us fromuming indebtedness without the prior written
consent of Oxford. If we are unable to raise adddl capital in sufficient amounts or on terms atakle to us we may have to significantly delay,
scale back or discontinue the development or comialeration of PRX302. We also could be required to

. seek collaborators for one or more of our auro future product candidates at an earlier stage otherwise would be desirable or on
terms that are less favorable than might otherivésavailable; or

. relinquish or license on unfavorable terms dgints to technologies or product candidates thabtherwise would seek to develop or
commercialize ourselves.

Any of the above events could significantly harm business, prospects, financial condition andltesd operations and cause the price of our
common shares to decline.

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmdr inception and anticipate that we will continu® incur losses for the foreseeable future.

We have a limited operating history and we havarfoed our operations primarily through equity aebtdinancings and have incurred
significant operating losses since our inceptior. Wed a net loss of $30.7 million, $11.1 milliond&21.2 million during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelypfAecember 31, 2014, we had an accumulated defid@115.6 million. Our prior losses,
combined with expected future losses, have haduélhdontinue to have an adverse effect on ourshalders’ deficit and working capital. Our
losses have resulted principally from costs inaiireour research activities for PRX302. We antitépthat our operating losses will substantially
increase over the next several years as we cortieuelopment of PRX302, including the conduct af @ugoing and future clinical trials for the
treatment of the symptoms of BPH and our plannedfpsf concept study in localized low to intermediask prostate cancer. In addition, if we
obtain regulatory approval of PRX302, we may insignificant sales and marketing expenses and ousdumanufacturing expenses, as well as
continued development expenses. Because of thernumesks and uncertainties associated with deusdopharmaceutical products, we are unable
to predict the extent of any future losses or waetr when we will become profitable.

We have not generated any product revenue and mayen become profitable.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon duility. to develop and commercialize PRX302. To dather than the upfront payment we
received from Kissei and the $5.0 million milestqrasyment we received in April 2013 from Kissei foe achievement of development milestones,
we have not generated any revenue from PRX302 andlowot know when, or if, we will generate anyfetrevenue. Our ability to generate future
revenue depends on a number of factors, including:

. successfully completing the clinical develemmPRX302;

. obtaining U.S. and/or foreign regulatory egyals for PRX302;

. manufacturing commercial quantities of PRX2® acceptable costs levels if regulatory appsoaes received;
. achieving broad market acceptance of PRXB@Re medical community and with third-party payand patients; and
. creating an internal commercial infrastructarédentifying and entering into one or more stgitecollaborations to effectively market

and sell PRX302.

We may never be able to successfully develop omeernialize PRX302. Even if we do obtain regulatapproval to commercialize PRX302,
which we do not expect to occur for several yeaesmay never generate product sales and may nelieva or sustain profitability on a quarterly
annual basis. Our failure to become and remairitpldé would depress the market price of our comstares and could impair our ability to raise
capital, expand our business, diversify our proddigrings or continue our operations.
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to pexisting shareholders, restrict our operations gequire us to relinquish intellectual
property rights to our product candidates.

We may seek additional capital through a combimatibpublic and private equity offerings, debt fiecangs, strategic partnerships and allial
and licensing arrangements. To the extent thatage additional capital through the sale of eqaitgonvertible debt securities, the ownership
interest of our existing shareholders will be ditlitand the terms may include liquidation or offreferences that adversely affect the rights of our
shareholders. Debt financings may be coupled witequity component, such as warrants to purchaseshwhich could also result in dilution of
our existing shareholders’ ownership. The incureeoicindebtedness would result in increased fixaghpent obligations and could also result in
certain restrictive covenants, such as limitation®ur ability to incur additional debt, limitatision our ability to acquire or license intellectual
property rights and other operating restrictiorat tould adversely impact our ability to conduat business. If we raise additional funds through
strategic partnerships and alliances and licersirgngements with third parties, we may have togaish valuable rights to our product candidates,
or grant licenses on terms that are not favorablest

Unstable market and economic conditions may haveaes adverse consequences on our business, finahobndition and share price.

As widely reported, global credit and financial kets have experienced extreme disruptions in tkegeveral years, including severely
diminished liquidity and credit availability, decs in consumer confidence, declines in econonowty, increases in unemployment rates, and
uncertainty about economic stability. There camb@ssurance that further deterioration in credtit fnancial markets and confidence in economic
conditions will not occur. Our general businesatsiyy may be adversely affected by any such ecandavinturn, volatile business environment and
continued unpredictable and unstable market canmditilf the current equity and credit markets detate further, or do not improve, it may make
any necessary debt or equity financing more diffimicomplete, more costly, and more dilutive.l&@ to secure any necessary financing in a tir
manner and on favorable terms could have a matatisgdrse effect on our growth strategy, financ&af@rmance and share price and could requil
to delay or abandon development or commercialingtians. In addition, there is a risk that one orerof our current service providers,
manufacturers and other partners may not surviegetidifficult economic times, which could directffect our ability to attain our operating goals
schedule and on budget.

At December 31, 2014, we had $4.1 million of casti eash equivalents and $18.6 million in securiiessilable-for-sale. While we are not
aware of any downgrades, material losses, or aigeificant deterioration in the fair value of atash equivalents since December 31, 2014, no
assurance can be given that further deteriorati@onditions of the global credit and financial kets would not negatively impact our current
portfolio of cash equivalents or our ability to hear financing objectives. Further dislocationshie credit market may adversely impact the value
and/or liquidity of cash equivalents owned by us.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates clolresult in changes in our reported revenues arar@ngs.

We currently incur expenses denominated in foreigmencies, specifically in connection with our mtactturing and supply agreement with
Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & Co KG for the maawetiire of PRX302, for which payments are denoméhateuro. In addition, we are
utilizing several clinical vendors as part of oustf Phase 3 clinical trial for PRX302 which aredted in various countries outside of the United
States. These clinical vendors invoice us in tleallourrency of the vendor. We do not engage iaifpr currency hedging arrangements for our
accounts payable, and, consequently, foreign coayrBactuations may adversely affect our earniristing the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, 16.5% and 18.1%, respectively, of our opegatixpenses were denominated in currencies otherttie U.S. dollar. Going forward we
anticipate that our sales and expenses, if anypeitlenominated in the local currency of the couimt which they occur. We may decide to manage
this risk by hedging our foreign currency expospracipally through derivative contracts. Evenvié decide to enter into such hedging transactions,
we cannot be sure that such hedges will be effectithat the costs of such hedges will not ext¢eeid benefits. Fluctuations in the rate of excheang
between the U.S. dollar and foreign currenciesnarily the euro, could result in material amourftsash being required to settle the hedge
transactions or could adversely affect our finan@aults.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectuploperty rights related to our product candidatege may not be able to compete effectively in
our market.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade sgmaection and confidentiality agreements to prbtie intellectual property related to our
product candidates. The strength of patents itithiechnology and pharmaceutical field involves ptewr legal and scientific questions and can be
uncertain. The patent applications that we owmdiciense may fail to result in issued patents wltiims that cover the products in Canada, the
United States or in other foreign countries. IEthiere to occur, early generic competition coulékgected against product candidates in
development. There is no assurance that all gpditentially relevant prior art relating to our paeand patent applications has been found, which
can invalidate a patent or prevent a patent framiing based on a pending patent application. Bveaténts do successfully issue, third parties may
challenge their validity, enforceability or scopéhich may result in such patents being narroweidalidated.
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Composition-of-matter patents on the biologicatloemical active pharmaceutical ingredient are gdlyectonsidered to be the strongest form
of intellectual property protection for pharmaceatiproducts, as such patents provide protectidhowt regard to any method of use. We cannot be
certain that the claims in our patent applicatiomgering composition-of-matter of PRX302 will bensidered patentable by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office, or U.S. PTO, and courts in thététhStates or by the patent offices and courfergign countries. Method-of-use patents protect
the use of a product for the specified method. Type of patent does not prevent a competitor fneaking and marketing a product that is identical
to our product for an indication that is outside itope of the patented method. Moreover, evemnipetitors do not actively promote their product
for our targeted indications, physicians may priegcthese products off-label. Although off-labe¢geriptions may infringe or contribute to the
infringement of method-ofise patents, the practice is common and such geinmrent is difficult to prevent or prosecute. Funthere, even if they a1
unchallenged, our patents and patent applicatiaysnmot adequately protect our intellectual propertprevent others from designing around our
claims. If the patent applications we hold withpest to PRX302 fail to issue or if their breadttstrength of protection is threatened, it could
dissuade companies from collaborating with us tetig them, and threaten our ability to commerzglour products. We cannot offer any
assurances about which, if any, patents will issughether any issued patents will be found noalicvand not unenforceable or will go unthreate
by third parties. Further, if we encounter delaysegulatory approvals, the period of time duringael we could market PRX302 under patent
protection could be reduced. Since patent apptinatin the United States and most other countrizs@nfidential for a period of time after filing,
and some remain so until issued, we cannot beicehat we were the first to file any patent apglion related to PRX302. Furthermore, if third
parties have filed such patent applications, agrietence proceeding in the United States candeoged by a third party or instituted by us to
determine who was the first to invent any of thejsct matter covered by the patent claims of oylieations.

In addition to the protection afforded by patemis,rely on trade secret protection and confideibtiagreements to protect proprietary know-
how that is not patentable, processes for whicrpatare difficult to enforce and any other elermeftour drug discovery and development proce
that involve proprietary know-how, information @chnology that is not covered by patents. Althowghexpect all of our employees to assign their
inventions to us, and all of our employees, coasid, advisors and any third parties who have adoesur proprietary know-how, information or
technology to enter into confidentiality agreememts cannot provide any assurances that all sugeagents have been duly executed or that our
trade secrets and other confidential proprietafyrination will not be disclosed or that competitanidl not otherwise gain access to our trade sscret
or independently develop substantially equivalafdrimation and techniques.

The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the LealyiB Act, was signed into law in September 2011 iastldes a number of significant
changes to U.S. patent law. These include chamgixiway patent applications will be prosecutedi may also affect patent litigation. The U.S.
PTO is currently developing regulations and procesltio administer the Leahy-Smith Act, and manthefsubstantive changes to patent law
associated with the Leal§mith Act will not become effective until one yearl8 months after its enactment. Accordinglysibot clear what, if an
impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the cospodsecuting our patent applications, our abilitpbtain patents based on our patent applications
and our ability to enforce or defend our issue@pist An inability to obtain, enforce and defentepgs covering our proprietary technologies would
materially and adversely affect our business pratspend financial condition. Further, the laws @fng foreign countries do not protect proprietary
rights to the same extent or in the same manntredaws of the United States and Canada. As dtresimay encounter significant problems in
protecting and defending our intellectual propéxgh in the United States and abroad. If we ardlen@ prevent material disclosure of the non-
patented intellectual property related to our tebtbgies to third parties, and there is no guaratiteewe will have any such enforceable trade $ecre
protection, we may not be able to establish or taaire competitive advantage in our market, whichld materially adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Third party claims of intellectual property infringment may prevent or delay our development and cemuialization efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our engpidfringement of the patents and proprietarpisgof third parties. There is a substantial
amount of litigation, both within and outside thaitéd States, involving patent and other intellatproperty rights in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries, including patent infemgnt lawsuits, interferences, oppositions and jpeety reexamination proceedings before the U.S.
PTO. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents andipg patent applications, which are owned bydtparties, exist in the fields in which we, and
our collaborators, are developing product candi&lais the biotechnology and pharmaceutical indestexpand and more patents are issued, the risk
increases that our product candidates may be dubjetaims of infringement of the patent rightsthifd parties.
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Third parties may assert that we are employing threiprietary technology without authorization. Téenay be third-party patents or patent
applications with claims to materials, formulatipmethods of manufacture or methods for treatmadated to the use or manufacture of PRX302.
Because patent applications can take many yedssue, there may be currently pending patent agjies, which may later result in issued patents
that our product candidates may infringe. In additithird parties may obtain patents in the fuid claim that use of our technologies infringes
upon these patents. We are aware of at least oxepidrty patent that may be relevant to our prodandidates. If any third-party patents were held
by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover themafacturing process of any of our product candglaany molecules formed during the
manufacturing process or any final product itsbi§ holders of any such patents may be able tktdac ability to commercialize such product
candidate unless we obtained a license under thiecaple patents, or until such patents expire.il@ity, if any third-party patent were held by a
court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspectsufformulations, processes for manufacture ohotg of use, including combination therapy, the
holders of any such patent may be able to bloclability to develop and commercialize the appliegimoduct candidate unless we obtained a lic
or until such patent expires. In either case, sulibense may not be available on commerciallyopable terms or at all. Parties making claims
against us may obtain injunctive or other equitablief, which could effectively block our abilitp further develop and commercialize one or more
of our product candidates. Defense of these claieggardless of their merit, would involve substalritigation expense and would be a substantial
diversion of employee resources from our businesthe event of a successful claim of infringemagdinst us, we may have to pay substantial
damages, including treble damages and attornegs’fta willful infringement, obtain one or moreditses from third parties, pay royalties or
redesign our infringing products, which may be iggible or require substantial time and monetarepdjture. We cannot predict whether any such
license would be available at all or whether it Wddoe available on commercially reasonable terrasthiérmore, even in the absence of litigation, we
may need to obtain licenses from third partiesdieaace our research or allow commercializationuwfgroduct candidates, and we have done so
from time to time. We may fail to obtain any of skedicenses at a reasonable cost or on reasorabls, if at all. In that event, we would be unabl
further develop and commercialize one or more ofpwaduct candidates, which could harm our busis&gsficantly. We cannot provide any
assurances that third-party patents do not exigthwiight be enforced against our products, resgiith either an injunction prohibiting our sales, o
with respect to our sales, an obligation on out fwapay royalties and/or other forms of compermsato third parties.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agements under which we license rights to techngldgpm third parties, we could lose license
rights that are important to our business.

We are a party to a number of technology licensasdre essential to our business and expect ¢o id additional licenses in the future. For
example, we have an exclusive license to PRX302 ftvIC Industry Partnerships Inc. and The JohnskifepUniversity. If we fail to comply with
our obligations under that license agreement oother license agreements, or we are insolventlgjest to a bankruptcy proceeding, the licensor
may have the right to terminate the license, incivldvent we would not be able to market producteiEm by the license agreement, including
PRX302. We may also be subjected to litigationtbeopotential disputes under our license agreesriente fail to comply with our obligations
under those agreements.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfemur patents or the patents of our licensors, whimould be expensive, time consuming and
unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patehtsur licensors. To counter infringement or uhauized use, we may be required to file
infringement claims, which can be expensive an&ttonsuming. In addition, in an infringement pratieg, a court may decide that a patent of ours
or our licensors is not valid or is unenforceablemay refuse to stop the other party from usirgtéthnology at issue on the grounds that our (=
do not cover the technology in question. An adveeselt in any litigation or defense proceedingsld@ut one or more of our patents at risk of b
invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put patent applications at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings provoked by third padieisrought by us may be necessary to determinpribgty of inventions with respect to our
patents or patent applications or those of oulboltators or licensors. An unfavorable outcomedoedjuire us to cease using the related technology
or to attempt to license rights to it from the @#ing party. Our business could be harmed if ttevailing party does not offer us a license on
commercially reasonable terms. Our defense o#litign or interference proceedings may fail andnef/successful, may result in substantial costs
and distract our management and other employeesnayenot be able to prevent, alone or with oumlg®'s, misappropriation of our intellectual
property rights, particularly in countries where thws may not protect those rights as fully ahéUnited States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that some
of our confidential information could be compronudgy disclosure during this type of litigation. Taeould also be public announcements of the
results of hearings, motions or other interim peatirgs or developments. If securities analystaeestors perceive these results to be negative, it
could have a material adverse effect on the priceocommon shares.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment and ott
requirements imposed by governmental patent agesicid our patent protection could be reduced dmehated for non-compliance with
these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patemiugréo be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patgeneies in several stages over the lifetime
of the patent. The U.S. PTO and various foreigregomental patent agencies require compliance withnaber of procedural, documentary, fee
payment and other similar provisions during theepaapplication process. While an inadvertent lagasein many cases be cured by payment of
fee or by other means in accordance with the agiplécrules, there are situations in which noncoamgie can result in abandonment or lapse of the
patent or patent application, resulting in pamiatomplete loss of patent rights in the relevarisgliction. Non-compliance events that could resul
abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent apiplicatclude, but are not limited to, failure to pesd to official actions within prescribed time Iis;
non-payment of fees and failure to properly legafind submit formal documents. If we or our liceadail to maintain the patents and patent
applications covering our product candidates, aunetitors might be able to enter the market, wiiohld have a material adverse effect on our
business.

We may be subject to claims that our employeessattants or independent contractors have wrongfullged or disclosed confidential
information of third parties.

We employ individuals who were previously emplogtather biotechnology or pharmaceutical compamés may be subject to claims that
we or our employees, consultants or independeritactors have inadvertently or otherwise used seldsed confidential information of our
employees’ former employers or other third parti¥e. may also be subject to claims that former egg®or other third parties have an ownership
interest in our patents. Litigation may be necessadefend against these claims. There is no gtegaof success in defending these claims, and if
we are successful, litigation could result in sahsal cost and be a distraction to our managemechiother employees.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on pegtell countries throughout the world would belpbitively expensive, and our intellectual
property rights in some countries outside the Wh&¢ates can be less extensive than those in thedBtates. In addition, the laws of some foreign
countries, including China, do not protect intelileed property rights to the same extent as fedmrdlstate laws in the United States. Consequently,
we may not be able to prevent third parties froacficing our inventions in all countries outside thnited States, or from selling or importing
products made using our inventions in and intolthé&ed States or other jurisdictions. Competitoesymse our technologies in jurisdictions where
we have not obtained patent protection to deveédep bwn products and further, may export otheninigeénging products to territories where we
have patent protection, but enforcement is notrasg as that in the United States. These produetscompete with our product candidates and our
patents or other intellectual property rights may e effective or sufficient to prevent them freaompeting.

Many companies have encountered significant problienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigits in foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of certain countries, particularistaia developing countries, do not favor the endonent of patents and other intellectual property
protection, particularly those relating to biopharauticals, which could make it difficult for usstop the infringement of our patents or marketf
competing products in violation of our proprietaights generally. Proceedings to enforce our paights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and dtiarftom other aspects of our business, could pupatents at risk of being invalidated or intetpde
narrowly and our patent applications at risk of isstiing and could provoke third parties to asslaitns against us. We may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or aamedies awarded, if any, may not be commerciagmmgful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce
our intellectual property rights around the worldynbe inadequate to obtain a significant commegdahntage from the intellectual property that
develop or license.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Shares
U.S. holders of our shares may suffer adverse taxsequences if we are characterized as a passikgdn investment company after 2012.

Generally, if for any taxable year 75% or more of gross income is passive income, or at least 608te average quarterly value of our as
(which may be determined in part by the marketealfiour ordinary shares, which is subject to cleamge held for the production of, or produce,
passive income, we would be characterized as avpdeseign investment company, or PFIC, for Unifdtes federal income tax purposes. Based
on the composition of our gross income and grosstasnd the nature of our business, we expecivthatere a PFIC for the taxable years ending
December 31, 2012 and 2013 and that we may be@ feFthe taxable year ending December 31, 20120[kb and for future years, our status as a
passive foreign investment company will also depemévhether we are a “controlled foreign corporatifor U.S. federal income tax purposes, how
quickly we utilize the cash proceeds from our IP@ur business and other factors. If we are a P&1Q014 or any subsequent year, U.S. holders of
our shares may suffer adverse tax consequencess €ailized by non-corporate U.S. holders on tleecfeour ordinary shares would be taxed as
ordinary income, rather than as capital gain, &edpreferential tax rate applicable to dividend=ieed on our ordinary shares would be lost. Istere
charges would also be added to taxes on gainsisitiegtids realized by all U.S. holders.
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A U.S. holder may avoid these adverse tax consegsdoy timely making a qualified electing fund élee. For each year that we would meet
the PFIC gross income or asset test, an electiSghalder would be required to include in gros®ine its pro rata share of our net ordinary income
and net capital gains, if any. A U.S. holder maykena qualified electing fund election only if wenzmit to provide U.S. holders with their pro rata
share of our net ordinary income and net capitalsg8ecause we intend to provide this informat®hl.S. holder should be eligible to make a
qualified electing fund election.

A U.S. holder may also mitigate the adverse taxseqnences of being a PFIC by timely making a mausdrket election. Generally, for each
year that we would meet the PFIC gross income setasst, an electing U.S. holder would includgrizss income the increase in the value ¢
shares during each of its taxable years and déchmtgross income the decrease in the value of shales during each of its taxable years. A mark-
to-market election may be made and maintained ibolyr shares are regularly traded on a qualifiechange. While we anticipate that these
requirements will be satisfied following our IPOhe&ther our shares are regularly traded on a gedlékchange is an annual determination based on
facts that, in part, are beyond our control. Acaugty, we can provide no assurances that a U.Slenalill be eligible to make a mark-to-market
election. You should consult your own tax adviset@the specific tax consequences to you in tkatewe are characterized as a PFIC for the
taxable year ending December 31, 2014.

The financial reporting obligations of being a puiglcompany require significant company resourcestamanagement attention.

We are subject to the public company reportinggattions under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended, or the Exchange Act, and
the rules and regulations regarding corporate gwarere practices, including those under the Sarb@mksy Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumeretin Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, and the listiegjuirements of the NASDAQ Global
Market, or the NASDAQ. As a result, we have incdrr@nd will continue to incur, significant legatcaunting and other expenses that we did not
incur as a private company, particularly after wergo longer an “emerging growth company” as defimethe JOBS Act. Further, the need to
establish the corporate infrastructure demandedpmiblic company may divert management’s atterftimm implementing our growth strategy. We
have made, and will continue to make, changes teéayorate governance standards, disclosure dernal financial reporting and accounting
systems to meet our reporting obligations. Any glesrthat we make to comply with these obligatioay mot be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our
obligations as a public company on a timely bagigt all, which could subject us to delisting of gommon shares, fines, sanctions and other
regulatory action and potentially civil litigatiom addition, we incur significant legal, accoumgtimeporting and other expenses in order to mairgai
listing on the NASDAQ. These expenses relate ta@ragrother things, the obligation to present finahitiformation according to U.S. GAAP in the
United States. We are also required to comply we&ttiain disclosure and filing requirements undeliapble securities laws in Canada as a reporting
issuer in certain provinces.

If we fail to satisfy applicable listing standards)cluding regaining compliance with the $1.00 mimium bid price requirement, our common
stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ Global Market

On January 29, 2015, we received a letter fronLibing Qualifications Department of The NASDAQ S&ktaMarket notifying us that the
consolidated closing bid price of our common sthakl been below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutisindss days and that we were therefore r
compliance with the minimum bid price requiremestdontinued listing on the NASDAQ, as set fortiMarketplace Rule 5450(a)(1). The
notification from The NASDAQ Stock Market does haive an immediate effect on the listing of our camrmatock and our common stock will
continue to trade on the NASDAQ under the symb@&HS". The NASDAQ Stock Market also stated inéitdr that, in accordance with
Marketplace Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we have been predid grace period of 180 calendar days, or urltil 28, 2015, to regain compliance with the
minimum consolidated closing bid price requiremfentcontinued listing. Compliance will be regainédur consolidated closing bid price is at or
above $1.00 for at least 10 consecutive trading @aytime during the 180-day grace period.

There can be no assurances that we will be abkgtin compliance with the minimum consolidatedsitlg bid price requirement or
maintain compliance with this and any other NASDKsfing requirements. Delisting from the NASDAQubd adversely affect our ability to raise
additional financing through the public or privatde of equity securities, would significantly aff¢he ability of investors to trade our securites
would negatively affect the value and liquidityafr common stock. Delisting could also have otlegrative results, including the potential loss of
confidence by employees, the loss of institutionaéstor interest and fewer business developmeporpnities. If our common stock is delisted by
the NASDAQ the price of our common stock may dexkmd our common stock may be eligible to tradéherOTC Bulletin Board, another over-
the-counter quotation system, or on the pink sheb&se an investor may find it more difficult tasgose of their common stock or obtain accurate
guotations as to the market value of our commocksteurther, if we are delisted, we would incuriéiddal costs under state blue sky laws in
connection with any sales of our securities. Thiegairements could severely limit the market ligtyidf our common stock and the ability of our
stockholders to sell our common stock in the seapncharket.
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The price of our common shares is likely to be higlvolatile, and you could lose all or part of yoimvestment.

Prior to our IPO in 2013, there was no public mafee our common shares in the United States. Tdmtinig price of our common shares has
been volatile and is likely to continue to be viddahnd could be subject to wide fluctuations isp@nse to various factors, some of which are beyond
our control, including limited trading volume. Iddition to the other risk factors discussed in Hastion, these factors include:

. the commencement, enrollment or results ofamgoing and future clinical trials of PRX302 or nbas in the development status of
PRX302;

. any adverse development or perceived adwergelopment with respect to our submission of & Bb.the FDA for PRX302;

. unanticipated serious safety concerns rel@tede use of PRX302;

. adverse regulatory decisions, includinguialto receive regulatory approval for PRX302;

. our decision to initiate a clinical trialptnto initiate a clinical trial or to terminate aristing clinical trial;

. our ability to obtain resources for us and dinical trial programs on our desired schedule;

. inability to obtain adequate commercial dygpr any approved product or inability to do daaceptable prices;

. developments concerning our commercial gastrincluding but not limited to, those with maaxtiirers;

. competition from existing technologies amdducts or new technologies and products that masrge;

. announcements of significant acquisitions, stratpgrtnerships, joint ventures, new products, eapa@mmitments or other events by

or our competitors;

. the inability to establish collaborationstermination of a collaboration;

. actual or anticipated variations in our dedy operating results;

. failure to meet the estimates and projestiofithe investment community or that we may otlesvprovide to the public;
. our cash position;

. announcement or expectation of additionariring efforts;

. issuances of debt or equity securities;

. our inability to successfully enter new masker develop additional product candidates;

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our qutitors’ operating results or changes in theimghorate;

. sales of our common shares by us, or oweslotders in the future;

. trading volume of our common shares on theSRAQ and price;

. market conditions in our industry;

. overall performance of the equity markets gaderal political and economic conditions;

. introduction of new products or servicesusyor our competitors;

. additions or departures of key managemeignsfic or other personnel;

. publication of research reports about us oridustry or positive or negative recommendationwithdrawal of research coverage by

securities or industry analysts;

. changes in the market valuation of similampanies;
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. disputes or other developments related to extallal property and other proprietary rights, idahg patents, litigation matters and our
ability to obtain patent protection for our techogies and product candidates;

. changes in laws or regulations and policiediegiple to product candidates, including but nwotited to clinical trial requirements for
approvals;

. changes in accounting practices;

. significant lawsuits, including patent or s#fzolder litigation; and

. other events or factors, many of which agdnd our control.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have aéigéetnd continue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many companies. €Hfkgtuations often have been unrelated or diggtamate to the operating performance of those
companies. These broad market and industry fluictostas well as general economic, political andketaconditions such as recessions, interest rate
changes or international currency fluctuations, megatively impact the market price of our commbarss.

Sales of a substantial number of our common shaneshe public market by our existing shareholdersud cause our share price to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of our common shiarte public market or the perception that thedessmight occur, could depress the ma
price of our common shares and could impair ouitatd raise capital through the sale of additibeguity securities. We are unable to predict the
effect that sales may have on the prevailing markee of our common shares.

Certain holders of our common shares are entidetyhts with respect to the registration of thexiares under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act. Registration ofetghares under the Securities Act would resultershares becoming freely tradable without
restriction under the Securities Act, except farsis held by our affiliates as defined in Rule Widder the Securities Act. Any sales of securitigs b
these shareholders could have a material adveisa efi the trading price of our common shares.

Future sales and issuances of our common sharesights to purchase common shares by us, includingguant to our equity incentive plan,
could result in additional dilution of the percentge ownership of our shareholders and could cause share price to fall.

We expect that significant additional capital vei# needed in the future to continue our plannedatip@s, including commercialization effor
expanded research and development activities astd associated with operating as a public compbBmyhe extent we raise additional capital by
issuing equity or convertible securities, our shatders may experience substantial dilution. We sellycommon shares, convertible securities or
other equity securities in one or more transactairgices and in a manner we determine from tortérie. If we sell common shares, convertible
securities or other equity securities in more thae transaction, investors may be materially diluig subsequent sales. Such sales may also nesult |
material dilution to our existing shareholders, aed investors could gain rights superior to ousting shareholders.

Pursuant to our equity incentive plan, our managenseauthorized to grant options to our employeé@gctors and consultants. The number of
shares available for future grant under our plaegisal to 10% of all shares of our issued and antihg common shares at any time. Currently, the
number of shares available for issuance under quityeincentive plan each year automatically insemsawhen we issue additional common shares. If
our board of directors elects to grant addition@lans each year our shareholders may experierdieaml dilution, which could cause our share
price to fall.

We are at risk of securities class action litigatio

In the past, securities class action litigation dfisn been brought against a company following@lide in the market price of its securities.
For example, following our announcement in Decen284.4 that the IDMC for our on-going Phase 3 chitrial completed the planned, protocol-
specified administrative analysis of efficacy andrfd that the predefined efficacy threshold at wE2kvas not achieved for patients in the trial, the
trading price of our common stock sharply declin&die to changes in the volatility of our stockcpriwe may be the target of securities litigation i
the future. If we face such litigation, it couldstdt in substantial costs and a diversion of mamege’s attention and resources, which could harmr
business.
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We do not intend to pay dividends on our commongsaso any returns will be limited to the valueair shares.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividemrmbomommon shares. We currently anticipate thatillagetain future earnings for the
development, operation and expansion of our busiard do not anticipate declaring or paying any cirgdends for the foreseeable future. Our
Oxford loan also contains a negative covenant wprohibits us from paying dividends without thegonivritten consent of Oxford. Any return to
shareholders will therefore be limited to the irse, if any, of our share price.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we canta certain if the reduced reporting requirementsgicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common shares less attreetio investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthénJOBS Act. For as long as we continue to benzerging growth company, we may
take advantage of exemptions from various reporéngirements that are applicable to other puldioganies that are not emerging growth
companies, including not being required to compihwhe auditor attestation requirements of Sectios of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compmsén our periodic reports and proxy statemeni$ exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive pensation and shareholder approval of any goldesichate payments not previously approved.
We could be an emerging growth company for upue fiears, although circumstances could cause losechat status earlier, including if the
market value of our common shares held by noniatii exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 befaretime or if we have total annual gross
revenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscaby before that time, in which cases we would mgés be an emerging growth company as of the
following December 31, or if we issue more tharOddillion in non-convertible debt during any thrgzar period before that time, in which case we
would no longer be an emerging growth company iniatety. Even after we no longer qualify as an ermgrgrowth company, we may still qualify
as a “smaller reporting companyhich would allow us to take advantage of manyhefs¢ame exemptions from disclosure requirementsdimg not
being required to comply with the auditor attestatiequirements of Section 404 of the SarbanesyOXi¢ and reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodiores and proxy statements. We cannot predicwviéstors will find our common shares less
attractive because we may rely on these exemptibssme investors find our common shares lesagtitre as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our common shares and our ghidce may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies &smaelay adopting new or revised accounting statgdantil such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We havedoahly elected not to avail ourselves of this exéongrom new or revised accounting standards
and, therefore, will be subject to the same nevevised accounting standards as other public corapdnat are not emerging growth companies.

Our charter documents, certain related party contta and certain Canadian legislation could delay @eter a change of control, limit attempts
by our shareholders to replace or remove our curtemanagement and limit the market price of our coromshares.

Our authorized preferred shares are availableskraince from time to time at the discretion oftmard of directors, without shareholder
approval. Our articles grant our board of directbesauthority, subject to the BCBCA, to deterntime special rights and restrictions granted to or

imposed on any unissued series of preferred shamdghose rights may be superior to those of ommaon shares.

In addition, provisions in the BCBCA and in ourielgs, may have the effect of delaying or preventhanges in our management, including
provisions that:

. prohibit cumulative voting in the electiohdirectors; and

. require the approval of our board of directorshe holders of a supermajority of our outstagdihare capital to amend our articles and
our notice of articles.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterny our shareholders to replace or remove ouectimanagement by making it more

difficult for shareholders to replace members aflooard of directors, which is responsible for @appog the members of our management. Any of
the foregoing could prevent or delay a change ofroband may deprive or limit strategic opportigstto our shareholders to sell their shares.
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Risks Related To Being A Canadian Entity

We are governed by the corporate laws in Britishl@uabia, Canada which in some cases have a differeffect on shareholders than the
corporate laws in Delaware, United States.

The material differences between the BCBCA as coatptd the Delaware General Corporation Law, oL, which may be of most
interest to shareholders include the followingfd¢i) material corporate transactions (such as merged amalgamations, other extraordinary
corporate transactions, amendments to our artithesBCBCA generally requires two-thirds majorityte by shareholders, whereas DGCL generally
only requires a majority vote of shareholders forilar material corporate transactions; (ii) theogum for shareholders meetings is not prescribed
under the BCBCA and is only two persons represgrii of the issued shares under our articles, vasarader DGCL, quorum requires a minimum
of one-third of the shares entitled to vote to bespnt and companies’ certificates of incorporatiequently require a higher percentage to be
present; (iii) under the BCBCA a holder of 5% ormnof our common shares can requisition a specégitimg at which any matters that can be voted
on at our annual meeting can be considered, whéned3GCL does not give this right; (iv) our aréislrequire two-thirds majority vote by
shareholders to pass a resolution for one or miceetdrs to be removed, whereas DGCL only requhiesaffirmative vote of a majority of the
stockholders; however, many public company chatieris removal of directors to a removal for cauaad (v) our articles may be amended by
resolution of our directors to alter our authoriabdre structure, including to (a) consolidateutndévide any of our shares and (b) create additiona
classes or series of shares, whereas under DG@hjaity vote by shareholders is generally requicedmend a corporation’s certificate of
incorporation and a separate class vote may bereebio authorize alterations to a corporation’thatized share structure. We cannot predict if
investors will find our common shares less attkechecause of these material differences. If sowestors find our common shares less attractive as
a result, there may be a less active trading méoketur common shares and our share price maydse wolatile.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in San D@ajdornia. The facility we lease encompasses@pmately 2,002 square feet of office
space. The lease for this facility expires in M&L2. We believe that our facility is sufficientriteet our needs and that suitable additional spdte w
be available as and when needed.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently party to any material legalgeedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Part II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stodholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seaities

Our common shares are currently traded on the NAQ@Aobal Market, or the NASDAQ, under the symboPtES.” Prior to our initial public
offering on the NASDAQ on August 16, 2013 we weealed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TSX, uttdesymbol “SHS.” For the period from
August 16, 2013 to November 13, 2013 we were dsi@d on both the NASDAQ and the TSX. Effective Bmber 13, 2013, we voluntarily delist
our common shares from the TSX.

The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices for our common shares for the periodalgrl, 2013 through November 13, 2013,
on the TSX, quoted in Canadian Dollars and Aug6s2D13 through December 31, 2014 on the NASDA@{eplin United States Dollars. The hi
and low sales prices below reflect the 52-for-Jerse share consolidation which was effected on ALg§u2013.

NASDAQ TSX
Uss$ Uss$ CND$ CND$

2013 High Low High Low

First Quarter — — 8 1532 $ 8.8¢4

Second Quarter — — 18.2( 10.4C

Third Quarter (commencing August 16, 2013 for NASDA  $ 50 $ 4.1C 14.8: 4.3C

Fourth Quarter (ending November 13, 2013 for TSX) 4.8 3.5C 5.0¢ 4.3¢€
2014

First Quarter $ 5.1 $ 3.2z — —

Second Quarter 3.73 2.1C — —

Third Quarter 3.3 2.2t — —

Fourth Quarter 3.2t 0.4z — —

Holders of Record

As of January 31, 2015, there were approximatelgt&teholders of record of our common shares, whidhded Cede & Co., a nominee for
Depository Trust Company, or DTC, and CDS & Cmpainee for The Canadian Depository for Securltigls, or CDS. Common shares that are
held by financial institutions as nominees for & owners are deposited into participant acdesat either DTC or CDS, and are considered to be
held of record by Cede & Co. or CDS & Co. as orersholder.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comrhares since inception and do not anticipate pagasi dividends in the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain all availabl@ds and any future earnings to support our dgermand finance the growth and development of
our business. Our Oxford Loan contains a negativerant which prohibits us from paying dividendshwut the prior written consent of Oxford
Finance LLC.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans
Information about our equity compensation plariaésrporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Raof this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Use of Proceeds

On August 16, 2013, we commenced our initial pubffering on the NASDAQ pursuant to a RegistratBiatement on Form S-1 (File
No. 33:-186724) that was declared effective by the Sdesrand Exchange Commission on August 16, 2013taidegistered our common shares
with a maximum aggregate offering price of $74.8iori. On August 23, 2013, we sold 13,000,000 of cammon shares to the public at a price of
$5.00 per share for an aggregate gross offerirg fi $65 million. The offering has now terminatadd consequently we may not sell under the
registration statement the 1,950,000 shares whége wreviously subject to a 30-day option in favbthe underwriters of the offering.

The underwriting discounts and commissions in cotioe with the offering totaled $4.6 million. Wecrred additional costs of $3.4 million
offering expenses, which when added to the undengrdiscounts and commissions paid by us, amountéotal fees and costs of $8.0 million.
Thus, the net offering proceeds to us, after dedgietnderwriting discounts and commissions andrffecosts, were $57.0 million. No offering
costs were paid directly or indirectly to any of directors or officers (or their associates) arspas owning 10% or more of any class of our equity
securities or to any other affiliates.
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As of December 31, 2014, we have utilized $25.0ionilof the net proceeds from our IPO to fund atitg associated with our first Phase 3
clinical trial for PRX302, $7.4 million for generebrporate purposes and $9.4 million for princimadi interest payments on our term loan with
Oxford Finance LLC.

We intend to use the remainder of the net proceedsmplete the first Phase 3 clinical trial of P02 and to fund other ongoing clinical
development of PRX302, in addition to making mopihlincipal and interest payments on our term hvith Oxford Finance LLC. We will use any
remaining proceeds from the offering for generapooeate purposes. The amounts and timing of aetyanditures depend on numerous factors,
including the ongoing status of and results fromichl trials as well as any unforeseen cash needs.

Repurchases of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of equity securitiesguhie fourth quarter of 2014.

ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following data has been derived from our audiieancial statements, including the consoliddiathnce sheets at December 31, 2014 and
2013 and the related consolidated statements ohtipes and comprehensive loss for the three yeated December 31, 2014 and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FAODAK1The statement of operations data for the geaed December 31, 2010 and the balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 avediérom our audited consolidated financial statats that are not included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. You should read the seledtehtial data set forth below in conjunction witidnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” andfinancial statements and related notes inclideswhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ — 3% 5000 $ — % — % 3,00(
Operating expenses:
Research and development 24,70¢ 10,27¢ 13,52 8,66( 4,78¢
General and administrative 5,33¢ 4,511 5,68¢ 4,63¢ 2,55¢
Total operating expenses 30,04( 14,79( 19,20¢ 13,29t 7,348
Loss from operations (30,040 (9,790 (29,209) (13,299 (4,349
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (72€) (2,309 (2,98¢) (950 —
Interest income 51 — 10¢€ 55 24
Gain on revaluation of warrant liability 49 68¢ — — —
Other income (expense), net (46) (240 (10€) (112) 221
Total other income (expense) (672) (859) (1,986 (90€) 24E
Net loss before income tax expel (30,719 (10,649 (21,199 (14,207 (4,097)
Income tax expense — (500 — — (315
Net loss $ (30,719 $ (11,149 $ (21,199 $ (14,20) $ (4,412
Basic and diluted net loss per common sk&r@ $ (1.85) $ (1.39 $ (6.99 $ (6.09) $ (2.37)
Weighted average shares used to calculate nepéoss
common sharé) (2) 16,58¢ 8,02¢ 3,054 2,34¢ 1,861

(1) See Note 4 of our Notes to the Consolidatedriiah Statements for an explanation of the methsmtio calculate the basic and diluted net
loss per common share and the number of sharesrnutigelcomputation of the per share amounts.
() Reflects the 52-for-1 share consolidation of cammon shares.

50




As of December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
(In thousands)

Cash, cash equivalents and securities availabledier $ 22,698 $ 48,14¢ $ 9,721 $ 23,41C $ 12,38:
Working capital 19,99¢ 41,26 81t 17,94« 10,75(
Total assets 25,59! 51,89: 11,52¢ 24,80( 13,25¢
Promissory notes, including current portion 5,941 6,871 12,02: 14,70: —
Warrant liability — 88:¢ — — —
Stock-based compensation liability 22 20z — — —
Accumulated deficit (115,559 (84,84°) (73,69¢) (52,509 (38,309
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) 14,68¢ 40,27¢ (5,105 6,997 11,29¢
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and ansliysconjunction with “ltem 8. Financial Statemerand Supplementary Data” included
below in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Operatirgults are not necessarily indicative of resthist may occur in future periods.

This discussion and analysis contains forwlrdking statements that involve a number of riskgertainties and assumptions. Actual even
results may differ materially from our expectatiomportant factors that could cause actual restdtsliffer materially from those stated or implied
by our forward-looking statements include, but ae¢ limited to, those set forth in “Item 1A. Ris&dtors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All
forward-looking statements included in this Annual Reparform 10-K are based on information availableitoas of the time we file this Annual
Report on Form 1-K and, except as required by law, we undertakelrliation to update publicly or revise any forwdmbking statements.

All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollartess otherwise noted. All amounts converted froma@en dollars to U.S. dollars are
calculated using the conversion rate as of Decer8ie2014 unless otherwise noted .

Overview
Background

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical companydged on developing innovative products for thattnent of urological diseases. We are
headquartered in San Diego, California and our comahares currently trade on the NASDAQ Global Mgrkr the NASDAQ. We are currently
developing PRX302 as a treatment for the symptdrbgiign prostatic hyperplasia, or BPH, commonfgmed to as an enlarged prostate and as a
treatment of localized low to intermediate riskgiede cancer. In 2004, we licensed exclusive righBBRX302 from UVIC Industry Partnerships It
or UVIC, and The Johns Hopkins University, or Johlopkins, for the treatment of prostate canceRd@9, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302
from UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., or UVIC, afile Johns Hopkins University, or Johns Hopkinsfiertreatment of the symptoms of BPH. In
April 2010, we entered into an exclusive licenseeagent with Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., msKi, pursuant to which we granted Kissei the
right to develop and commercialize PRX302 in Jdipathe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, prostatgcer, prostatitis or other diseases of the
prostate.

In October 2013 we initiated the first Phase 3icéihtrial, which we often refer to as the “PLUSAtial, of PRX302 for the treatment of the
lower urinary tract symptoms of BPH. We completadbiment of 479 patients in the PLUS-1 study ipt®enber 2014 and expect to have final
results of the trial in the fourth quarter of 20Ihis Phase 3 clinical trial uses the InternatidPralstate Symptom Score, or IPSS, outcome measure
evaluated over 52 weeks as the primary endpoircbr@kary endpoints include Qmax (maximum urine flohange from baseline over 52 weeks.
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In December 2014, the Independent Data Monitoriogn@ittee, or IDMC, completed a planned, protoca@esfied administrative interim
analysis of efficacy based on the IPSS change baseline to Week 12 for all 479 patients dosethénRLUS-1 trial. The protocol-specified
administrative interim analysis of efficacy seheeshold at 12 weeks defined as an IPSS treatrffent ef > 2.0 points favoring PRX302 over
vehicle-only (i.e. average IPSS total score chdraya baseline (CFB) for PRX302 minus IPSS CFB fehiezle-only). The IDMC reported that the
predefined efficacy threshold at week 12 was nbieaed. This administrative interim analysis wasdwcted specifically for planning subsequent
clinical trials. The ongoing PLUS-1 trial is unaffed by this recommendation, and all patients éntttal will continue to be followed to enable the
evaluation of the primary efficacy endpoint at 52elks. Simultaneously with this administrative imteefficacy analysis, the IDMC completed its
fifth and final periodic analysis of unblinded sgfdata and reported no safety concerns. There meevents of sepsis reported post administration
of PRX302 in this trial. The company and its repraatives have remained blinded to the resulthisfadministrative analysis and will continue to
remain blinded throughout the duration of the studl after the database is locked at the conetusi the 52 week trial. In order to seek regulator
approval for PRX302 for the treatment of the symmaf BPH, we would be required to conduct a se®make 3 clinical trial and we do not expect
to commence any additional Phase 3 clinical tratiout receiving favorable results from the PLU®i&l and unless we raise the additional funds
required to conduct the second Phase 3 clinicl tri

We plan to initiate a Phase 2 proof of conceptystfd®RX302 for the treatment of localized low mbeirmediate risk prostate cancer prior tc
end of the first half of 2015. PRX302 has been eegfied to be activated by enzymatically active tatesspecific antigen (PSA), which is found in
the transition zone of the prostate as well agastate cancer cells. The highly targeted mechabismhich PRX302 selectively destroys prostate
tissue in BPH also makes PRX302 a promising treatmgproach for localized prostate cancer. In 28@4licensed exclusive rights to PRX302 fi
UVIC and Johns Hopkins for the treatment of pr@statncer.

Kissei Pharmaceuticals License Agreement

In April 2010, the Company entered into an excladigense agreement for the development and conmlization of PRX302 (and other
products covered by the licensed patent). The agaewith Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a Jeparpharmaceutical company, or Kissei covers
the development and commercialization of PRX302aipan for the treatment of the symptoms of BPHstate cancer, prostatitis or other diseast
the prostate. Pursuant to the agreement in 20@GC¢émpany received an upfront license payment df 88llion. The Company has determined that
the deliverables under this agreement includedickase, the transfer of relevant technical infaioraand participation in a periodic development
meeting. The Company recognized the entire upfioatse payment upon receipt as the license waseléo have stand-alone value and no
significant undelivered performance obligations evielentified in connection with the license.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynenorded as revenue a $5.0 million non-refundablestantive milestone payment due
from Kissei upon the achievement of certain develent activities during this period. In accordandthwhe Company’s revenue recognition policy,
the Company recognizes the receipt of milestoneneays in accordance with the milestone methoderp#riod in which the underlying triggering
event occurs.

PRX302 License Agreement for BPH

In 2009, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302arrah agreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins wigipeet to the use of PRX302 for the
treatment of the symptoms of BPH and other non-eadiseases and conditions of the prostate, witleitteption of prostate cancer. The license
agreement requires us to make payments of CND$illiBrmor $1.2 million, as converted, on the aal@ment of certain clinical and regulatory
milestones and to pay royalties on commercial safiessulting products. During the year ended Ddzem31, 2013, we expensed a $0.1 million
milestone payment due under the license agreenpemt the completion of our last Phase 2b clinidal grior to commencing a Phase 3 clinical trial.
This amount was recorded as research and develdgxeense. In addition, in the second quarter 4820e paid UVIC and Johns Hopkins a sub-
license royalty of $0.4 million payable under tleehse agreement associated with our $5.0 millidestone payment from Kissei. This amount was
recorded as a component of research and develomxpanse.

From the inception of the agreement, we have iecusub-license fees of $0.6 million and milestoagnpents of $0.1 million under this
agreement.

PRX302 License Agreement for Prostate Cancer

In 2004, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302tf@r treatment of prostate cancer under an agreemignUVIC and Johns Hopkins. We
have agreed to make cumulative milestone paymenetstbe lifecycle of PRX302 of up to CND$3.6 miliicor $3.4 million, as converted, on the
achievement of certain clinical and regulatory stimes and to pay royalties on commercial saleespfiting products. From the inception of the
agreement, we have paid milestone payments of CND#0lion, or $0.1 million, applying the historiceonversion rate at each payment date. We
have to date completed two clinical trials in patsewith prostate cancer.
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Financial Operations Overview
Revenues

Our revenues to date consist of a $3.0 million nagpf payment received from Kissei in 2010 and & $5illion non-refundable milestone
payment for our achievement of certain developraetivities in 2013. We have no products approvedéde, and we have not generated any
revenues from product sales.

Other than potential development milestones fross&i, we do not expect to receive any revenues RBX302 until we obtain regulatory
approval and commercialize such product or untipetentially enter into additional collaborativer@gments with third parties for the development
and commercialization of PRX302, which additiongdeeements will not likely occur until we compleketdevelopment of PRX302. If our
development efforts for PRX302, or the efforts dsd€i or any future collaborator, result in clidisaccess and regulatory approval or collaboration
agreements with other third parties, we may geagrtenues from PRX302. However, we may never gémeevenues from PRX302 as we or any
collaborator may never succeed in obtaining regyaapproval or commercializing this product.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses can be driveninyber of factors including: (a) the scope afichl development and research
programs pursued; (b) the type and size of clirtigals undertaken; (c) the number of clinical Igithat are active during a particular period ofej
(d) the rate of patient enrollment; (e) regulatacfivities to support the clinical programs; and@hemistry, Manufacturing and Controls, or CMC,
activities associated with process developmenteagaand manufacture of drugs used in clinical triated such expenses are ultimately a functic
decisions made to continue the development anish@est a product candidate based on supportingysafel efficacy results from clinical trial.

The majority of our operating expenses to date e incurred in research and development aeiviglated to PRX302. Research and
development expenses include:

. external research and development expensesé@tcunder agreements with clinical research orggioizs, or CROs, and investigative
sites and clinical trial costs, as well as paymémtsonsultants;

. employee related expenses, including salaresefits, travel and stock-based compensation egpens
. third-party manufacturing expenses; and
. facilities, depreciation and other allocated enges.

We expense research and development costs asddcMvie account for nonrefundable advance paymentgobds and services that will be
used in future research and development activdtiesxpenses when the service has been perfornvgteorthe goods have been consumed. Sinc
inception in January 2002 through December 31, 2@&4ave incurred a total of $84.6 million in ras# and development expenses.

At this time, due to the risks inherent in the iclad trial process and given the early stage ofgyoduct development program, we are unable to
estimate with any certainty the costs we will incuthe continued development of PRX302 for potrdpproval and commercialization. Clinical
development timelines, the probability of success development costs can differ materially frometptions. However, we do expect our research
and development expenses to continue for the feadde future as we advance PRX302 through ourRinsise 3 clinical trial for the treatment of
symptoms of BPH and we initiate a proof of conctptly of PRX302 for localized low to intermediaigkrprostate cancer. The process of
conducting clinical trials necessary to obtain tagary approval is costly and time consuming. Aaiure by us or delay in completing clinical trials
or in obtaining regulatory approvals, could leadnizreased research and development expense andnpjmave a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries and related benefits, including ktbased compensation, related to our
executive, finance, business development, marketreh and support functions. Other general andréstnative expenses include allocated facility-
related costs not otherwise included in researchdavelopment expenses, travel expenses, marlestrobsexpenses and professional fees for
auditing, tax, investor relations and legal servid&'e expect that general and administrative exgetesremain fairly consistent over the next year
but we do expect that general and administratiyperses will increase as move towards commerciaizaf our drug candidates in future periods.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily represents interestigayta Oxford Finance, LLC, or Oxford, amortizatiohour debt discount and issuance costs
associated with both our original loan and our h@am with Oxford.

Interest Income
We earn interest income from interest-bearing @ghinvestment accounts.
Gain on Revaluation of Warrant Liability

We changed our functional currency from the Canadillar to the U.S. dollar subsequent to the cesiquh of our initial public offering on tt
NASDAQ effective August 16, 201

Subsequent to the change in functional curreneyQbmpany calculates the fair value of its warravitls exercise prices in Canadian dollars
utilizing the Black Scholes pricing model and cified this fair value as a long term liability it@rdance with Accounting Standards Codification,
or ASC, 815, ‘Derivatives and Hedging At each reporting period subsequent to the ckdanghe Company’s functional currency, we adjusked
fair value of the warrant liability and any correggling increase or decrease to the warrant lighilill be recorded as a component of other expense
on the consolidated statement of operations angoetmensive loss.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net consists primarily of foreigohexge gains and losses and on occasion incontbermiscellaneous expenses. Foreign
exchange gains and losses result from the settkeofidéoreign currency transactions and from theeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than our functionalency.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmets and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéial condition and results of operations is basedur consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in conformity with gergm@cepted accounting principles in the Unitedé&taThe preparation of our financial statem
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets and liadsliind the revenues and expenses incurred during
the reported periods. We base our estimates ooritiat experience and on various other factorsweabelieve are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the bfmsisnaking judgments about the carrying value aeésand liabilities that are not apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from thesimates under different assumptions or condition

While our significant accounting policies are désed in the notes to our consolidated financiaksteents appearing at the end of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the followamgounting policies are critical to understanding avaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition

The Company may enter into product developmentemgeats with collaborative partners for the researchdevelopment of products for the
treatment of urological diseases. The terms oftreements may include nonrefundable signing @edding fees, milestone payments and royalties
on any product sales derived from collaboratiorigesE multiple element arrangements are analyzéetésmine whether the deliverables can be
separated or whether they must be accounted fisagjle unit of accounting. License fees are reizagl as revenue when persuasive evidence
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determiad#livery or performance has substantially cotegl@nd collection is reasonably assured.

The Company recognizes up front license paymentsveesue upon delivery of the license only if tieemse has stand-alone value to the
customer and if the agreement includes a gengtat of return, the delivery or performance of uindsed items is considered probable and within
the control of the Company. The payment is geneedlbcated to the separate units of accountingda® their relative selling prices. The selling
price of each deliverable is determined using vesgecific objective evidence of selling pricest ixists; otherwise, third-party evidence of isgl
prices. If neither vendor specific objective evidemor third-party evidence exists, the Company itsebest estimate of the selling price for each
deliverable. The payment allocated is limited t® #&mount that is not contingent on the delivergdditional items or fulfillment of other
performance conditions.

Whenever the Company determines that an arrangeshentd be accounted for as a single unit of ad@oginit must determine the period o
which the performance obligations will be perfornzetl revenue recognized. If the Company cannobnedidy estimate the timing and the level of
effort to complete its performance obligations uritte arrangement, then revenue under the arrangeésecognized on a straight-line basis over
the period the Company is expected to complefeeitiormance obligations.
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The Company evaluates milestone payments on avidlodil basis and recognizes revenue from non-refiledmilestone payments when the
earnings process is complete and the paymentssmahly assured. Non-refundable milestone paymmelated to arrangements under which the
Company has continuing performance obligationgecegnized as revenue upon achievement of theiassenilestone, provided that (i) the
milestone event is substantive and its achievghilds not reasonably assured at the inceptionecgiteement and (ii) the amount of the milestone
payment is reasonable in relation to the efforteexjed or the risk associated with the milestonateyy amounts received under agreements in
advance of performance, if deemed substantivaeamded as deferred revenue and recognized asuewes the Company completes its
performance obligations. A milestone event is adei®d substantive if (i) the milestone is commeaiguwith either (a) the Company’s performance
to achieve the milestone or (b) the enhancemetiteofalue of the delivered item(s) as a result gpecific outcome resulting from the Company’s
performance to achieve the milestone; (ii) it regagolely to past performance and (iii) it is reedie relative to all of the deliverables and payime
terms (including other potential milestone consadien) within the arrangement. If any portion o timilestone payment does not relate to the
Company’s performance, does not relate solely sb parformance or is refundable or adjustable basddture performance, the milestone is not
considered to be substantive. Milestone paymeetsairbifurcated into substantive and non-substartbmponents. Payments related to the
achievement of non-substantive milestones is dsdesind recognized over the Company’s remainingopagnce period.

Royalty revenue will be recognized upon the saléhefrelated products provided the Company hagmaining performance obligations un
the arrangement.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

Clinical trial costs are recorded as a componenéséarch and development expenses. The Compamea@nd expenses clinical trial
activities performed by third parties based updimeges of the percentage of work completed oftdte work over the life of the individual study in
accordance with agreements established with clinésearch organizations and clinical trial sifH#se Company determines the estimates through
discussions with internal clinical personnel anteexal service providers as to the progress oesthgompletion of trials or services and the adree
upon fee to be paid for such services based os &t circumstances known to the Company as oflesehce sheet date. However, actual cost
timing of clinical trials are highly uncertain, gabt to risks and may change depending upon a nuaflfactors, including our clinical development
plan.

If the actual timing of the performance of servioeshe level of effort varies from the estimatee Company will adjust the accrual
accordingly. Adjustments to prior period estimdtase not been material.

Examples of estimated accrued research and develdmrpenses include:

. fees paid to clinical research organizationsannection with clinical studies;

. fees paid to investigative sites in connectigthwlinical studies;

. fees paid to vendors in connection with preclihidevelopment activities;

. fees paid to vendors associated with the dewedop of companion diagnostics; and

. fees paid to vendors related to product manufam, development and distribution of clinical plips.

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and ssrttiat will be used or rendered in future reseanthdevelopment activities are recorded
as a prepaid expense and recognized as experigeperiod that the related goods are consumednadcse are performed.
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Essentially all of our research and developmenersgs related to PRX302 during the years endedniimre31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. We
recognized research and development expensed@sddin thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Clinical research and development $ 20,60¢ $ 7132 $ 7,078
Pre-clinical research and development 2 5 1,14¢
Manufacturing 3,452 2,82¢ 5,151
Stock-based compensation expense 65C 311 14¢
$ 24,70¢ $ 10,27¢ $ 13,52

Stock-based Compensation

We expense the fair value of employee stock optivmes the vesting period. Stock-based compensatipense is measured using the fair
value of the award at the grant date, net of eséichforfeitures, and is adjusted annually to reféetual forfeitures. The fair value of each stock-
based award is estimated using the Black-Scholengmodel and is expensed using graded vestieg ine vesting period.

We recognized stock-based compensation expensd@ss (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $ 65C $ 311 $ 14¢
General and administrative 1,441 863 52¢
Total $ 2,091 $ 1,17« $ 67€

As of December 31, 2014 there was $0.7 millionrmeeognized compensation costs related to nondasbek options. As of December 31,
2014 we expect to recognize those costs over waighterage periods of approximately 1.1 years.

The fair value of options granted during the yeatesl December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were estirmatbe date of grant using the
following assumptions:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected life of the option term (years) 3.7 3.¢ 3.8
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 0.€% 1.2%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Volatility 76.2% 83.8% 73.%%
Forfeiture rate 5.2% 8.1% 9.C%

Expected Life of the Option TerniThis is the period of time that the options geardre expected to remain unexercised. Optiongegtan
during the year have a contractual term of fiverye@e estimate the expected life of the optiomtbased on actual past behavior for similar opt

RiskFree Interest Rate This is the Canadian or United States Treasuey & applicable, for the week of each option tgdaning the year
having a term that most closely resembles the éggdite of the option.

Dividend Yield- We have never declared or paid dividends on comshares and have no plans to do so in the foreleefedure.

Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by whictinancial variable such as a share price has fatetlior is expected to fluctuate
during a period. We considered the historical \itithafrom our Canadian initial public offering tbugh the dates of grants.

Forfeiture Rate- Forfeitures are estimated at the time of gradtramised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstifed forfeitures differ from
those estimates. We assess the forfeiture rate anrsual basis and revised the rate when deemedsay.
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Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had isstsestock options with a Canadian dollar denomidateercise price. Subsequent to the
Company’s IPO, the Company issues its stock optigtisa U.S. dollar denominated exercise price.

Effective November 13, 2013, the Company volunyatiélisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TBXa result of the delisting from the
TSX and the change in the Company’s functionalenay to the U.S. dollar, the stock options gramtét exercise prices denominated in Canadian
dollars are considered dual indexed as defined3@ &18, “Compensation, Stock Compensatiors a result, the Company is required to account
for these stock options as a liability. Historigahese options had been accounted for as equity e$timated fair value is determined using the
Black-Scholes pricing model based on the estimaadue of the underlying common shares at the valnaheasurement date, the remaining service
period of the stock options, risk-free interesesaexpected dividends and expected volatilithefgrice of the underlying common shares. As of
November 13, 2013, the Company calculated thealrfdir value of the vested awards of $163,000sTair value was initially recorded a:
deduction from Contributed Surplus. At each repgrperiod subsequent to November 13, 2013, the @oynadjusts the fair value of the stock-
based compensation liability and any correspondiogease or decrease to the stbelsed compensation liability will be recorded asdjustment t
Contributed Surplus and/or compensation expensbenonsolidated statement of operations and cdmpeive loss but in no case will the amount
of stock-based compensation expense be less teamiginal grant date fair value of the stock ops$io

The fair value of the stock-based compensatioriliialvas $22,000 and $202,000 at December 31, 20112013, respectively. As the
calculated fair value of the stock options at Delsen81, 2014 was less than the original grant fdéteralue no additional compensation expense
recorded in the consolidated statement of operatiod comprehensive loss. The change in the fhiea the stock-based compensation liability of
$180,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 easded as an adjustment to Contributed Surplus.

The following inputs were utilized in the Black-$®xtés pricing model at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Stock price at the end of each reporting period $ 054 % 3.7C
Weighted average exercise price $ 158 $ 17.6¢
Risk-free interest rate 0.8¢% 1.0%
Volatility 138.3%% 94.5%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected life in years 2.4¢ 3.4z
Calculated fair value per stock option $ 0.1C $ 1.17

Common share purchase warrants with exercise pridesominated in Canadian Dollars

Historically, the Company issued common share wisran connection with the issuance of common stramugh private placements with
exercise prices denominated in Canadian dollarenUlpe issuance of these warrants, the Compangaédid the net proceeds to common share and
warrants based on their relative fair values, aidutated the fair value of the issued common sheareants utilizing the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The allocated fair value was therorded as Common Share Purchase Warrants withieteblders’ equity on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value was not remeasurgeriads subsequent to the date of issuance.

The change in the functional currency of Sophiiiis IBc. to the U.S. dollar effective August 16, 30dffects how the Company accounts for its
previously issued warrants which have exerciseepritenominated in Canadian dollars, a currencyighait the Company’s functional currency.
Upon the change in functional currency, the Compzaigulated the fair value of its warrants with iex&e prices in Canadian dollars as $1.6 million
utilizing the Black Scholes pricing model and cified this fair value as a long-term liability ic@rdance with ASC, 815,Derivatives and Hedgir
”. The initial fair value of $1.6 million was dedied from the original fair value calculated on ib®uance date of the warrants. The issuance date fa
value in excess of the $1.6 million was reclasdife Contributed Surplus. At each reporting pesatisequent to August 16, 2013, the Company
adjusts the fair value of the warrant liability aamaly corresponding increase or decrease to themtdrability is recorded as a component of other
income (expense) on the consolidated statemergeritions and comprehensive loss. The estimateudhie is determined using the Black-Scholes
optionpricing model based on the estimated value of titeetlying common shares at the valuation measuredate, the remaining contractual te
of the warrants, risk-free interest rates, expedtedends and expected volatility of the pricettod underlying common shares.
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On January 31, 2014, the Company and Warburg PiRduate Equity X, L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Pariné.P. entered into an Omnibus
Amendment to Common Share Purchase Warrants retat&@rburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P.’s and Wag Pincus X Partners, L.P.’'s 769,231
outstanding common share purchase warrants. Ou&gbt4, 2014, The Company and Oxford Finance Latered into an Omnibus Amendmen
Warrants to Purchase Common Shares related to ©kioance LLC’s 26,971 outstanding common sharelage warrants. These amendments
provided for the following:

(i) the amendment of the exercise price and nurabshares underlying each of the outstanding comsiare purchase warrants to reflect the 52-
for-1 share consolidation effected by the Compamyogust 9, 2013; and

(i) the amendment of the existing exercise pritéch was denominated in Canadian dollars to bated into U.S. dollars. The agreement
stipulates that the conversion of the exerciseepnitl be completed utilizing the exchange rateffect on the date of the issuance of each
warrant.

As a result of the conversion of the exercise gricem Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars, the Corggamo longer required to revalue the fair
value of these warrants subsequent to their amemiditdpon the amendment of these common share mecharrants the Company calculated a fair
value on the date of their amendments using thekBEcholes valuation model. As a result the Compangrded a $4,000 loss in its statement of
operations and comprehensive loss which reprefigaishange in the fair value of the common sharehase warrants from January 1, 2014 to the
date of their amendments. The Company then refilxbshe fair value as of the date of their amenat:ef $0.8 million from warrant liability to
contributed surplus.

The Company continues to revalue at each repopinigpd 122,670 common share purchase warrants wbictinue to have exercise prices
denominated in Canadian dollars. These warrantewgire on March 16, 2015 and have an exercisemi CND $33.80.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 the warrant liabilias revalued at $0 and $0.9 million, respectieelgl a gain of $49,000 and $0.7 million,
respectively was recorded as gain on revaluatiomasfant liability in the consolidated statemenbpg&rations and comprehensive loss.

The following inputs were utilized in the Black-$®xtés pricing model at December 31, 2014 and 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Stock price at the end of each reporting period $ 054 $ 3.7C
Weighted average exercise price $ 29.1¢ % 25.4t
Risk-free interest rate 0.25% 0.62%
Volatility 425.1°% 115.09%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0C%
Expected life in years .21 2.51
Calculated fair value per common share purchaseawar $ — % 0.9¢
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Fair value of financial instruments

The Company measures certain financial assetsalitities at fair value based on the exchangeepitiat would be received for an asset or
paid for to transfer a liability (an exit price) e principal or most advantageous market forfget or liability in an orderly transaction betwee
market participants. The carrying amounts of then@any’s financial instruments, including cash aashcequivalents and accounts payable and
accrued expenses, approximate fair value due toghert maturities.

The Company follows ASC 820-10Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurewhich among other things, defines fair valug¢ablishes a
consistent framework for measuring fair value axyleds disclosure for each major asset and ligluititegory measured at fair value on either a
recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is @ihice, representing the amount that would lieeneed to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliigbi
in an orderly transaction between market partidipafss such, fair value is a market-based measurethat should be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would useitging an asset or liability. As a basis for comsidg such assumptions, a three-tier fair value
hierarchy has been established, which prioritirestputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted pricestiveamarkets for identical assets or liabilitiedhee measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices incluigteldevel 1) are either directly or indirectly ologable for the asset or liability through
correlation with market data at the measuremer datl for the duration of the instrument’s antitégdife.

Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estirofitghat market participants would use in pricihg aisset or liability at the measurement
date. Consideration is given to the risk inherarthe valuation technique and the risk inheretth@inputs to the model.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On June 10, 2014, the Financial Accounting StarglBhrd, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards UpdatASU, No. 2014-10
“Development Stage Entities (Topic 915) — Elimioatdf Certain Financial Reporting RequirementsJuding an Amendment to Variable Interest
Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidat” which eliminates the concept of a development staity in its entirety from current accounting
guidance and provides for certain amendments todheolidation guidance in Topic 810 in the AccangtStandards Codification, or ASC. Prior to
the issuance of this guidance the Company was @eresl a development stage entity and as a resutaimpany included certain inception-to-date
disclosures in its financial statements. The guidarlated to the elimination of the concept oeaalopment stage entity is effective for public
companies for annual reporting periods beginningrd&ecember 15, 2014, and interim periods thefdie. amendment of the consolidation guide
in Topic 810 is effective for public companies &mual reporting periods beginning after Decembe015. Early adoption of the new standard
was permitted. ASU No. 2014-10 was adopted by thm@any during the year ended December 31, 2014ugis all inception-to-date disclosures
have been removed from these consolidated finagtz&ments.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revefiam Contracts with Customers”. This guidance c®mprehensive new revenue
recognition model that requires a company to rezegrevenue to depict the transfer of goods orisesvto a customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration it expects to receive in exchangetfose goods or services. This guidance is effedtv annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016 and early adoption is not pezthifthe Company will adopt this guidance on JantaB017. Companies may use either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective apprdacidopt this guidance. The Company is evaluatihighvtransition approach to use and its impact,
if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disdres of Uncertainties about an Entity’s AbilityGontinue as a Going Concern.” The
guidance outlines management’s responsibility &lieate whether there is substantial doubt aboehéty’s ability to continue as a going concern
and provides guidance on the related footnote aisice. The amendments are effective for the arperadd ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual periods and interim periods thereafter. Campany is in the process of evaluating the imp#this guidance on its consolidated financial
statement disclosures.

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2014, we had Canadian and €dg&ral tax net operating loss carryforwards of £4illion and $0.2 million,
respectively, which begin to expire in 2015 and£08spectively. As of December 31, 2014, we atsb Ganadian and U.S. federal investment tax
credits of $2.6 million and $1.5 million, respeely. The Canadian and U.S. federal investment tedits will begin to expire in 2015 and 2034,
respectively.
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JOBS Act

In April 2012, the JumpStart Our Business Startpisof 2012, or the JOBS Act, was signed into Idve JOBS Act contains provisions that,
among other things, reduce certain reporting reguénts for an “emerging growth company.” As an “ggitgy growth company,ive are electing n
to take advantage of the extended transition pexffmtded by the JOBS Act for the implementatiomefv or revised accounting standards, and as a
result, we will comply with new or revised accougtistandards on the relevant dates on which adopfisuch standards is required for non-
emerging growth companies. Section 107 of the JA@&Srovides that our decision not to take advamtaigthe extended transition period is
irrevocable. In addition, we are in the procesewaluating the benefits of relying on the othermsgons and reduced reporting requirements
provided by the JOBS Act. Subject to certain caodg set forth in the JOBS Act, if as an “emerggngwth company” we choose to rely on such
exemptions, we may not be required to, among dhtiegs, (i) provide an auditor’s attestation repmrtour system of internal controls over financial
reporting pursuant to Section 404, (ii) providedadlthe compensation disclosure that may be redufeon-emerging growth public companies
under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consunetection Act, (iii) comply with any requiremethiat may be adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mamgadudit firm rotation or a supplement to the aomids report providing additional
information about the audit and the financial staats (auditor discussion and analysis), and {89Qldse certain executive compensation-related
items such as the correlation between executivepeosation and performance and comparisons of tief Ekecutive Officer's compensation to
median employee compensation. These exemptionapylly for a period of five years following the cplation of our initial public offering or until
we no longer meet the requirements of being an fgimg growth company,” whichever is earlier.

Results Of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 20it3

The following table summarizes the results of querations for the year ended December 31, 201£26ah8, together with the changes in th
items in dollars (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change 2014 vs. 2013
License revenue $ — 3 5,00 $ (5,000
Research and development expenses 24,70¢ 10,27¢ 14,42¢
General and administrative expenses 5,33: 4,511 821
Interest expense (72€) (2,309 582
Interest income 51 — 51
Gain on revaluation of warrant liability 49 68¢ (640)
Other expense, net (46) (240) 194
Income tax expense — 50C (500)

License revenueDuring the year ended December 31, 2013, we decoas revenue a $5.0 million non-refundable nulespayment from
Kissei upon our achievement of certain developraetivities, as such milestone had been achievedglthis period.

Research and development expenResearch and development expenses were $24.7miillthe year ended December 31, 2014 compar
$10.3 million in the year ended December 31, 20h& increase in research and development costisimugable to the following:

. a $14.7 million increase in costs associatetl witr on-going Phase 3 clinical trial for the treant of the symptoms of BPH, specifically
$5.9 million for patient visits to our clinical siinvestigators, $4.1 million for services providadour clinical research organizations,
$1.3 million in patient recruitment as enrollmerasacompleted in October 2014, $3.4 million for otbests associated with our Phase 3
clinical trial such as patient data tracking, simgpand supplies, travel, laboratory and analysigkyvand

. a $0.6 million increase in the costs associatighl the manufacturing activities for PRX302.

Offsetting these increases are decreases of $0idmfor cost associated with our completed Traotal safety study from the year ended
December 31, 2013 to the year ended December 34, @@ $0.4 million for license fees paid in 2063)/VIC and Johns Hopkins associated with
our $5.0 million non-refundable milestone paymeanf Kissei. Research and development expensesiedistock-based compensation expense of
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 204 dampared to $0.3 million for the year ended Ddmam31, 2013.

General and administrative expens€gneral and administrative expenses were $5.3omilfi the year ended December 31, 2014 compared t«
$4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 20t increase of $0.8 million is due to a $0.5 millincrease in stockased compensation expe
and $0.2 million increase in directors and offidasurance premiums as a result of our Initial RuBFfering in August 2013. The increase in stock-
based compensation expense is primarily assoamthdstock option granted to employees and directoiOctober 2013. General and administrative
costs included stock-based compensation expergk4million for the year ended December 31, 20i4ampared to $0.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013.
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Interest expensénterest expense was $0.7 million in the year erdlecember 31, 2014 compared to $1.3 million insdwme period in 2013.
This decrease resulted from a reduction in inteeggense related to our promissory notes with Q@iflmterest expense related to Company’s
promissory notes with Oxford is expected to dectimer the term of the loan as the total principgbktanding on the loan is paid down.

Interest incomelnterest income of $51,000 was recorded in the gaded December 31, 2014 as a result of intereseééan interest-bearing
cash and investment accounts.

Gain on revaluation of warrant liabilityGain on revaluation of the warrant liability was9300 for the year ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to $0.7 million for the year ended Decem3fie 2013. The non-cash gain is associated wéfcthiange in the fair value of our warrant
liability.

Other expense, nébther expense, net was $46,000 for the year endedrbber 31, 2014 compared to $0.2 million for tharyended
December 31, 2013. This change was primarily due$6.2 million decrease in foreign exchange loasssciated with foreign currency transacti

Income tax expens&he $5.0 million milestone payment from Kissei vgabject to a 10% Japanese withholding tax. Asaltrege recorded
income tax expense of $0.5 million for the yearezsh®ecember 31, 2013. Generally, we would be éégib utilize the withholding tax to offset
future taxes due in Canada, thus creating a deff¢aseasset. Given the uncertainty around ourtgtidi generate future taxable income in Canada,
withholding tax was recognized as expense durieg/éar ended December 31, 2013.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 202

The following table summarizes the results of querations for the year ended December 31, 2012ahd, together with the changes in th
items in dollars (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 vs. 2012
License revenue $ 5,00 $ — $ 5,00(
Research and development expenses 10,27¢ 13,52 (3,249
General and administrative expenses 4,511 5,68¢ (2,179
Interest expense (1,309 (2,989 68C
Interest income — 10¢€ (208)
Gain on revaluation of warrant liability 68¢ — 68¢
Other expense, net (240 (10¢€) (139
Income tax expense 50C — 50C

License revenueDuring the year ended December 31, 2013, we decoas revenue a $5.0 million non-refundable nulespayment from
Kissei upon our achievement of certain developraetivities, as such milestone had been achievedglthis period.

Research and development expenResearch and development expenses were $10.3miillthe year ended December 31, 2013 compar
$13.5 million in the year ended December 31, 20h2 decrease in research and development codtshsi@ble to the following:

. A $1.1 million decrease in the costs associaiitid the Company’s pre-clinical activities, specifily a repeat dose monkey study and a
rat fertility study both of which were completeddf12;

. A $2.3 million decrease in the costs associati#idl the transfer and scale-up of manufacturingviigs for PRX302; and
. A $1.6 million decrease in costs associated thiehCompany’s Phase 1/2 trial.

Offsetting these decreases is an increase of $illidmfor cost associated with our Phase 3 clihtcal from the year ended December 31,
2012 to December 31, 2013, as our enrollment ferRhase 3 clinical trial began in October 2013%dRech and development expenses included
stockbased compensation expense of $0.3 million foy#ae ended December 31, 2013 as compared to $0idnnfior the year ended December
2012.

General and administrative expens@gneral and administrative expenses were $4.5omiili the year ended December 31, 2013 compared tc

$5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 20t decrease of $1.2 million is primarily due 08 million decrease in market research costs.
General and administrative costs included stocleth@a®mpensation expense of $0.9 million for the yealed December 31, 2013 as compared to
$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Interest expensénterest expense was $1.3 million in the year eridiecember 31, 2013 compared to $1.9 million inséwme period in 2012.
This decrease resulted from a reduction in intergense related to our promissory notes with @xFinance. Interest expense related to Comgany’
promissory notes with Oxford Finance is expectededine over the term of the loan as the totalgipial outstanding on the loan is paid down.
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Interest incomelnterest income of $0.1 million was recorded inylear ended December 31, 2012 as a result of giteagned on interest-
bearing cash and investment accounts.

Gain on revaluation of warrant liabilityGain on revaluation of the warrant liability was Bnillion as of December 31, 2013. The non-cash
gain is associated with the change in the fairealuiour warrant liability.

Other expense, nédther expense, net was $0.2 million for the yeaedrDecember 31, 2013 compared to $0.1 millioriferyear ended
December 31, 2012. This change was primarily dwe$6.1 million increase from 2012 to 2013 in fgreeéxchange loss. These foreign exchange
losses resulted from foreign currency transactions.

Income tax expens&he $5.0 million milestone payment from Kissei vsabject to a 10% Japanese withholding tax. As@trese recorded
income tax expense of $0.5 million for the yeareshBecember 31, 2013. We will be eligible to uélthe withholding tax to offset future taxes due
in Canada. Generally, we would be eligible to milthe withholding tax to offset future taxes du€anada, thus creating a deferred tax asset. Giver
the uncertainty around our ability to generate rfeitiaxable income in Canada, we have expensedithkolding tax during the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Since our inception, our operations have been pilyrinanced through public and private sales of oommon shares, debt financings and
payments from Kissei. At December 31, 2014, wedwesh, cash equivalents and securities availabledier of $22.7 million and net working capital
of $20.0 million. We expect that our cash, cashivadents and securities available-for-sale as afdbeber 31, 2014 will be sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next 12 months, assyithit we do not initiate any additional clinicaveélopment of PRX302 other than our planned
Phase 2 proof of concept study for low to interragalrisk prostate cancer. We will need to find tiddal capital to fund a second Phase 3 clinical
study of PRX302 for the treatment of the symptofBRH and for any future clinical development of X3®2 for the treatment of localized prostate
cancer beyond our planned Phase 2 proof of corstegy.

In May 2014 we entered into a common stock purchgseement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, or Asgr@pital which provides that Aspire
Capital is committed to purchase up to an aggregfa$d5.0 million of our common shares over theragjmately 30 month term of the agreement.
Upon the execution of the agreement, we sold tarA<papital 604,230 common shares which resultetkirproceeds of $1.9 million. Over the
remaining 23 months the Company has the rightestildp certain limitations including but not lingtéo the Company’s closing stock price not
falling below $2.00 on the date of any directedchase, to direct Aspire Capital to purchase umtadditional $13 million of our common shares.
There were no additional sales of common sharéspire Capital as of December 31, 2014. As of Ddmam31, 2014 and through March 1, 2015
our stock price has been below the $2.00 floorepincluded in the Aspire Capital agreement andefloee we have been unable to sell shares to
Aspire Capital during this period.

On June 30, 2014, we entered into a new loan andiseagreement with Oxford pursuant to which Qgfbas loaned a principal amount of
$6.0 million to refinance our then existing termarowith Oxford and to provide additional workingpital. The principal amount was used by us
to settle approximately $2.9 million of outstandpmincipal on our then existing term loan, to ge#ttcrued interest on such term loan, to settleroth
fees and expenses, including approximately $0.lfomiin an accrued final payment due under the #hasting term loan, and the remaining cash
proceeds of approximately $2.4 million will be ugedgeneral corporate purposes.

The principal borrowed under the new loan beaigeafinterest of 9.504% per annum, which interbsilde payable monthly in arrears. Upon
the earliest to occur of (i) the maturity date), {fiie date we prepay all outstanding amounts utidenew loan, or (iii) the date that all amountgem
the new loan become due and payable, we shall giyrdDan additional fee of 5% of the original prijpal amount. The repayment terms of the new
loan are monthly interest only payments througly u2015 followed by 36 months of equal princigatl interest payments.

Future Operations

We have devoted substantial resources to develdR¥XB02, protecting and enhancing our intellecpwaperty and providing general and
administrative support for these activities. Wedawt generated any revenue from product salesaui@dte, have funded our operations primarily
through public and private equity security salehtdinancings and payments from Kissei.

62




We will require additional capital to complete di@mnent of PRX302

Our future capital requirements will depend on, aadld increase significantly as a result of, méagtors, including:

. progress in, and the costs of, our clinicaldrigreclinical studies and other research andldpweent activities for PRX302;
. the costs and timing of regulatory approvals;
. our ability to maintain our strategic licensetwKissei and its ability to achieve applicableastbnes and establish and maintain

additional strategic collaborations, including tiseng and other arrangements;

. the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, eriog and defending patent claims and other inteledgroperty rights;
. the costs of obtaining and securing manufacgusimpply for clinical or commercial production abguct candidates; and
. the costs of establishing, or contracting fales and marketing capabilities if we obtain retpriaapprovals to market PRX302.

Until we can generate significant continuing revesyuve expect to satisfy our future cash needsigffirprivate and public sales of our
securities, which may include the sale of sharessfuire Capital under our common share purchaseeagent, debt financings, by establishing
additional strategic collaborations for PRX302 ranf exercise of outstanding common share purchasemts and stock options.

Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our castvéidor the years ended December 31, 2014. 2012@b2 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net cash provided by (used il
Operating activities $ (26,230 $ (13,200 $ (18,83¢)
Investing activities 14,69 (33,329 (26)
Financing activities 83¢ 51,72¢ 4,88¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents (16) (83) 28¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ (10,716 $ 511¢ $ (13,689

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities increasekP®?2 million for the year ended December 31, 2€dpared to $13.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase in net c&shin operating activities of $13.0 million wagparily due to the net cash outflow impact of
the increase in our net loss from period to pedffset by the decrease from upfront payments madeit clinical research organizations in the pe
ended December 31, 2013. The increase in our sgfflom December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014nsaply a result of the increase in our
research and development expenses associatedwiBhase 3 clinical trial for the treatment of syenptoms of BPH.

Net cash used in operating activities decreas&d3a2 million for the year ended December 31, 20dBpared to $18.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in net sadhofi$5.6 million between the years ended DeceBihe2012 to the year ended December 31,
2013 was due to the net cash flow impact of theed#ese in our net loss offset by the payment ofampffees due to our clinical research organization
for our Phase 3 clinical trial.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $Hillion for the year ended December 31, 2014, carag to $33.3 million net cash used in
investing activities for the year ended December2B13. The increase in net cash provided by iinvgsictivities from December 31, 2013 to
December 31, 2014 represents the usage of thequedem the maturity of securities classified @ailable-for-sale to fund our operations and to a
lesser extent to purchase securities with matsriéies than 90 days which are classified as casleash equivalents.

Net cash used in investing activities was $33.3anilfor the year ended December 31, 2013, compar&@6,000 for the year ended

December 31, 2012. The increase in net cash usga3o08 million was due to the purchase of securiieailable-for sale from the net proceeds of the
U.S. public offering.
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $fiBion for the year ended December 31, 2014, aspared to $51.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The cash provided bydingractivities for the year ended December 3142@flects the proceeds of $1.9 million, net
from the common share purchase from Aspire Cafitag. cash provided by financing activities alsdudes net cash received from Oxford of $2.4
million from our new Loan of $6.0 million and setthent of our outstanding principal of $2.9 millidne under the Original Loan. The cash provided
in financing activities during the year ended Deben81, 2013 includes $57.3 million, net from ouSUpublic offering. These funds are offset by
$5.5 million of principal payments on our Originadan with Oxford.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5ilfion, for the year ended December 31, 2013;ampared to $4.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. In 2013 we raised $57lidminet in a U.S. public offering. These fundere offset by $5.5 million of principal
payments to Oxford. Net cash provided by finana@ntivities during the year ended December 31, 2082.9 million was primarily related to the

issuance of common shares from a private placewleich resulted in net proceeds of $8.3 million. Teeeipt of cash from the private placement
was offset by principal payments to Oxford of $&i#lion during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following is a summary of our contractual obtigns as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease obligation relating to facility $ 28¢ $ 11¢ $ 17¢ $ —  $ —
Principal and interest payable under promissorgs{at 7,552 1,294 4,61 1,64¢ —
Purchase commitmen® 97 97 — — —
Total $ 7,936 3 151C $ 4,78° 3 1,64t $ —

(1) We currently lease an office facility compnigiour headquarters in San Diego, California uadeon-cancelable lease. The lease, as amended
expires in May 2017 and the minimum rent is $8,F20®month, subject to annual cost of living incesaplus our pro rata share of certain
operating costs and other expenses.

(2) InJune 2014, we entered into a new loan andrity agreement with Oxford. The principal boremhwnder the new loan bears a fixed interest
of 9.504% per annum, which interest shall be payatnthly in arrears. Upon the earliest to occui)ahe maturity date, (ii) the date we
prepay all outstanding amounts under the new loa(iii) the date that all amounts under the neanlbecome due and payable, we shall pay
Oxford an additional fee of 5% of the original mijpal amount or $0.3 million. The repayment terrhthe new loan are monthly interest only
payments through July 1, 2015 followed by 36 eaqouahthly payments of principal and interest.

(3) We are required to schedule our manufactutiyities in advance. If we cancel any of thedeesltled activities without proper notice we
could be required to pay penalties equal to the aothe originally scheduled activity. As such teve included the activities scheduled as of
December 31, 2014 which, if cancelled, could reisults incurring penalties for cancellation.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemastdgfined by applicable SEC regulations) thateasonably likely to have a current or
future material effect on our financial conditioasults of operations, liquidity, capital expenditsior capital resources.

ltem 7A.  Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk is the exposure to foresgnrency exchange rate fluctuations. This riskearisom our holdings of foreign currency
denominated accounts payable. Changes in foreigarry exchange rates can create foreign exchaaige gr losses to us. We do not engage in
foreign currency hedging arrangements for our agtopayable, and, consequently, foreign currengstdlations may adversely affect our earnings.
During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2@L3%.and 18.1%, respectively, of our operating agpe were denominated in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar. We have minimal direct expedo interest rate risks as we do not have variedtke financial liabilities. In addition, our Oxéb
loan has a fixed interest rate of 9.504% therefloituations in interest rates do not have an éffecthe total outstanding principal due

We invest our excess cash in investment-gradegisitdearing securities. The primary objective wfiovestment activities is to preserve
principal and liquidity. To achieve this objectiweg invest in a money market fund and high quaigrketable debt instruments of corporations,
financial institutions and government sponsoreémmises with contractual maturity dates of geretaks than three years. We do not have any
direct investments in auction-rate securities ousées that are collateralized by assets thdtide mortgages or subprime debt. If a 10% change in
interest rates were to have occurred on Decemhe2@#4, this change would not have had a mateffiatteon the fair value of our investment
portfolio as of that date.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Sophiris Bio Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bedasheets and the related consolidated statemfeopei@tions and comprehensive loss, of
shareholders’ equity (deficit) and of cash flowegemt fairly, in all material respects, the finahgiosition of Sophiris Bio Inc. and its subsidésriat
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results afdperations and their cash flows for each of tiee years in the period ended December 31,
2014 in conformity with accounting principles gealgr accepted in the United States of America. €H@tncial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility Exjaress an opinion on these financial statemerstschan our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with the standatts &ublic Company Accounting Oversight Board i(elth States). Those standards require thi
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingieunts and disclosures in the financial statespessessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and &waduthe overall financial statement presentatiie.believe that our audits provide a reasor
basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, California

March 10, 2015
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Sophiris Bio Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,

2014 2013

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 412: $ 14,83¢

Securities available-for-sale 18,57: 33,31

Other receivables 16 48

Prepaid expenses 2,82t 3,59¢
Total current assets 25,53¢ 51,79
Property and equipment, net 36 78
Other long-term assets 19 19
Total assets $ 25,59 $ 51,89:
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 263 % 1,47(C

Accrued expenses 2,307 2,181

Current portion of promissory notes 59¢ 6,871
Total current liabilities 5,563¢ 10,52¢
Long-term promissory notes, less current portion 5,34: —
Warrant liability — 882
Stock-based compensation liability 22 202
Total liabilities 10,90: 11,618
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, unlimited authorized shares, nvglae; 16,844,736 and 16,149,871 shares issue:

outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respécti 113,09! 111,20«

Contributed surplus 17,05: 13,82/
Accumulated other comprehensive gain 99 98
Accumulated deficit (115,559 (84,84°)
Total shareholders’ equity 14,68¢ 40,27¢
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2559, 3 51,89:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
License revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Gain on revaluation of warrant liability
Other expense, net
Total other expense
Net loss before income tax
Income tax expense
Net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share
Weighted average number of outstanding sharesie éag diluted
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities availabledale
Total comprehensive loss

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ — 3 5,000 $ —
24,70¢ 10,27¢ 13,52:

5,33: 4,511 5,68¢

30,04( 14,79( 19,20¢

(726) (1,309) (1,989)

51 — 10¢

49 68¢ —

(46) (240) (10€)

(672) (859) (1,986)

(30,71%) (10,649 (21,19

— (500) —

$ (30,717 $ (11,149 $ (21,19
$ (1.85) $ (139 $ (6.99)
16,58¢ 8,02¢ 3,05¢

— 145 131

1 (€] —

$ (30,71) $ (11,009 $ (21,067

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1,
2012

Issuance of common share
and common share
purchase warrants, net o
issuance
costs of $66

Expiration of right to invest

Stock-based compensation
expense

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance at December 31,
2012

Issuance of common share
in a public offering, net of
issuance costs of $8,011

Reclassification of initial fai
value of warrants
denominated in Canadial
dollars to liability

Reclassification of historic
fair value of warrants

Reclassification of fair valu
of options denominated i
Canadian dollars to
liability

Change in the fair value of
stock-based compensatic
liability recorded to
contributed surplus

Stock-based compensation
expense

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balance at December 31,
2013

Issuance of common share
net of issuance cost of
$109

Reclassification of historic
fair value of warrants

Change in the fair value of
stock-based compensatic
liability recorded to
contributed surplus

Issuance of warrants with
secured promissory note

Stock-based compensation
expense

Sophiris Bio Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Oit)

(In thousands, expect share amounts)

Accumulated

Other Total
Common Comprehensive Shareholders’
Common Share Right
Shares Contributed Purchase to Accumulated Income Equity
Shares Amount Surplus Warrants Invest Deficit (Loss) (Deficit)
2,749,22i 45,72’ 5,632 4,17 4,142 (52,504 a77) 6,997
400,64: 8,48¢ — 1,86¢ (2,077 — — 8,28t
2,071 — (2,079 — — —
— — 67€ — — — — 67€
_ — — — — (21,199 — (21,199
— — — — — — 131 131
3,149,87. 54,21t 8,37¢ 6,04¢ — (73,69¢) (4€) (5,105
13,000,00 56,98¢ — — — — — 56,98¢
— — — (1,579 — — — (1,572
— — 4,47: (4,477 — — — —
— — (269) — — — — (163
— — (39 — — — — (39
— — 1,17¢ — — — — 1,17¢
— — — — — (11,249 — (11,249
— — — — — — 144 144
16,149,87 $ 111,20 $ 13,82¢ $ — — $ (84,84) $ 98 40,27¢
694,86! 1,891 — — — — — 1,891
— — 834 — — — — 834
— — 18C — — — — 18C
— — 124 — — — — 124
— — 2,091 — — — — 2,091



Net loss — — — — — (30,71 — (30,717

Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — 1 1
Balance at December 31,
2014 16,844,73 $ 113,09! $ 17,05! $ — $ — $ (115,559) $ 9¢ 3 14,68¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdtesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Cash flows used in operating activities
Net loss for the perio
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash byeaperating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of debt discount
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of promissory note issuance costs
Amortization of discount on available-for-sale sdties
Impairment loss
Change in fair value warrant liability
Foreign exchange transaction (gain) loss
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activit
Cash flows provided by (used) in investing activiés
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from the disposal of property and equipmen
Maturity of securities available-for-sale
Purchases of securities available-for-sale
Net cash provided by (used) in investing activi
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Issuance of common shares from private placementfrissuance cost
Issuance of common shares from public offering,afiéssuance cost
Payment of issuance costs in connection with pudffering
Cash received from the issuance of promissory notes
Principal payments on notes payable
Net cash provided by financing activiti
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ (30,71) $ (11,149 $ (21,19
2,001 1,174 67€
18¢ 38¢ 50¢

47 84 82

— — 14¢

38 10¢ 15¢

39 9 —

— — 17€

(49) (68¢) —

1 22¢ (14€)

3 2 1

33 23 172

734 (3,117) (162)

— 25 (15)
1,171 (30E) (1,006)
18€ 15 1,76¢
(26,23() (13,206) (18,836)
9) (©)] (26)

— 1 —
43,20 — —
(28,507) (33,320 —
14,69: (33,32) (26)
1,891 — 8,28¢
— 57,25: (211)

(539 — —
2,362 — —
(3,361) (5,52¢) (3,190
83¢ 51,72¢ 4,88¢




For the Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashurglents (16) (83) 28¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivakent (20,716 5,11¢ (13,689
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 14,83¢ 9,721 23,41(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 4,120 $ 14,83¢ $ 9,721
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 49t $ 884 $ 1,35(
Cash paid for taxes $ —  $ 50C $ —
For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing arithancing activities:
Valuation of common share warrant liability uposuance of warrants $ — 3 1572 $ —
Reclassification of fair value of warrant liability equity as a result of the

amendment of the underlying common share purchasemnts $ 834 $ — $ —
Value of warrants issued in connection with promigsotes $ 124 $ —  $ —
Valuation of stock-based compensation liability $tmck options denominated ii

Canadian dollars $ — % (169 $ —
Change in the fair value of stock-based compenséitibility recorded to capital

surplus 8¢ $ (39 $ —
Unrealized (gain) loss on securities availablesfale $ 1 3 1 3 —
Deferred financing cost incurred but not yet paid $ — 3 53 §$ 72t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1.  Nature of the business
Company

Sophiris Bio Inc., or the Company, or Sophirisaiglinical-stage biopharmaceutical company curyeiéiveloping PRX302 for treatment of the
symptoms of benign prostatic hyperplasia, or BRimmonly referred to as an enlarged prostate anthéotreatment of localized low to intermedi
risk prostate cancer. The Company is governed &¥titish Columbia Business Corporations Act. Tleerpany’s operations were initially located
in Vancouver, British Columbia until April 2011, wh its core activities and headquarters relocatad ¥ancouver, British Columbia to San Diego,
California.

The consolidated financial statements include ttw®ants of Sophiris Bio Inc. and its wholly-ownedbsidiaries, Sophiris Bio Corp. and
Sophiris Bio Holding Corp., both of which are inporated in the State of Delaware.

Liquidity

The consolidated financial statements have bequaped on a going concern basis, which contemplagegealization of assets and the
settlement of liabilities in the normal course abmess. The Company has incurred significant diperéosses since inception and has relied on its
ability to fund its operations through private gnublic equity financings and a debt financing. #ar year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 the
Company incurred a net loss of $30.7 million andl.$Imillion, respectively, and used $26.2 milliowdg$13.2 million of cash in operations,
respectively. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, thezmy had $22.7 million and $48.1 million, respesli, in cash, cash equivalents and securities
available-for-sale. Any clinical development effolteyond the Company’s ongoing Phase 3 clinicliiBPH and its planned Phase 2 clinical trial
in localized low to intermediate risk prostate canwill require additional funding. The Company tméstorically financed its operations through
public or private equity offerings, debt financingsstrategic partnerships and alliances and liogresrangements, as well as through interest im
earned on cash balances. Subject to limited exaeptthe Company’s Oxford Finance LLC, or Oxfordah and Security Agreement prohibits the
Company from incurring indebtedness without thempwiritten consent of Oxford. If the Company is bleeto raise additional capital to fund its
development program efforts beyond its ongoing E3adlinical trial in BPH and its planned Phasdizical trial in localized low to intermediate ri
prostate cancer in sufficient amounts or on teratgptable to it, the Company may have to signifiyattelay, scale back or discontinue the
development or commercialization of PRX302.

Share Consolidation

On August 9, 2013, the Company'’s board of direcémsroved a 52-for-1 share consolidation of the gamy’s issued and outstanding
common shares. Accordingly, all share and per stia@unts for all periods presented in these firdmstatements and notes thereto have been
adjusted retroactively to reflect the share codsoidbn. The Company’s stock option plan and outitanwarrants provide for a pro-rata adjustment
to the number of shares issuable upon the exes€isetstanding stock options and warrants in theneef a share consolidation. The effects of the
share consolidation have been given retroactivecetb the related disclosures of outstanding stgtlons and warrants.

2. Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

On June 10, 2014, the Financial Accounting StarslBahrd, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards UpaatASU, No. 2014-10
“Development Stage Entities (Topic 915) — Elimioatdf Certain Financial Reporting RequirementsJuding an Amendment to Variable Interest
Entities Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidat” which eliminates the concept of a development staity in its entirety from current accounting
guidance and provides for certain amendments todheolidation guidance in Topic 810 in the AccangtStandards Codification, or ASC. Prior to
the issuance of this guidance the Company was @eresl a development stage entity and as a resua@impany included certain inception-to-date
disclosures in its financial statements. The guidarlated to the elimination of the concept otaalopment stage entity is effective for public
companies for annual reporting periods beginningrd&ecember 15, 2014, and interim periods thefie. amendment of the consolidation guide
in Topic 810 is effective for public companies &mual reporting periods beginning after Decembe015. Early adoption of the new standard
was permitted. ASU No. 2014-10 was adopted by thm@any during the year ended December 31, 2014ugis all inception-to-date disclosures
have been removed from these consolidated finagt&ments.
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies
Significant accounting policies followed by the Quemy in the preparation of its consolidated finahstatements are as follows:
Basis of consolidatio

The consolidated financial statements include toants of the Company, Sophiris Bio Corp. and 8apBio Holding Corp. All
intercompany balances and transactions have besimaied for purposes of consolidation.

Basis of presentation and use of estim.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiesnge been prepared in conformity with generallyepted accounting principles in the
United States or GAAP.

GAAP requires the Company’s management to makmatts and judgments that may affect the reportexiata of assets, liabilities,
revenue, expenses and related disclosures. The @ynyases estimates and judgments on historicakiexge and on various other factors that it
believes to be reasonable under the circumstambessignificant estimates in these consolidateanfiial statements include revenue recognition,
stockbased compensation expense, warrant liability, tfanal currency and accrued research and developaxpenses, including accruals relate
the Company’s ongoing clinical trial. The Compangtsual results may differ from these estimateg Thmpany evaluates its estimates on an
ongoing basis. Changes in estimates are reflentezported results in the period in which they lleedknown by the Company’s management.

Foreign currency
Functional currency

Historically, the functional currency of SophirisoBnc. had been the Canadian dollar. Subsequeahttoompletion of the Company’s initial
public offering, or IPO, on the NASDAQ Global Matkee Company reviewed the underlying indicatorthefprimary economic environment in
which Sophiris Bio Inc. operates. Based upon tngew, the Company determined that the functionalency of Sophiris Bio Inc. changed from the
Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar effective Auglst 2013, the date of the Company’s U.S. IPO.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transaction gains and losseseagnized as a component of other expense, nelCohmpany recorded foreign exchange
transaction losses of $43,000, $269,000 and $105@0he years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@b3, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid stweents with an original maturity of three monthdess at the date of purchase.
Securities Available-for-Sale

Investments with an original maturity of more thlree months when purchased have been classifiethbggement as securities available-
for-sale. Such investments are carried at fair valith, inrealized gains and losses included as a coemi@f accumulated other comprehensive
(loss) in shareholders’ equity. Realized gainslasdes and declines in value judged to be otherthmporary on available-for-sale securities are
included in interest income. The cost of investnsaturities classified as available-for-sale isisi@id for amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts to maturity. Such amortization and acmnetre included in interest income. The cost olsiies sold is based on the specifientificatior
method. The Company has classified all of its ibwesit securities available-for-sale, including #hasth maturities beyond one year, as current
assets on the consolidated balance sheets bagsked bighly liquid nature of the investment secastand because these investment securities are
considered available for use in current operations.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjea ompany to concentration of credit risk, congigharily of cash and cash equivalents and
investment securities classified as available-fde-sThe Company maintains deposits in federaBlyiied financial institutions in excess of federally
insured limits. Management believes that the Compsnot exposed to significant credit risk dughe financial position of the depository
institutions in which those deposits are held. Aiddally, the Company has adopted an investmeritythat includes guidelines relative to credit
quality, diversification of maturities to presemqencipal and liquidity.
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Property and equipmel

Property and equipment are recorded at cost ameéciafed using the straight-line method, basedeir estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset classification Estimated useful life (in years)

Equipment 3-5
Computer hardware 3
Software 3-5
Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or lease te
Furniture and fixtures 5

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed aseithcur

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impant whenever events or changes in business citamees indicate that the carrying
amount of assets may not be fully recoverable afrttie useful lives of these assets are no lor@ogriate. Each impairment test is based on a
comparison of the undiscounted cash flow to thended value of the asset. If impairment is indidathe asset will be written down to its estimated
fair value on a discounted cash flow basis. The @amg has not recognized any impairment losses gfwr@ecember 31, 2014.

Promissory note

Promissory notes are recognized initially at falue. Promissory notes are subsequently carriathattized cost; any difference between the
initial fair market value and the redemption vailsieecognized in the statement of operations angpcehensive loss over the period of the notes
payable using the effective interest method.

The fair value of the promissory notes when issuigd equity is recognized initially at the fair v of similar promissory notes issued on a
standalone basis. The equity that is issued witholongs is valued at fair value using the Black&es valuation model.

Revenue recognitic

The Company may enter into product developmentemgeats with collaborative partners for the researchdevelopment of products for the
treatment of urological diseases. The terms oftfreements may include nonrefundable signing @edding fees, milestone payments and royalties
on any product sales derived from collaboratiorgesE multiple element arrangements are analyzeetémmine whether the deliverables can be
separated or whether they must be accounted fisagjle unit of accounting. License fees are reizagl as revenue when persuasive evidence
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed or determmad#tlivery or performance has substantially cotepl@nd collection is reasonably assured.

The Company recognizes up front license payments\eesue upon delivery of the license only if tieemse has stand-alone value to the
customer and if the agreement includes a gengtat of return, the delivery or performance of uindsed items is considered probable and within
the control of the Company. The payment is geneedlbcated to the separate units of accountingda® their relative selling prices. The selling
price of each deliverable is determined using vesgecific objective evidence of selling pricest ixists; otherwise, third-party evidence of isgl
prices. If neither vendor specific objective evidemor third-party evidence exists, the Company itsebest estimate of the selling price for each
deliverable. The payment allocated is limited ® #&mount that is not contingent on the delivergaditional items or fulfillment of other
performance conditions.

Whenever the Company determines that an arrangeshentd be accounted for as a single unit of ad@oginit must determine the period o
which the performance obligations will be perfornzetl revenue recognized. If the Company cannobnedidy estimate the timing and the level of
effort to complete its performance obligations uritte arrangement, then revenue under the arrangeésecognized on a straight-line basis over
the period the Company is expected to complefeeitiormance obligations.

The Company evaluates milestone payments on avidlodil basis and recognizes revenue from non-refiledmilestone payments when the
earnings process is complete and the paymentssmably assured. Non-refundable milestone paymmelated to arrangements under which the
Company has continuing performance obligationgecegnized as revenue upon achievement of theiassenilestone, provided that (i) the
milestone event is substantive and its achievghilds not reasonably assured at the inceptioneoégiteement and (i) the amount of the milestone
payment is reasonable in relation to the efforteexjed or the risk associated with the milestonateyay amounts received under agreements in
advance of performance, if deemed substantivaeam@ded as deferred revenue and recognized asuges the Company completes its
performance obligations. A milestone event is aber®d substantive if (i) the milestone is commeaiguwith either (a) the Company’s performance
to achieve the milestone or (b) the enhancemetiteofalue of the delivered item(s) as a result gfpecific outcome resulting from the Company’s
performance to achieve the milestone; (ii) it redagolely to past performance and (iii) it is reedade relative to all of the deliverables and payme
terms (including other potential milestone consatien) within the arrangement. If any portion oé tmilestone payment does not relate to the
Company’s performance, does not relate solely sb parformance or is refundable or adjustable basddture performance, the milestone is not
considered to be substantive. Milestone paymeetsatrbifurcated into substantive and non-substammponents. Payments related to the
achievement of non-substantive milestones is dedesnd recognized over the Company’s remainingopaence period.
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Royalty revenue will be recognized upon the saléhefrelated products provided the Company hagmaining performance obligations un
the arrangement.

Research and development expel

Research and development costs are charged tosxpsrincurred. Research and development expemsgsise costs incurred in performing
research and development activities, includingganmsl-related costs, stock-based compensatiotitiisgiresearch-related overhead, clinical trial
costs, contracted services, manufacturing, licéese and other external costs. The Company accéamtenrefundable advance payments for goods
and services that will be used in future researnthdevelopment activities as expenses when thécedmas been performed or when the goods have
been consumed rather than when the payment is made.

Accrued research and development expe

Clinical trial costs are recorded as a componen¢séarch and development expenses. The Compameaand expenses clinical trial
activities performed by third parties based updmeges of the percentage of work completed oftdied work over the life of the individual study in
accordance with agreements established with clinésgarch organizations and clinical trial sifHse Company determines the estimates through
discussions with internal clinical personnel anteeal service providers as to the progress oestdgompletion of trials or services and the adree
upon fee to be paid for such services based oa &t circumstances known to the Company as ofteslehce sheet date. However, actual cost
timing of clinical trials are highly uncertain, gabt to risks and may change depending upon a nuailfactors, including the Company’s clinical
development plan.

If the actual timing of the performance of servioeshe level of effort varies from the estimatee Company will adjust the accrual
accordingly. Adjustments to prior period estimdiage not been material.

Examples of estimated accrued research and develdmrpenses include:

. fees paid to clinical research organizationednnection with clinical studies;

. fees paid to investigative sites in connectidgthwlinical studies;

. fees paid to vendors in connection with preclihidevelopment activities;

. fees paid to vendors associated with the dewedop of companion diagnostics; and

. fees paid to vendors related to product manufad, development and distribution of clinical plips.

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and ssrittat will be used or rendered in future reseanthdevelopment activities, are recol
as a prepaid expense and recognized as experfgeperiod that the related goods are consumedaces are performed.

Dividend Policy

The Company has never declared or paid any cagdedids on its capital shares. The Company intemdstéin all available funds and any
future earnings to support our operations and fieahe growth and development of our business. WMot intend to pay cash dividends on our
common shares for the foreseeable future. Any éuietermination related to our dividend policy Wil made at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend upon, among other factous results of operations, financial conditioapital requirements, contractual restrictions,
business prospects and other factors our boariteitdrs may deem relevant. In addition, the teofnsur existing debt facility prohibit us from
paying dividends without the prior written consehOxford.

Stock-based compensation
The Company expenses the fair value of employexk stptions over the vesting period. Compensatiqgrease is measured using the fair v:

of the award at the grant date, net of estimatefdifares, and is adjusted annually to reflect actarfeitures. The fair value of each stock-based
award is estimated using the Black-Scholes priginglel and is expensed using graded amortizationtbeevesting period.
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The Company accounts for stock options grantedimemployees, which is primarily consultants of @@mpany, using the fair value
approach. Stock options granted to non-employeesidject to revaluation each reporting period tiveir vesting terms.

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had isstsestock options with a Canadian dollar denomidateercise price. Subsequent to the
Company’s IPO, the Company issues its stock optigtisa U.S. dollar denominated exercise price.

Effective November 13, 2013, the Company volunyatiélisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TBXa result of the delisting from the
TSX and the change in the Company’s functionalenay to the U.S. dollar, the stock options gramtét exercise prices denominated in Canadian
dollars are now considered dual indexed as defmé&®bC 718, “Compensation, Stock Compensatiois a result, the Company is required to
account for these stock options as a liability tbfisally these options had been accounted foqagye The estimated fair value is determined using
the Black-Scholes pricing model based on the estidhaalue of the underlying common shares at theatian measurement date, the remaining
service period of the stock options, rigke interest rates, expected dividends and expectiatility of the price of the underlying commehares. A
of November 13, 2013, the Company calculated thialifair value of the vested awards of $163,000is fair value was initially recorded as a
deduction from Contributed Surplus. At each repgriieriod subsequent to November 13, 2013, the @oynadjusts the fair value of the stock-
based compensation liability and any corresponifiogease or decrease to the stbelsed compensation liability will be recorded asdjustment t
Contributed Surplus and/or compensation expenshenonsolidated statement of operations and cdmepeive loss but in no case will the amount
of stock-based compensation expense be less thamitinal grant date fair value of the stock opsio

The fair value of the stock-based compensatioriliialivas $22,000 and $202,000 at December 31, 20fiDecember 31, 2013, respectively.
As the calculated fair value of the stock optionBacember 31, 2014 was less than the originaltgtate fair value no additional compensation
expense was recorded in the consolidated statesheperations and comprehensive loss. The chanteifair value of the stock-based
compensation liability of $180,000 for the year etdddecember 31, 2014 was recorded as an adjustm€antributed Surplus.

Common share purchase warrants with exercise pdeg®minated in Canadian Dollars

Historically, the Company issued common share widsran connection with the issuance of common stracagh private placements with
exercise prices denominated in Canadian dollarenUlpe issuance of these warrants, the Compangasdid the net proceeds to common share and
warrants based on their relative fair values, aidutated the fair value of the issued common sheareants utilizing the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The allocated fair value was therorded as Common Share Purchase Warrants withieteblders’ equity on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value was not remeasurgeriads subsequent to the date of issuance.

The change in the functional currency of Sophiiiis IBc. to the U.S. dollar effective August 16, 30dffects how the Company accounts for its
previously issued warrants which have exerciseepritenominated in Canadian dollars, a currencyighait the Company’s functional currency.
Upon the change in functional currency, the Compzaigulated the fair value of its warrants with iex&e prices in Canadian dollars as $1.6 million
utilizing the Black Scholes pricing model and cified this fair value as a long-term liability iceordance with ASC, 815,Derivatives and Hedgir
”. The initial fair value of $1.6 million was dedtecl from the original fair value calculated on tsguance date of the warrants. The issuance date fa
value in excess of the $1.6 million was reclasgife Contributed Surplus. At each reporting pesatisequent to August 16, 2013, the Company
adjusts the fair value of the warrant liability eemaly corresponding increase or decrease to themtdrability is recorded as a component of other
income (expense) on the consolidated statemerpgerBtons and comprehensive loss. The estimateuddhie is determined using the Black-Scholes
optionpricing model based on the estimated value of titeetlying common shares at the valuation measuredate, the remaining contractual te
of the warrants, risk-free interest rates, expedteidends and expected volatility of the pricettod underlying common shares.

On January 31, 2014, the Company and Warburg Pipduate Equity X, L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Pargné.P. entered into an Omnibus
Amendment to Common Share Purchase Warrants retatérburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P.’s and Wag Pincus X Partners, L.P.’'s 769,231
outstanding common share purchase warrants. Ou&gbt4, 2014, the Company and Oxford Finance Lhtered into an Omnibus Amendment to
Warrants to Purchase Common Shares related to ©kioance LLC’s 26,971 outstanding common sharelage warrants. These amendments
provided for the following:

(i) the amendment of the exercise price and nurabshares underlying each of the outstanding comsiare purchase warrants to reflect the 52-
for-1 share consolidation effected by the Compamyogust 9, 2013; and

(i) the amendment of the existing exercise pvitéch was denominated in Canadian dollars to beted into U.S. dollars. The agreement

stipulates that the conversion of the exercisespniitl be completed utilizing the exchange rateffect on the date of the issuance of each
warrant.
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As a result of the conversion of the exercise gricem Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars, the Compamo longer required to revalue the fair
value of these warrants subsequent to their amemiditdpon the amendment of these common share mecharrants the Company calculated a fair
value on the date of their amendments using thekBEcholes valuation model. As a result the Compangrded a $4,000 loss in its statement of
operations and comprehensive loss which represiemishange in the fair value of the common shareh@ase warrants from January 1, 2014 to the
date of their amendments. The Company then refidshe fair value as of the date of their amendiimef $0.8 million for the amended common
share purchase warrants from warrant liabilitydatdbuted surplus.

The Company continues to revalue at each repopnigpd 122,670 common share purchase warrants webiatinue to have exercise prices
denominated in Canadian dollars. These warrantewglire on March 16, 2015 and have an exerciseemf CND $33.80.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 the warrant liabilias revalued at $0 and $0.9 million, respectiaelgl a gain of $49,000 and $0.7 million,
respectively was recorded in gain on revaluatiowafrant liability in the consolidated statemenbpérations and comprehensive loss. The amounts
utilized to calculate the fair value of the warrfability at December 31, 2014 and 2013 are inetlich Note 6.

Income taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet ass liability method. Under this method, defdr@x assets and liabilities are
recognized for the estimated future tax consequgeattebutable to differences between financialesteent carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Defitex assets and liabilities are measured usingtethaates in effect for the year in which these
temporary differences are expected to be recovarsdttled. Valuation allowances are providedafsdd on the weight of available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deddrtax assets will not be realized.

The Company provides reserves for potential paysnefitax to various tax authorities related to utae tax positions and other issues.
Reserves are based on a determination of whetlken@am much of a tax benefit taken by the Comparisitax filing is more likely than not to be
realized following resolution of any potential cimigiencies present related to the tax benefit. Rialenterest and penalties associated with such
uncertain tax positions are recorded as compomémtsome tax expense. To date, the Company hatgkeh any uncertain tax positions or recor
any reserves, interest or penalties.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are identified as componerds ehterprise about which separate discrete finhimformation is available for evaluation
by the chief operating decision-maker, or CODM. Twwnpany’s Chief Executive Officer serves as itsDBO The Company views its operations
and manages its business as one segment operatragily in the United States. As of December 3112, all of the Company’s assets were located
in the United States of America with the except®$0.1 million of cash and cash equivalents an2l @30 of other assets which were located in
Canada. All of the Company’s property and equipmeas located within the United States as of DecerBbg2014.

Fair valueof financial instruments

The Company measures certain financial assetdatitities at fair value based on the exchangeepitiat would be received for an asset or
paid for to transfer a liability (an exit price) e principal or most advantageous market fortfset or liability in an orderly transaction betwee
market participants. The carrying amounts of then@any’s financial instruments, including cash aashcequivalents and accounts payable and
accrued expenses, approximate fair value due toghert maturities.

The Company follows ASC 820-10Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurewhich among other things, defines fair valug¢ablshes a
consistent framework for measuring fair value axyleds disclosure for each major asset and ligluititegory measured at fair value on either a
recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is sihrice, representing the amount that would liereed to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgbi
in an orderly transaction between market partidipafis such, fair value is a market-based measurethat should be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would useiging an asset or liability. As a basis for comsidg such assumptions, a three-tier fair value
hierarchy has been established, which prioritihesnputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted pricegtiveamarkets for identical assets or liabilitiesh®e measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices incluigteldevel 1) are either directly or indirectly ologable for the asset or liability through
correlation with market data at the measuremerd dadl for the duration of the instrument’s antitgpdife.

Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estirnfitehat market participants would use in pricihg aisset or liability at the measurement
date. Consideration is given to the risk inherarthe valuation technique and the risk inherethéinputs to the model.
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Recent accounting pronounceme

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revefiam Contracts with Customers”. This guidance comprehensive new revenue
recognition model that requires a company to reegrevenue to depict the transfer of goods orisesvto a customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration it expects to receive in exchangehfose goods or services. This guidance is effedtv annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016 and early adoption is not pezthiffthe Company will adopt this guidance on JantiaB017. Companies may use either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective apprdacidopt this guidance. The Company is evaluatihighvtransition approach to use and its impact,
if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disalres of Uncertainties about an Entity’s AbililyGontinue as a Going Concern.” The
guidance outlines management'’s responsibility &leate whether there is substantial doubt aboentity’s ability to continue as a going concern
and provides guidance on the related footnote aisice. The amendments are effective for the arparadd ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual periods and interim periods thereafter. Company is in the process of evaluating the impéthis guidance on its consolidated financial
statement disclosures.

4. Netloss per common share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividirgnet loss attributable to common shareholdets®dweighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, without aersition for common shares equivalents. Dilutedasst per share is computed by dividing the net
loss attributable to common shareholders by thghted-average number of common share equivaletdtaoding for the period determined using
the treasury-stock method. For purposes of thisutation, stock options and warrants are considerds® common share equivalents and are only
included in the calculation of diluted net loss plkare when their effect is dilutive.

The following table presents the computation ofikasd diluted net loss per share (in thousand=sbper share amounts):

For the Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net loss per share:
Net loss $ (30,719 $ (11,149 $ (21,199
Weighted-average common shares — basic and diluted 16,58¢ 8,02¢ 3,05¢
Net loss per share — basic and diluted per share $ (1.85 $ (1.39 $ (6.99

The following dilutive securities have been excldidi®m the computation of diluted weighted-averagares outstanding as of the year ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 as the Compaasdezta net loss in all periods and, therefore; theuld be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common shares 1,37¢ 1,362 241
Common share purchase warrants 1,001 91¢ 91¢

5.  Securities Available-for-Sale
Securities available-for-sale consisted of theofwlhg as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

December 31, 2014

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
Commercial paper $ 9,09¢ $ — $ — 3 9,09¢
U.S. government sponsored enterprise securities 6,30¢ — — 6,30¢
Corporate debt securities 3,16¢ — — 3,16¢
$ 18,57: $ — 3 — $ 18,57:
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value ofGbmpany securities available-for-sale by contrdangturity as of December 31, 2014 are
shown below (in thousands):

December 31, 2014

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
Within one year $ 18,57: $ — $ — $ 18,57
After one year — — — —
$ 18,57 $ — $ — $ 18,57:

Securities available-for-sale consisted of theofelhg as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

December 31, 2013

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
Commercial paper $ 9,79¢ $ — 3 — 3 9,79¢
U.S. government sponsored enterprise securities 17,007 2 4 17,00t
Corporate debt securities 6,50¢ 2 D 6,507
$ 33,31 $ 4 $ 5 $ 33,31(

The amortized cost and estimated fair value ofGbmpany securities available-for-sale by contrdanggturity as of December 31, 2013 are
shown below (in thousands):

December 31, 2013

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
Within one year $ 30,43C $ 2 3 4 % 30,42¢
After one year 2,881 2 D 2,88:¢
$ 33,31 $ 4 $ 5 $ 33,31(

As of December 31, 2014, the Company performediaweof all of the securities in its portfolio witn unrealized loss position to determir
any other-than-temporary impairments were requindae recorded. Factors considered in the Compassessment included, but were not limit:
the following: the Company'’s ability and intenttold the security until maturity; the number of nttmuntil the security’s maturity, the number of
quarters that each security has been in an uneedliss position, ratings assigned to each sedwyitpdependent rating agencies, the magnitude of
the unrealized loss compared to the face valubeo$écurity and other market conditions. No otharttemporary impairments were identified as of
December 31, 2014 related to securities currentthé Company’s portfolio.
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6. Fair value measurement and financial instruments

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has $22.@omidif securities consisting of money market furcdsnmercial paper, U.S. government
sponsored enterprise securities and corporatesgehtities with maturities that range from 1 da@ tmonths with an overall average time to matt
of 2.9 months. The Company has the ability to ligie these investments without restriction. The @amy determines fair value for securities with
Level 1 inputs through quoted market prices. Thenany determines fair value for securities with éle¥ inputs through broker or dealer quotati
or alternative pricing sources with reasonableliewé price transparency. The Company’s Level 2i68es have been initially valued at the
transaction price and subsequently valued, atrideo&éeach reporting period, typically utilizingrih party pricing services or other market obsels
data. The pricing services utilize industry staddaaluation models, including both income and mbbesed approaches and observable market
inputs to determine value. These observable mamgets include reportable trades, benchmark yields]it spreads, broker/dealer quotes, bids,
offers, and other industry and economic events.ddmpany’s Level 3 inputs are unobservable inpated on the Company’s assessment that
market participants would use in pricing the insteunts.

The following table presents the Compangssets and liabilities that are measured avdhile on a recurring basis for the periods preskfiie
thousands):

December 31

2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Money market funds $ 9 % 99 $ — % —
Commercial paper 12,39¢ — 12,39¢ —
U.S. government sponsored enterprise securities 6,30¢ — 6,30¢ —
Corporate debt securities 3,16¢ — 3,16¢ —
Total assets $ 21,97. $ 99 $ 21,87: $ —
Liabilities:

Warrant liability $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —
Stock-based compensation liability 22 — — 22
Total liabilities $ 22 3 — 3 — 8 22

December 31

2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Money market funds $ 55 $ 55 $ — 8 —
Commercial paper 23,57( — 23,57( —
U.S. government sponsored enterprise securities 17,00¢ — 17,00¢ —
Corporate debt securities 6,507 — 6,507 —
Total assets $ 47,137 3 55 $ 47,08: $ —
Liabilities:

Warrant liability $ 88z $ — 8 — 8 88:¢
Stock-based compensation liability 202 — — 202
Total liabilities $ 1,08 $ — 8 — $ 1,08t

The Company calculates the fair value of the comsiware warrants with exercise prices denominat&himadian dollars (level 3) at each
reporting date utilizing a Black-Scholes pricingaeb The following inputs were utilized in the Bka&choles pricing model at December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013:

December 31,

2014 2013
Stock price at the end of each reporting period $ 054 $ 3.7¢C
Weighted average exercise price $ 29.1¢  $ 25.4t
Risk-free interest rate 0.25% 0.62%
Volatility 425.1% 115.0%
Dividend yield 0.0C% 0.0(%
Expected life in years 0.21 2.51
Calculated fair value per common share purchaseawar $ — 3 0.9¢
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The following table presents a reconciliationtw# tvarrant liability measured at fair value usimgliservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Liabilities:
Balance at beginning of period: $ 88: $ —
Calculation of initial warrant liability fair value — 1,57:
Reclassification of fair value of warrant liability equity as a result of the amendment to conve °

the exercise price of certain warrants from Caradi@llars to U.S. dollars of the underlying

common share purchase warrants (839 —
Change in fair value of warrant liability includedother expense, net (49 (689
Balance at end of period: $ — 3 882

The common share purchase warrants with exercisespdenominated in Canadian dollars will expirisrch 2015. Subsequent to the
common share purchase warrants expiration the Coynpél not be required to remeasure the fair vadfiehe warrants.

The Company calculates the fair value of the stoeked compensation liability for those stock otiafith exercise prices denominated in
Canadian Dollars (level 3) at each reporting petitlizing a Black-Scholes pricing model. The fallmg inputs were utilized in the Black-Scholes

pricing model at December 31, 2014 and Decembe2@13:

December 31,

2014 2013
Stock price at the end of each reporting period $ 05¢ $ 3.7C
Weighted average exercise price $ 15.8: % 17.6¢€
Risk-free interest rate 0.8t% 1.0(%
Volatility 138.3% 94.5%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected life in years 2.4¢ 3.4z
Calculated fair value per stock option $ 0.1C $ 1.17

The following table presents a reconciliation af #iock-based compensation liability measurediatédue using unobservable inputs (Level
3) (in thousands):

For the Years Ended Decembe

31,
2014 2013

Liabilities:

Balance at beginning of period $ 20z % —
Calculation of initial stock-based compensatiobility fair value 163
Change in fair value of stock-based compensatadilify recorded as an

adjustment to contributed surplus (180 39
Balance at end of period: $ 22 $ 20z

The Company recognizes transfers into and outvaisewithin the fair value hierarchy at the endhad reporting period in which the actual
event or change in circumstances that causedahsfér occurs. There were no transfers of assdishilities between the fair value measurement
classifications.
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7. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses as of December 31, 2014 and 20%&ted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Prepaid insurance $ 28C $ 29z
Prepaid research and development expenses 2,50¢ 3,21¢
Other prepaid expenses 39 88
$ 2,82t $ 3,59¢

As of December 31, 2014 and 2103, prepaid researdidevelopment expenses includes $2.5 milliong2ad million, respectively for upfront
fees paid to our primary clinical research orgatidraeassisting with our clinical trials. The upftdees will be relieved in future periods basednpo
work completed.

8.  Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the followinglfousands):

December 31,

2014 2013

Equipment $ 5 % 7
Computer hardware and software 46 44
Leasehold improvements 15E 15t
Furniture and fixtures 72 72
27¢ 27¢

Less: accumulated depreciation (242) (200)
$ 36 $ 78

Depreciation expense was $47,000, $84,000 and @820 the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@b#, respectively.
9.  Accrued expenses
Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2014 and Dece8hp2013 consisted of the following (in thousgnd

December 31,

2014 2013
Accrued personnel related costs $ 84¢ $ 1,063
Accrued interest 48 50
Accrued research and development expenses 1,27¢ 713
Other accrued expenses 134 35E
$ 2307 $ 2,181

10. Promissory notes

In July 2011, the Company entered into a $15 mmilliean and Security Agreement, as amended, or tiggn@l Loan, with Oxford Finance
LLC, or Oxford. Under the terms of the Original Ipahe Company made interest only payments for miaeths at a fixed interest rate of 9.5%.
Beginning in June 2012, the note began to amovtitte principal and interest payments due throughrdmaining term of the loan. The Original
Loan could be prepaid subject to certain provis@amd prepayment fees. Upon final payment of thgi@eal Loan, the Company was required to pay
an additional fee of 5% of the original principat@unt, which was being recognized over the terithefloan.

On June 30, 2014, we entered into a new Loan aadriBeAgreement, or the New Loan, with Oxford. &ndhe New Loan, Oxford has

loaned a principal amount of $6.0 million to then@any to refinance the Company’s existing Origlo@dn with Oxford and to provide additional
working capital.
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The principal amount was used by us to settle apmately $2.9 million of outstanding principal dmet Company’s Original Loan, to settle
accrued interest on such existing term loan, titesether fees and expenses, including $0.7 mili@ra final payment due under the Original Loan,
and the remaining cash proceeds of approximately ®dlion will be used for general corporate psps.

The principal borrowed under the New Loan bearsdiiterest of 9.504% per annum. The Company tesgtion to prepay the outstanding
balance of the New Loan in full, subject to a psepant fee of 1% to 3% depending upon when the grapat occurs. Upon the final repayment of
the New Loan on the maturity date, by prepaymantipon acceleration, the Company shall pay Oxforddditional fee of 5% of the principal
amount of $6.0 million. This additional fee is reded as a debt discount and is being recognizéterest expense over the life of the loan utiligin
the effective interest method. The repayment texrasnterest only payments through July 1, 201%ved by 36 equal monthly payments of
principal and interest. We accounted for the NewariLas a modification.

Pursuant to the New Loan, on June 30, 2014, tmepa@ay issued to Oxford warrants to purchase areggge of up to 82,192 of the
Company’s common shares at an exercise price @D§er share. The warrants expire seven yearstfrerdate of the grant. The fair value of $0.1
million for this equity component was derived usthg Black-Scholes pricing model utilizing the @oilling inputs: risk-free interest rate — 2.1%,
volatility — 72.1%, dividend yield — 0% and expettiée in years — 7. The $6.0 million proceeds waltecated to equity and the debt based on their
relative fair values. The debt discount will be atized to interest expense over the life of thetdeterest on the term loan, consisting of theéesta
interest rate, final payment fee and amortizatibthe discount, is being recognized under the &ffeénterest method.

In connection with the New Loan, the Company aaditbsidiaries granted to Oxford a security intareall of the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ personal property now owned or héeeaicquired, excluding intellectual property aedain other assets. Oxford has the right to
declare a default under the New Loan upon the oenoe of a material adverse change as that isetkfinder the New Loan, thereby requiring the
Company to repay the loan immediately or to attetmpeverse the declaration of default through tiagon or litigation. As of December 31, 2014,
the Company was in compliance with all materialermants under the credit facility.

As of December 31, 2014, the future contractualgdpial and final fee payments on our debt obligatice as follows (in thousands):

Year 1 $ 73k
Year 2 1,887
Year 3 2,07¢
Year 4 1,60¢
Total $ 6,30(

The following table summarizes interest expenséh@usands) for the periods presented:

For the Years Ended December 31,

201 4 201 3 201 2
Stated interest $ 50C $ 84C $ 1,32¢
Amortization of debt discount 18¢ 38C 50¢
Amortization of promissory notes issuance costs 38 10¢€ 15t
$ 72¢ $ 1,32¢ $ 1,98¢

The Company calculated the fair value of the setpremissory notes as $5.9 million (Level 3) aBetember 31, 2014. The fair value of
long-term debt is based on the net present valgalotilated interest and principal payments, uaimgnterest rate of 9.5%, which takes into
consideration the financial position of the Company the recent interest rate environment for nelt ssuances for comparable companies. The
fair value of this equity component was derivedhgghe Black-Scholes valuation model. The Compagutated the promissory notdair value by
allocating to equity and the debt based on theipeetive fair values.
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11. Shareholders’ equity
Common stock purchase agreement with Aspire Capital

On May 16, 2014, the Company entered into a comstmek purchase agreement, or the Purchase AgreewidmiAspire Capital Fund, LLC,
or Aspire Capital, which provides that Aspire Capis committed to purchase up to an aggregatd fmillion of the Company’s common shares
over the approximately 30-month term of the Purehgreement. In consideration for entering intoRluechase Agreement, concurrently with the
execution of the Purchase Agreement, the Compamgdsto Aspire Capital 90,635 of the Company’s camishares. Upon the execution of the
Purchase Agreement, the Company sold to Aspiret@l&4,230 common shares at $3.31 per share fqraeeeds of $1.9 million which was
recorded as in increase to common shares on thadmbheet. The Company incurred offering cos#df million associated with this transaction.

Under the Purchase Agreement, on any trading dayhich the closing sale price of the Company’s canrshares exceeds $2.00, the
Company has the right, in its sole discretion,respnt Aspire Capital with a purchase notice, timgcAspire Capital (as principal) to purchase ap t
100,000 of the Company’s common shares, per trattiyg provided that the aggregate price of each pucchase shall not exceed $1,000,000 per
trading day. The Company can direct Aspire Capitgdurchase an additional $13 million of the Compsieommon shares over the remaining 23
months of the Purchase Agreement. Future purcheskes the Purchase Agreement will be at a per givére equal to the lesser of:

« the lowest sale price of the Company’s commomeshan the purchase date; or
« the arithmetic average of the three lowest clpsiale prices for the Company’s common shares gitin@ ten consecutive trading days
ending on the trading day immediately precedingalvehase date.

Other than the initial purchase completed undePtnehase Agreement, there were no sales of corstremes to Aspire Capital from May 16,
2014 through December 31, 2014s of December 31, 2014 our stock price has betawhiie $2.00 floor price included in the Aspirep@all
agreement and therefore as of December 31, 20Menesunable to sell shares to Aspire Capital.

Authorized

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hhahited shares of no par common shares authoritleere were 16.8 million and 16.1
million common shares issued and outstanding &eoémber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Initial Public Offering

On August 23, 2013, the Company completed a U.Blipaffering whereby the Company issued 13,000,68fmon shares at a price of $£
per share. The Company received $57.0 millionphenderwriters’ discounts commissions and offerdogt.

Shares reserved for future issuance

The shares reserved for future issuance as of Demedd, 2014, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the fatigin thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Common share purchase warrants 1,001 91¢ 91¢
Stock options
Granted and outstanding 1,37¢ 1,362 241
Reserved for future grants 30¢€ 258 74
2,68t 2,563¢ 1,23¢

12. Common share purchase warrants

At December 31, 2014 and 2013 there were 1,001366019,000 common share purchase warrants ouitsgesica weighted average exercise
price of U.S.$24.17 and CND$27.07, respectively.the year ended December 31, 2014 the total almdantommon share purchase warrants
outstanding includes common share purchase wanatht®xercise prices denominated in Canadian golad U.S. Dollars and the Canadian dollar
amounts have been converted to U.S. dollars fgegaas of the weighted average exercise price edilonlutilizing a conversion rate as of Decen
31, 2014.
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The following table summarizes the expiration déteshe Company’s outstanding common share puechasrants as of December 31, 2014
(in thousands):

Number of
warrants
outstanding Expiration date
123 March 16, 2015
289 November 19, 2015
240 December 28, 2016
240 March 28, 2017
27 July 15, 2018
82 June 30, 2021
1,001

The Company has recorded a $0.9 million liabilitypacember 31, 2013 associated with the fair vafitbe Company’s common share
purchase warrants. See Note 3 and Note 6.

13. Stock-based compensation plan
Equity awards

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2011 Stock ©plém (the “Plan”) provides for the granting otiops for the purchase of common
shares of the Company at the fair value of the Gomijs common shares on the date of the option g@ptions are granted to employees, directors
and non-employees. The board of directors or a diteerappointed by the board of directors administiee Plan and has discretion as to the
number, vesting period and expiry date of eachoopdiward. Historically the Company granted optiith an exercise price denominated in
Canadian dollars prior to the Company’s U.S. IP@lldwing the Company’s U.S. IPO the Company hasig@ options with an exercise price
denominated in U.S. dollars.

The Plan is based on a cumulative percentage afnspissuable up to 10% of the Company’s outstandommon shares. As of December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, there were 306,137, 252,589 4001 shares, respectively, available to beesinder the Plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyniganed options to purchase 86,788 common shaiiesdirectors and employees.
These options vest over a three year period fol@mps and over a one to three year period focttire. The contractual period for the granted
options is five years.

No options to purchase common shares were grantedn-employees during the years ended Decemb@034, and 2012. During the year
ended December 31, 2013 the Company issued opiigngchase 28,346 common shares to non-employaesCompany accounts for stock
options granted to non-employees using the fainevapproach. Stock options granted to non-emplogesesubject to revaluation at each reporting
period over their vesting terms.

The Company recognized stock-based compensatia@nsggms follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $ 65C $ 311 % 14¢
General and administrative 1,441 863 52¢
Total $ 2,091 $ 1,174 $ 67€

As of December 31, 2014 there was $0.7 millionrmeeognized compensation costs related to nondasbek options. As of December 31,
2014 the Company expects to recognize those custsaeighted average periods of approximately gdry.
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The fair values of options granted during the yerated December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were estimathe date of grant using the
following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected Life of the Option Term (years) 3.7 3.8 3.2
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 0.9% 1.2%
Dividend rate 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 76.2% 83.8% 73.%%
Forfeiture rate 5.2% 8.1% 9.C%

Expected Life of the Option TerniThis is the period of time that the options geardre expected to remain unexercised. Optionsegtdrave
a contractual term of five years. The Company estisithe expected life of the option term basedabmal past behavior for similar options.

Risk-Free Interest Rate This is the Canadian or the United States Trgasues, as applicable, for the week of each ogiamt during the
year having a term that most closely resemblegxtpected life of the optiol

Dividend Rate The Company has never declared or paid dividendormmon shares and has no plans to do so in thedeable future.

Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by whicfinancial variable such as a share price has fatetlior is expected to fluctuate
during a period. The Company considered the hisbyiolatility from our Canadian initial public @ffing through the dates of grants.

Forfeiture Rate- Forfeitures are estimated at the time of gradtramised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstifed forfeitures differ from
those estimates. The Company assesses the foefedtieron an annual basis and revises the rate ed@mned necessary.
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The following table summarizes stock option acfivibcluding options issued to employees, direciord non-employees (in thousands, except
per share and contractual term data):

Weighted average¢
Weighted Underlying

average Exercise remaining Aggregate
Options exercise Price contractual term intrinsic
outstanding price Currency (in years) value

Outstanding at January 1, 2012 191 $ 30.1¢ CND 32 $ —
Options granted 10z 16.1z CND

Options expired (29 37.4¢ CND

Options forfeited (23) 25.4¢ CND

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 241 % 23.92 CND 3t $ —
Options granted 71 13.0C CND

Options granted 1,11« 4.41 US

Options expired (14) 41.0z CND

Options forfeited (50 27.8: CND

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 1,36z $ 7.1C US 45 % —
Options granted 87 2.57 US

Options expired (5) 27.1¢ CND

Options forfeited (12 29.8¢ CND

Options forfeited (54 4.41 US

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,37¢ 3 6.65 US 3€ $ —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, . 1,32¢ $ 6.2€ US 3€ $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 63 $ 7.4¢ US 3E 8 =

The total amounts for options outstanding, vesteekpected to vest, and exercisable at Decembed(@¥, include options with exercise prices
denominated in Canadian dollars and U.S. Dolladstha Canadian dollar amounts have been convestdd3. dollars for purposes of the
calculation.

The weighted average fair value of options graxigtihg the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@h2 was approximately $1.41, $2.86,
and $8.84, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated aslifference between the exercise price of the stmtlons and the fair value of the underlying
common shares converted to U.S. dollars as ofabgerctive balance sheet date. The Company satildsyee stock option exercises with newly
issued common shares.

14. License agreements
Kissei Agreement

In April 2010, the Company entered into an excledigense agreement for the development and conmaization of PRX302 (and other
products covered by the licensed patent). The aggaewith Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a Japarpharmaceutical company, (“Kisseaitjvers
the development and commercialization of PRX302apan for the treatment of the symptoms of BPHstate cancer, prostatitis or other diseast
the prostate. Pursuant to the agreement in 20@GC¢émpany received an upfront license payment @f 88lion. The Company has determined that
the deliverables under this agreement includedickase, the transfer of relevant technical infaioraand participation in a periodic development
meeting. The Company recognized the entire upfioatse payment upon receipt as the license waseléo have stand-alone value and no
significant undelivered performance obligations evielentified in connection with the license.

The agreement also notes that the Company shallysKjssei with bulk material under a separate $ypgreement for use in future clinical
studies and, if approved, for commercial sales. [ilde@mse agreement also notes that if the Compaopwilling or unable to supply Kissei with the
necessary bulk material that Kissei will have than to manufacture the bulk material themselwethey can outsource the manufacturing to a1
party. To date the Company and Kissei have noesignsupply agreement.

The agreement also provides that the Company lsaed full responsibility, including financial respsibility, for filing, prosecuting and

maintaining all of the patents in Japan duringtéren of the agreement. The filing of patents isdministrative and perfunctory deliverable. The
associated costs are immaterial. The prosecutidnreaintenance of patents is not considered an wedetl performance obligation.

86




During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynganorded as revenue a $5.0 million non-refundablistantive milestone payment due
from Kissei upon the achievement of certain devalept activities during the year ended DecembeRB13, as such milestone had been achieved
during this period. In accordance with the Compamgvenue recognition policy, the Company recognike receipt of milestone payments in
accordance with the milestone method in the pariaghich the underlying triggering event occurseT®ompany received payment for the miles
in April 2013.

In addition to the upfront license payment and$6e million milestone payment recognized as reeethuring the year ended December 31,
2013, the Company is entitled to receive up to ®&Tillion of non-refundable milestone paymentsa®s: a total of $12.0 million for the BPH
indication, of which $7.0 million relates to thenapletion of regulatory approvals and $5.0 milli@tates to the achievement of certain product sale
goals; a total of $21.0 million for the prostat@ecar indication, of which $7.0 million relates teetcompletion of certain development activitiesp$7
million relates to the completion of regulatory apyals and $7.0 million relates to the achievenuémertain product sale goals; and a total of $21.0
million for prostatitis or other diseases of thegiate, of which $7.0 million relates to the contipte of certain development activities, $7.0 mitlio
relates to the completion of regulatory approvald &7.0 million relates to the achievement of déerpmoduct sale goals. An additional $13.0 million
of aggregate milestone payments are not indicaatific, of which $5.0 million relates to the cdetmwn of regulatory approvals and $8.0 million
relates to the achievement of certain product gadds.

Management evaluated the nature of the eventstiigg these additional milestone payments, andladed that these events fall into two
categories: (a) events which involve the perforneamicthe Company’s obligations under the Kissairige agreement, and (b) events which do not
involve the performance of the Company’s obligadionder the Kissei license agreement.

Milestone payments which involve the performancéhefCompany’s obligations include activities rethto the completion of development
activities and regulatory approvals in the Unitedt&. Management concluded that each of thesegragroonstitutes a substantive milestone. This
conclusion was based primarily on the facts thatdth triggering event represents a specific ongcthat can be achieved only through successful
performance by the Company of one or more of itvelables, (ii) achievement of each triggeringmwsas subject to inherent risk and was not
reasonably assured at the inception of the agregii@reach of these milestones is non-refundafilg substantial effort is required to complete
each milestone, (v) the amount of each milestoyenpat is reasonable in relation to the value coeatechieving the milestone, (vi) a substantial
amount of time is expected to pass between theam{payment and the potential milestone paymems,(vii) the milestone payments relate solely
to past performance. Based on the foregoing, thepgaay recognizes any revenue from these milestapem@nts under the milestone method in the
period in which the underlying triggering event o

Milestone payments which do not involve the perfanee of the Company’s obligations include the catiqh of development activities,
regulatory approvals and certain product sale gaalapan, all of which are areas in which the Canyphas no pertinent contractual responsibilities
under the agreement. Management concluded that thiéasstones are not substantive and will be reizegnn accordance with the Company’s
accounting policy for revenue recognition. Theduling table breaks down the remaining unpaid nolestpayments by indication or, in the case of
milestones not associated with a specific indicgtity triggering events and by involvement of tl@mpany:

Milestone Payments Milestone Payments Not
Involving Performance Involving Performance
of Company of Company
Obligations Obligations
(in millions) (in millions)
Milestones by Indication
BPH — $ 12
Prostate cancer — % 21
Prostatitis and other diseases of the prostate — % 21
Milestones Not Associated with an Indication
Gross sale targets — % 8
Regulatory approvals $ 5 —

The Company may also receive a drug supply feenaisg the Company supplies material to Kissei, rxyelty payments in the 289% rangt
as a percentage of future net sales of licensedlipts sold under the agreement.
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Kissei is not currently studying PRX302 for theatiraent of prostate cancer, prostatitis or othezaties of the prostate. In addition, Kissei has
the option to sublicense the development and coriatzation for PRX302 in their territory.

PRX302 license agreement for Benign Prostate Hypasia

In 2009, the Company signed an exclusive licenseeagent with UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc. (“UV)@nd The Johns Hopkins Univers
(“Johns Hopkins”) with respect to the use of PRX82the treatment of the symptoms of benign ptedtyperplasia and other non-cancer diseases
and conditions of the prostate. The license agraeeneguires the Company to make payments of CND&lll®n in the aggregate on the
achievement of certain clinical and regulatory stidmes and to pay royalties on commercial salessufiting products. To the extent the Company
receives any milestone payments relating to theldpment of therapeutics for the treatment of ghegoms of BPH under its exclusive license
agreement with Kissei, the Company is obligateplatp a percentage of such consideration, which p&ge is in the 10-19% range, to UVIC and
Johns Hopkins; however, pursuant to a separateigm which the Company entered into in 2003 withJDThomas Buckley, one of the
Company’s founders, the aggregate amount of suckideration payable by the Company to UVIC and ddtopkins is reduced by 25% .

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpgpensed a $0.1 million milestone payment dueentite agreement upon the
completion of the Company’s last Phase 2b clini¢al prior to commencing a Phase 3 clinical triethe Company paid this milestone upon the
enroliment of the Company’s first patient in a Rha<linical trial for the treatment of the symptof BPH. This amount was expensed to research
and development expense. In addition, the Compacrpad a sub-license royalty of $0.4 million pagabhder the agreement associated with the
Company’s $5.0 million milestone payment from Kis3ée Company paid this amount during April 20TBis amount was recorded as a
component of research and development expense.

From the inception of the agreement, the Compasyif@aurred sub-license fees of $0.6 million andestibne payments of $0.1 million under
this agreement.

PRX302 License Agreement for Prostate Cancer

In 2004, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302tfar treatment of prostate cancer under an agreemignUVIC and Johns Hopkins. We
have agreed to make cumulative milestone paymenetstbe lifecycle of PRX302 of up to CND$3.6 milli@n the achievement of certain clinical
and regulatory milestones and to pay royaltiesamrmercial sales of resulting products. From theion of the agreement we have paid milestone
payments of CND$0.1 million. We have to date corgul@wo clinical trials in patients with prostatncer.

15. Income taxes

The $5.0 million milestone payment from Kissei vgabject to a 10% Japanese withholding tax. As @tregee Company recorded income tax
expense of $0.5 million for the year ended Decemfie2013. The Company will be eligible to utilihee withholding tax to offset future taxes du
Canada. Given the uncertainty around the Compaabyldy to generate future taxable income, the Camyphas expensed the withholding tax during
the year ended December 31, 2013.

The component of the loss before provision for medaxes were as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
United States $ 2,14) $ (2,427
Canada (28,56%) (9,227)
$ (30,71) $ (10,649
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The components of the provision for income taxemfrcontinuing operations is as follows (in thousgnd

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Current Tax:
Canada $ — % 50C
us — —
State — —
$ — $ 50C
Deferred Tax:
Canada $ — $ —
us — —
State — —
$ — $ 50C

A reconciliation of income taxes to the amount cated by applying the statutory federal income tte to the net loss is as follows (in
thousands, except income tax rates):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Combined federal and provincial income tax rates 26.0(% 25.7%
Income tax benefit at statutory rates $ (7,982 $ (2,742)
State income tax, net of federal benefit (89) (67)
Permanent items 34 65
Tax credits (2,007 (6871)
Non-deductible stock-based compensation 258 91
Foreign accrual property income 67 63
Foreign withholding tax — 50C
Expired NOLs 29¢ 12C
Return to provision true up 83 —
Rate differential (229 (11¢)
Rate change — (739
Other 152 (62)
Revaluation of warrant liability 13 (17¢)
CTA 2,02¢ 1,62¢
Change in valuation allowance 6,40: 2,61/
Income tax expense $ — 9 50C
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are dbelowv (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards (1-capital losses) $ 24617 $ 17,97«
Scientific research and development 2,29/ 2,49¢
Tax credits 4,151 3,64¢
Stock based compensation 1,14¢ 602
Other, net 367 863
Share issue costs 1,162 1,72¢
Total deferred tax assets, net, before valuatitmvahnce 33,73¢ 27,30
Valuation allowance (33,739 (27,30))
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

Due to the operating losses since inception, aat@ln allowance has been recognized to offset efetrced assets as realization of such def
tax assets is not more likely than not. Duringytbars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the vaiugtowance on the deferred tax assets
increased by $6.4 million and $5.1 million, respesy.

At December 31, 2014, the Company has tax losséadome tax purposes in Canada and in the UnitageSwhich may be used to reduce
taxable income. The income tax benefit, if anythefse losses has not been recorded due to thetainteof its recovery. Based upon statute, losses
are expected to expire as follows (in thousands):

Expiration date Canada U.S. Federal Total
2015 $ 3,121 $ — $ 3,121
2026 3,09¢ — 3,09¢
2027 4,57¢ — 4,57¢
2028 5,20¢ — 5,20¢
2029 4,15 — 4,152
2030 3,81¢ — 3,81¢
2031 11,18¢ — 11,18¢
2032 16,81( — 16,81(
2033 12,52¢ — 12,52¢
2034 29,89: 182 30,07t
$ 94,39¢ $ 182 $ 94,57¢

In addition, the Company has $0.2 million of U.tte net operating loss carryforwards which begiaxpire in 2034.
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At December 31, 2014, the Company had investmentridits in Canada and research and developmentedits in the United States that
expire as follows (in thousands).

Expiration date Canada U.S. Federal Total
2015 $ 28 % — 3 28
2016 72 — 72
2017 12¢ — 12¢
2018 18z — 18¢
2019 177 — 177
2020 37 — 37
2021 8 — 8
2023 30 — 30
2024 10z — 102
2025 21¢ — 21€
2026 20¢ — 20¢
2027 32¢ — 32¢€
2028 40¢ — 40¢
2029 517 — 517
2030 161 — 161
2031 24 56 80
2032 — 33t 33t
2033 — 24¢ 24¢
2034 — 90¢ 90¢€
$ 2627 $ 1,54¢ $ 4,17¢

In addition, the Company has $0.5 million of Caiifia research and development tax credits whicty darward indefinitely as well as foreic
tax credits in Canada of $0.2 million that begirexpire in 2023.

The Company’s Canadian tax years are subject peat®n from 2009 forward. The Company’s Unitedt@&tdederal and California 2011 tax
returns are subject to examination by taxing auitiesr

The future utilization of the Company’s researcH development credit carry forwards and net opegdtiss carry forwards to offset future
taxable income may be subject to an annual limitedis a result of ownership changes that may heseri@d previously or may occur in the future.
The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Act”) limits a cq@any’s ability to utilize certain tax credit cafigrwards and net operating loss carry forwards in
the event of a cumulative change in ownershipsaess of 50% as defined in the Act.

The Company recognizes interest and/or penaltlateceto income tax matters in income tax expelRsethe years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, we have not recognized any interestmalfies related to income taxes.

In 2011, the Company adopted the recognition anasomement principals under ASC740ntome Taxes (ASC740) regarding the
recognition of tax benefits. In accordance with A8Q, tax benefits are only recognized when a msis more likely than not of being sustained.
Tax benefits are then measured using a cumulaéimefti approach whereby the largest amount of &efit that is more likely than not of being
sustained is recognized. The Company has no urmezjbenefits recorded as of December 31, 20142ah8.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was endatéo law on January 2, 2013. The change in tax Vehich reinstated the United States
federal research and development tax credit retikadyg from January 1, 2012 through December 31,320 he retroactive impact related to 2012
was treated as a discrete tax item during thedisarter of 2013.

16. Commitments and contingencies
Operating leases

The Company leases a facility, comprising the Camgfsaheadquarters, located in San Diego, Califoumider a non-cancelable lease. During
September 2013, the Company exercised the fitst@f3-year lease extensions on its headquarte3ainDiego, California. As a result of this
extension, the expiration date for the Companyadgearters was extended from May 2014 to May 20h&.rent on the Company’s headquarters is
currently $8,729 per month.
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Total rent expense under operating leases was®ilidn, $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the yeanded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgdgeating leases at December 31, 2014 are as ®lliovthousands):

Future rent payments

2015 $ 11¢€
2016 11¢€
2017 51
Total $ 28¢

92




License agreemen

The Company has license agreements with thirdgsattiiat require the Company to make annual liceraetenance payments and contingent
future payments upon the success of licensed ptoduat include milestone and/or royalties. Minimfuture payments over the next five years are
not material.

Purchase commitments

The Company is required to schedule its manufagjuactivities in advance. If the Company cancelsarthese scheduled activities without
proper notice the Company would be required togmnalties equal to the cost of the originally sched activity. The Company estimates that the
cost of these penalties would be approximately $fltlon at December 31, 2014 if the Company casitleé scheduled activities. The amounts
recorded under this manufacturing contract include@search and development was $3.4 million, $#lBon and $4.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

17. 401(k) Plan

Effective July 2012, the Company established ardedecompensation plan (the “401(k) Plan”) pursuarection 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 where by all employees, sutgjeertain age requirement can contribute pretaxings to the plan. The Company makes
harbor contributions to the 401(k) Plan up to 4%!lafible compensation, subject to limitations unthe Code. The Company’s total contributions to
the 401(k) Plan were $0.1 million for each of tleass ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

18. Subsequent Events

On January 29, 2015, the Company received a fetter the Listing Qualifications Department of ThASDAQ Stock Market, or NASDAQ,
notifying the Company that the consolidated clogiyprice of the Company’s common stock had besavip $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive
business days and that the Company was therefoia noompliance with the minimum bid price requiremh for continued listing on The NASDAQ
Global Market, as set forth in Marketplace Rule &)(1). The notification from NASDAQ does not hareimmediate effect on the listing of the
Company’s common stock and the Company’s commak still continue to trade on The NASDAQ Global Matlkunder the symbol "SPHS".

NASDAQ stated in its January 29th letter that,én@dance with Marketplace Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), @G@mpany has been provided a grace
period of 180 calendar days, or until July 28, 2aGd5egain compliance with the minimum consolidattosing bid price requirement for continued
listing. Compliance will be regained if the Compangonsolidated closing bid price is at or aboveéd®Xor at least 10 consecutive trading days
anytime during the 180-day grace period.

The Company is considering actions that it may takesponse to this notification in order to regabmpliance with the continued listing
requirements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Agunting and Financial Disclosure

On January 10, 2013, with the approval of the acmltmittee of our board of directors, we engageceRaterhouseCoopers LLP (U.S), or
PwC U.S., as our new independent registered pabtiounting firm. During the period January 1, 2@i®ugh January 10, 2013, neither we nor
anyone on our behalf consulted PwC U.S. regardihgre(1) the application of accounting principtesa specified transaction, either completed or
proposed, or the type of audit opinion that mighténdered on our consolidated financial statemen{®) any matter that was a disagreement, as
that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Reaidn S-K, or a reportable event, as that ternefindd in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K. PwC
U.S. has reported on our consolidated financiaéstants for the fiscal year ended December 31,.2012

ltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresateatlesigned to ensure that information requisdgktdisclosed in our periodic and current
reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, pesed, summarized and reported within the timegespecified in the SEC'’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and commueét&t our management, including our chief executiffieer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure. In designing and evaluatingdiselosure controls and procedures, management
recognized that any controls and procedures, ntemadw well designed and operated, can providg @dsonable and not absolute assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives. In reagld reasonable level of assurance, managemergsaeitg was required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of pogsimntrols and procedures. In addition, the desfgny system of controls also is based in parhupo
certain assumptions about the likelihood of fuewvents, and there can be no assurance that amndeidli succeed in achieving its stated goals ul
all potential future conditions; over time, contnody become inadequate because of changes in icmisdior the degree of compliance with policies
or procedures may deteriorate. Because of theémhé&mitations in a costffective control system, misstatements due torenrdraud may occur al
not be detected.

As of December 31, 2014, we carried out an evaloatinder the supervision and with the participatbour management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, diet effectiveness of the design and operation oflmaiosure controls and procedures, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the ExchangieB&sed on this evaluation, our chief executiiecef and chief financial officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effectt the reasonable assurance level as of Dece8hp2014.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahe@gorting as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Internal control ofieancial reporting is a process designed undestipervision and with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive andrfcial officer, to provide reasonable assuraegamding the reliability of financial reporting ¢
the preparation of financial statements for extlepoaposes in accordance with accounting princigieserally accepted in the United States of
America.

As of December 31, 2014, our management assessedféictiveness of our internal control over finahceporting using the criteria set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission in Internal Control-Integraffgdmework (2013 Framework). Based on
this assessment, our management concluded thaitDecember 31, 2014, our internal control oveaficial reporting was effective based on those
criteria. We are an “emerging growth company,” efireéd in the JOBS Act. For as long as we contiouge an emerging growth company, we may
take advantage of exemptions from various reporgégirements that are applicable to other puldicganies that are not emerging growth
companies, including not being required to compith\the auditor attestation requirements of Sectio# of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control dimancial reporting identified in management’s exalon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-
15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quarter erdedember 31, 2014 that materially affected, oraasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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Part Ill.

Certain information required by Part 11l of this Aumal Report on Form 10-K is omitted from this regmcause the registrant will file a
definitive Proxy Statement within 120 days aftex &nd of its fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 1dits 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be held within 180 days of December 31, 2014, reteto as the Proxy Statement, and the informaticlnded therein is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this item is incorp@cherein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the sections ent
“Election of Directors” “Executive Officers” and &tion 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compiia”

We have adopted a code of ethics for directorscex (including our principal executive officerjnxipal financial officer and principal
accounting officer) and employees, known as theeGQddusiness Conduct and Ethics. The Code of BgsilConduct and Ethics is available on our
website at http://www.sophiris.coomder the Corporate Governance section of our tov&elations page. We will promptly disclose om aebsite
(i) the nature of any amendment to the policy #ilies to our principal executive officer, pringifinancial officer, principal accounting officer
controller, or persons performing similar functiar (ii) the nature of any waiver, including arplicit waiver, from a provision of the policy thest
granted to one of these specified individuals thatquired to be disclosed pursuant to SEC ruldsragulations, the name of such person who is
granted the waiver and the date of the waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorp@herein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the sections ent
“Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committep&t” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks amsdder Participation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorp@herein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the sections ent
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownerslalanagement” and “Securities Authorized for Issutannder Equity Compensation Plans.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this item is incorp@herein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the sections ent
“Election of Directors” and “Certain Relationshigsd Related Transactions.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorp@cherein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the section entitled
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services.”
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Item 15.

Part IV.

Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedules

(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

1. Financial Statement&Ve have filed the following documents as part i #nnual Report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimm
Balance Sheets

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statemet

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

Page

65
6€
67
68
69
71

All schedules are omitted because they are notagihe or the required information is shown in Bieancial Statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or @amporated by reference into, this report:

Exhibit
number Description of Exhibit Incorporated by Reference or Attached Hereto
3.1 Certificate of Amalgamation of the Company, dataeduary 1, Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F&rin(SEC File
2005 No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
3.2 Notice of Articles of the Compar Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F&rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
3.3 Articles of the Company Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8kin(SEC File
No. 33-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
4.1 Form of Common Share Certificate Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. héo
Registrant’'s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 333-18672idfon July
15, 2013.
4.2 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant issued imection Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8kin(SEC File
with the Company’s March 2010 Private Placement No. 33-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
4.3 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued imextion Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
with the initial closing pursuant to our Investmégreement by  No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
and between the Company, Warburg Pincus PrivatéyEqul.P.
and Warburg Pincus X Partners, L.P., dated Septe&&e010.
4.4 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued imextion Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F&rin(SEC File
with the subsequent closings pursuant to our Imvest Agreemer No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
by and between the Company, Warburg Pincus Priqtety X,
L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Partners, L.P., datedeBaper 28,
2010.
4.5 Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&naLC  Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8kin(SEC File
No. 33-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
4.€ Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&naLC  Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
4.7 Registration Rights Agreement by and between thagzmy, Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No.théo

Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. and WarbuicBs X
Partners, L.P., dated November 19, 2010

Registrant’s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 333-18672&dfon
August 2, 2013.
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4. Omnibus Amendment to Warrants to Purchase CommareSh  Incorporated by reference to the Current Repofeanmn 8-K
dated January 31, 2014, 2014 by and between thep&onand February 6, 2014.
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. and WarbuimcBs X
Partners, L.P

4. Omnibus Amendment to Warrants to Purchase CommareSh  Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam 8-K filed

dated February 14, 2014 by and between the ComgrashyDxford on February 18, 2014.
Finance LLC

4.1( Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&naLC  Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Reporfform 10-Q
dated June 30, 2014 filed on August 7, 2014.

4.11 Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&naLC  Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Repofform 10-Q
dated June 30, 2014 filed on August 7, 2014.

4.1% Registration Rights Agreement by and between thegamy and Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoftam 8-K filed
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC dated May 16, 2014. on May 19, 2014.
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10.1

10.2+4

10.2

10.4+4

10.5+4

10.6+4

10.74

10.8*

10.¢

10.10

10.11*

10.12

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

Amended and Restated 2011 Stock Option Plan

Form of Option Certificate

Investment Letter Agreement by and between the Gompand

Oxford Finance LLC, dated July 15, 2011

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany
and each of its directors

Employment Agreement by and between Sophiris BippCand
Allison Hulme, Ph.D., dated March 31, 2011

Employment Agreement between Sophiris Bio Corp. Raddall
E. Woods, dated August 16, 2012

Employment Agreement between Sophiris Bio Corp. Retbr
Slover, dated March 19, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8in(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Exclusive License Agreement effective Septembe2804 by and Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8kin(SEC File

among UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johnpkitss
University and the Company

Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement by andragmdVIC
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usityeand the
Company, dated January 10, 2005

Exclusive License Agreement effective October T®)®by and
among UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johnpkitss
University and the Company

Exclusive License Agreement by and between the Gompand
Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., dated April 281@

Exclusive License Amending Agreement by and amo¥¢J
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usityeand the
Company, dated July 1, 2010, with respect to theusSie Licens
Agreement effective September 30, 2004 by and arbbrig
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usityeand the
Company

Exclusive License Amending Agreement by and amo¥¢J
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usityeand the
Company, dated July 1, 2010, with respect to thelusie Licens
Agreement effective October 16, 2009 by and amovtCU
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usityeand the
Company

Standard Lease by and between Allison-Zongker, &ni.the
Company, dated April 15, 2011

First Amendment to that Certain Lease AgreemergddApril 15,
2011 by and between Allison-Zongker, L.P. and tbenBany,
effective April 2, 2012

Indemnification Letter Agreement by and betweenGloenpany,
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. and WarbuircBs X
Partners, L.P., dated November 19, 2010

No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
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10.17° Technology Transfer and Supply Agreement by and/den Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC File
Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & Co KG and the Compa No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
dated June 29, 2012

10.1¢ Non-employee Director Compensation Program Incorporated by reference to the Current Repofam 8K filed
on October 31, 2013.

10.1¢ Agreement Respecting Intellectual Property by agtsvben the Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. theo
g p g perty by p y
Company and Dr. J. Thomas Buckley, dated Februar2003, a Registrant’'s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 3386724) filed on Jul
amended by the Amendment Agreement dated May % 200 15, 2013.

10.2( Common Stock Purchase Agreement by and between the  Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s GurReport on
Company and Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, dated May2l8,4 Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2014.

10.21 Loan and Security Agreement by and between the @agnpnd Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Repoftorm 10-Q
Oxford Finance LLC, dated June 30, 2014 filed on August 7, 2014.

10.224 Officer Change in Control Severance Benefit Agreeinoy and Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Reporfform 10-Q
between Randall E. Woods and the Company filed on November 12, 2014.

10.234 Officer Change in Control Severance Benefit Agreeinoy and Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Reporfform 10-Q
between Allison Hulme and the Company filed on November 12, 2014.

10.244 Officer Change in Control Severance Benefit Agreeiniy and Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Reporform 10-Q

between Peter T. Slover and the Company filed on November 12, 2014.
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing Attached hereto
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page) Attached hereto

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14Attached hereto.
and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securitket&hge Act
of 1934, as amended

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRules 13a-14 Attached hereto.
and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securitket&hge Act
of 1934, as amended

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 906 Attached hereto.
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 906 ¢ Attached hereto.
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document Attached hereto.
101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Attached hereto.
101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtne Attached hereto.
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen  Attached hereto.
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Attached hereto.

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim  Attached hereto.

Indicates management contract or compensatary. pl

* Confidential treatment has been granted witlpeesto certain portions of this exhibit. Omitteattons have been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

** |n accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation Stfie XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to $hhnnual Report on Form 10-K is deemed
not filed or part of a registration statement argpectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of dueiBies Act, is deemed not filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwisissubject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiestAetRegistrant has duly caused this report tadveed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Die§tate of California, on the 10  day of March, 201

SOPHIRIS BIO INC.

By: /s/ Randall E. Woods
Randall E. Woods
Chief Executive Officer and President

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE P RESENTS that each person whose signature appears belastittes and appoints Randall
E. Woods and Peter T. Slover, and each of thentruesand lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, vidthpower of substitution and resubstitution, for
him and in his name, place and stead, in any dripécities, to sign any and all amendments (dioly post-effective amendments) to this report,
and to file the same, with all exhibits theretod ather documents in connection therewith, withSleeurities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and eateaf, full power and authority to do and perforacteand every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, Istéuall intents and purposes as he might or dald in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all
that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or eitlfidénem, or their or his substitutes or substitatay lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue héreo

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisdted.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Randall E. Woods Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 10, 2015
Randall E. Wood (Principal Executive Officer
/sl Peter T. Slover Chief Financial Officer March 10, 2015
Peter T. Slover (Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer }

/s/ Lars Ekman, M.D., Ph.D. Executive Chairman and Director March 10, 2015
Lars Ekman, M.D., Ph.CL
/s/ John Geltosky, Ph.D. Director March 10, 2015
John Geltosky, Ph.C
/s/ Jim Heppell Director March 10, 2015
Jim Heppell
/sl Joseph Turner Director March 10, 2015

Joseph Turne

/s/ Gerald Proehl Director March 10, 2015
Gerald Proeh




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B30945) and on Form S-3 (No. 3388782
of Sophiris Bio Inc. of our report dated March 2015 relating to the financial statements, whicpegus in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, California
March 10, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

I, Randall E. Woods, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdkthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 of BigpBio Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@ny untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeier which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contawld procedures (as defines
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 158{{))
for the registrant and have:

a.) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others withi
those entities, particularly during the period inigh this report is being prepared;

b.) Designed such internal control over finanogdarting, or caused such internal control overfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for externa
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c.) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d.) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registramthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a.) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Randall E. Wood
Randall E. Woods
President & Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 10, 2015



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

I, Peter T. Slover, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdkthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 of BigpBio Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@ny untrue statement of a material fact or eongtate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 158{{))
for the registrant and have:

a.) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdaorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by others withi
those entities, particularly during the period inigh this report is being prepared;

b.) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for externa
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c.) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d.) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitihgait occurred during the registrasthost
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a.) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Peter T. Slove
Peter T. Slover
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 10, 2015



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fkSophiris Bio Inc. (the “Companyfpr the year ended December 31, 2014 as filed thi
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), I, Randall E. Woods, Presidenti&Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, ap#etbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxewf 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremesitSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of theusiies Exchange Act of 1934, as amen
and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Randall E. Wood
Randall E. Woods
President & Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 10, 2015

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is naietancorporated by reference into any filing ad
Company, whether made before or after the dateohargardless of any general incorporation languagsuch filing.



Exhibit 32.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fkSophiris Bio Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeardsd December 31, 2014, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thetgatmof (the “Report”), I, Peter T. Slover, Chieh&icial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipatso Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @2@hat, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenitSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of theuifes Exchange Act of 1934, as ament
and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl Peter T. Slove
Peter T. Slover
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 10, 2015

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is naietancorporated by reference into any filing o
Company, whether made before or after the dateohargardless of any general incorporation languagsuch filing.



